
 

May 09, 2025 

 

To,  

National Stock Exchange of India Limited 

Exchange Plaza 

Plot no. C/1, G Block 

Bandra-Kurla Complex, Bandra (East) 

Mumbai 400051 

 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

 

NSE Symbol: IRBIT / Series: IV 

 

Subject: Outcome of the Board Meeting of Investment Manager of “IRB Infrastructure Trust” 

held on May 08, 2025 

 

This is to inform you that the Board of Directors of Investment Manager of IRB Infrastructure trust 

(“the Trust”) at its meeting held on May 08, 2025, have inter alia considered and approved the 

following: 

 

1. Audited Consolidated & Standalone Financial Information cum Statements of the Trust for the half 

year and financial year ended March 31, 2025 along with Audit Report (enclosed as Annexure I).  

 

2. Declaration of 4th Distribution of Rs. 0.46 per unit, for the financial year 2024-25. The Distribution 

will be paid as Rs. 0.24 per unit as Interest and Rs. 0.22 per unit as return on capital, subject to 

applicable taxes, if any. 

 

Please note that May 13, 2025 has been fixed as the ‘Record Date’ for the purpose of Payment of 

this Distribution and it will be paid to the eligible Unitholders on or before May 20, 2025. 

 

Pursuant to Regulation 10 of SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulation, 2014 read along with 

SEBI Master Circular SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2024/44 dated May 15, 2024, as amended the 

Net Asset Value of the units of IRB Infrastructure Trust as on March 31, 2025, is Rs. 304.00 per unit 

and same also forms part of audited financial information. 

  



 

We further wish to inform that there is no erosion in the net worth of MMK Toll Road Private Limited, 

the Investment Manager to the Trust, as per the audited financial statements for the period ended on 

March 31, 2025 as compared to the audited financial statements for the period ended on March 31, 

2024. 

 

Kindly take the same on record. 

 

For MMK Toll Road Private Limited 

(in its capacity as Investment Manager to IRB Infrastructure Trust) 

 

 

 

Kaustubh Shevade 

Company Secretary & Compliance Officer 

 

Encl.: As above. 

  



 

Annexure I 

 

Audited Consolidated & Standalone Information cum Statements of the Trust for the half year 

and financial year ended March 31, 2025 with Audit Report 

 

(enclosed separately below) 

 



Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 
304/308/309, Udyog Mandir No.1, 
7-C, Bhagoji Keer Marg, 
Mahim, Mumbai 400 016. 
Telephone + 91 (22) 43484242 

MS KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

602, Floor 6, Raheja Titanium 
Western Express Highway, 

Geetanjali Railway Colony, 
Ram Nagar, Goregaon (E), 

Mumbai 400063, India 
Tel: +91 22 6238 0519 

Independent Auditor's Report on Consolidated Audited Annual Financial Information of the IRB 
Infrastructure Trust pursuant to the Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trust) 
Regulations 2014, as amended. 

To 
The Board of Directors of 
MMK Toll Road Private Limited 
Investment Manager of IRB Infrastructure Trust ("the Investment Manager") 

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Information 

Opinion 

We have jointly audited the accompanying Statement of Consolidated annual financial information of IRB 
Infrastructure Trust (hereinafter referred to as the 'Trust') and its subsidiaries (Trust and its subsidiaries 
together referred to as "the Group"), which comprise of Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including 
other comprehensive income) and explanatory notes thereto and additional disclosures as required by 
Paragraph 6 of Chapter 4 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India ("SEBI") Master Circular 
SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2024/44 dated May 15, 2024, as amended, ("the SEBI Circular") for the year 
ended March 31, 2025 ('the Statement') attached herewith, being submitted by the Investment Manager 
pursuant to the requirement of Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 
2014, as amended, read with the SEBI Circular, together known as ("lnvlT Regulations"). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, and based 
on the consideration of reports of other auditor on separate audited financial statements of the subsidiaries, 
the aforesaid Statement: 

(i) includes the annual financial information of the Trust and the following entities: 

Sr No Name of Entity Relationship with Trust 

1 AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 
2 Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 
3 IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 
4 Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 
5 Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 
6 CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 
7 Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 
8 Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 
9 IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 
10 Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 
11 IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited (w.e. f. 11 August 2023) Subsidiary 
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12 IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited (w.e. f. 10 November 2023) 
13 Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (w.e. f. 28 December 2023) 
14 IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited (incorporated on 1 January 2024) 
15 IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited (incorporated on 1 January 2024) 
16 Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited (w.e.f. 27 December 2024) 

MS KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

Subsidiary 
Subsidiary 
Subsidiary 
Subsidiary 
Subsidiary 

(ii) is presented in accordance with the lnvlT Regulations in the manner so required; and 

(iii) gives a true and fair view in conformity with the recognition and measurement principles laid down in 
the applicable accounting standards ('Ind AS') prescribed under rule 2(1 )(a) of Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, to the 
extent not inconsistent with the lnvlT Regulations, of the net loss (including other comprehensive loss), net 
distributable cash flows for the year ended as on that date and other financial information of the Group for 
the year ended March 31, 2025. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our joint audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing ('SAs') issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India ("ICAI"). Our responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial information section of our report. We 
are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by ICAI, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. 

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us and other auditor in terms of their reports referred to in 
"Other Matters" paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter 

We draw attention to Note 4 to the Statement, which describes the presentation of 'Unit Capital' as 'Equity' 
to comply with the lnvlT Regulations. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Responsibilities of the Investment Manager and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Information 

This Statement, which is the responsibility of the of the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager (the 
"Board") and approved by them for issuance, has been prepared on the basis of the consolidated annual 
financial statements. This responsibility includes the preparation and presentation of this Statement that 
gives a true and fair view of the net loss (including other comprehensive loss), net distributable cash flows 
for the year ended as on that date and other financial information of the Group in accordance with the 
requirement of the lnvlT Regulations; recognition and measurement principles laid down in accordance with 
the Indian Accounting Standards ('Ind AS') prescribed under Rule 2(1 )(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, to the 
extent not inconsistent with the lnvlT Regulations. The respective Board of Directors of the companies 
included in the Group are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records for safeguarding of 
the assets of the Group and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and 
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application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were 
operating effectively for ensuring accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the 
preparation and presentation of the Statement that give a true and fair view and are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation of the 
Statement by the Board, as aforesaid. 

In preparing the Statement, the Board and the respective Board of Directors of the companies included in 
the Group are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
respective Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

The Board of the Trust and the respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are 
responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the Group. 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Information 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Statement as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this Statement. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Statement, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on whether 
the Trust has in place an adequate internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial 
statements and the operating effectiveness of such controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's 
report to the related disclosures in the Statement or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 



Gokhale a Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 

M S K A a Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Statement, including the disclosures, 
and whether the Statement represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial statements of the entities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the Statement. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the audit of financial information of such entities included in the Statement of 
which we are the independent auditors. For the other entities included in the Statement, which have 
been audited by other auditors, such other auditors remain responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the audits carried out by them. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance and such other entities included ·in the Statement of 
which we are the independent auditors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our joint audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

We also performed procedures in accordance with Regulation 13(2)(e) of the lnvlT Regulations, as amended 
to the extent applicable. 

Other Matters 

1. The Statement includes the audited financial statements of five subsidiaries, whose Financial Information 
reflect total revenue of Rs. 17,270.85 million (before consolidation adjustment), total net loss after tax of 
Rs. 6,514.27 million (before consolidation adjustment), and total comprehensive loss of Rs. 6,514.27 million 
(before consolidation adjustment) for the year ended March 31, 2025, as considered in the Statement, which 
have been audited by the other auditor whose reports on financial statements of these entities have been 
furnished to us by the management and our opinion on the Statement, in so far as it relates to the amounts 
and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries, is based solely on the reports of such other auditor 
and the procedures performed by us are as stated in paragraph above. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of the above matter with respect to our reliance on the work done and 
the reports of the other auditor. 
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2. The Statement includes the information for the half year ended March 31, 2025 being the balancing figure 
between the audited figures in respect of the full financial year ended March 31, 2025 and the published 
unaudited year to date figures up to September 30, 2024, being the date of the end of the first half of the 
current financial year which were subject to limited review by us, as required under Regulation 23 of the 
lnvlT Regulations. 

For Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 
ICAI Firm Registration No.103264W 

CA Kaustubh Deshpande 
Partner 
Membership No. 121011 
UDIN: Q5 12.1 OI I &MI J" CQ 4-9 ,s g 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2025 

For M S KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Firm Registration No.105047W 

Nitin Tiwari 
Partner 

Membership No. 118894 
UDIN: '25I18'8<}yr3mt<XSEl253 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2025 



Sr. 
No. 

L 

IL 

rn. 
IV. 
V. 
VL 
VII. 

RB 
IRB Infrastructure Trust 

SEBI Regd. No.: IN/INVIT/19-20/0012 

(Rs. in million, unless othen"Vise stated) 
Audited Consolidated Financial Information for the six months and year ended March 31, 2025 

Six months ended Year ended 

March 31, 2025 
September 30, 

March 31, 2024 March 3 I, 2025 March 31, 2024 
Pa·11iculars 

2024 

(Audited) (Audited) (Refer 
(Refer note 5(i)) 

(Unaudited) 
note S(ii)) (Audited) (Audited) 

lncomes and gains 
Revenue from operations 29,739.42 23,606.82 23,799.08 53,346.24 38,930.75 
Interest on Bank deposits 365.82 376.18 358.45 742.00 566.97 
Profit on sale of investments 85 .65 85.02 154.54 170.67 190.86 
Other income * 21.14 15.46 65.38 36.60 82.00 
Total Incomes and gains 30,212.03 24,083.48 24,377.45 54,295.51 39,770.58 

Expenses and losses 
Operating expenses**# 13,560.24 10,098.74 12,677.85 23,658.98 19,876.05 
Project management fees (refer note c} 2,625.90 2,625.90 1,617.71 5,251.80 3,573 .20 
Valuation expenses 1.66 2.12 4.64 3.78 5.41 
Trustee Fees 0.65 0.65 11 .00 130 14.97 
Audit fees 9.74 9.40 10.03 19. 14 12.48 
Insurance expenses 116.15 64.99 65.16 181.14 94.71 
Investment management fees (refer note b) 58.49 52.65 58.76 11114 146.32 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 0.38 0.38 0.47 0.76 0.95 
Amortisation of intangible assets 2,034.78 2,505.73 1,989.12 4,540.51 3,648.0<'1 
Finance costs (Interest) 11,094.11 10,081 .30 7,812.81 21,175.41 13,449.23 
Finance costs (Others} *** 424.96 397.62 526.66 822.58 1,007.87 
Legal and professional fees 107.09 66.32 653.42 173.4 1 726. 17 
Custodian Fee 1.05 3.42 0.23 4.47 1.21 
Fair value loss on measurement of other payable 202.12 1,227.70 3,756.40 1,429.82 4,935.37 
Other expenses **** 48.21 18.83 107.46 67.04 116.58 
Total Expenses and losses 30,285.53 27,155.75 29,291.72 57,441.28 47,608.56 
Loss before tax for the period ([) - (Il) (73.50) (3,072.27) (4,914.27) (3,145.77) (7,837.98) 
Tax expenses (current tax and deferred tax) 107.15 (203.50) (985.37) (96.35} (1,187.83) 
Loss after tax for the period ([Il)- (IV) (180.65) (2,868.77) (3,928.90) (3,049.42) {6,650.15) 
Items of Other Comprehensive Income - - -
Total Comprehensive [ncome (V) + (V[) (180.65) (2,868.77) (3,928.90) (3,049.42) (6,650.15) 

* Other income includes fair va·!ue gain/(loss) on investment, dividend, other non-operative income and interest on income tax refund 
** Operating expenses includes provision for major maintenance amounting to Rs. l, 154.46 million, Rs. I, 154.46 million, Rs. 859. 72 million, Rs. 2,308.92 million and Rs. 
1,719.43 million for the six months ended March 31 , 2025, six months ended September 30, 2024, six months ended March 31, 2024, year ended March 31 , 2025 and year ended 
March 31 , 2024 respectively. 

# Operating expenses includes Project Management fees towards EPC Work an1ounting to Rs . I 3, 135.22 million, Rs. 8,563.45 million, Rs . I 0,368.87 million., Rs. 21,698.67 
million and Rs. 16,364.27 million for the six months ended March 31 , 2025 , six months ended September 30, 2024, six months ended March 3 I , 2024, year ended March 3 l, 
2025 and year ended March 31 , 2024 respectively. 

*** Finance costs (Others) includes Amortisa:tion of Transaction cost, Unwinding of discount on provision of major maintenance, Interest unwinding on loan, Interest unwinding 
of Trade payable - Associates and other finance cost 

**** Other expenses includes rent, rates and taxes, travelling & conveyance, membership & subscription., director sitting fees. corporate social responsibility expenditure, security 
expenses, bank charges, printing & stationery and other miscellaneous expenses. 

Registered Office: 1101, 11 th Floor, Hiranandani Knowledge Park, Technology Street, Hill Side Avenue, 
Powai, Mumbai - 400 076, Maharashtra, India. ; Tel: 022 - 67336400; Fax: 022 - 4053 6699; 

E-mail: irbinfrastructuretrust@irb.co.in Website: www.irbinfratrust.co .in; 



Additional disclosures as required by paragraph 6 of chapter 4 to the master circular no. SEBUHO/DDHS-POD-2/P/C[R/2024/44 dated 15th May 2024 as amended 
including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder ("SEBI circulars") 

a. Net Distributable Cash Flow for the year ended March 31, 2025 

(i) £RB Infrastructure Trust 

Sr No. Particulars 

1 Cashflows from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of the Trust 

2 
(+) Cash flows received from SPV's / Investment entities which represent distributions of NDCF 
computed as per relevant framework 
( + ) Treasury income / income from investing activities of the Trust (interest income received from FD, 

3 
any investment entities as defined in Regulation 18(5), tax refund, any other income in interest, profit 
on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., dividend income etc., excluding any Ind AS 
adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPVs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds 
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18(7) of Inv IT 
Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the lnvlT Regulations 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPVs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the lnvIT Regulations, if such proceeds are not 
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 
Account of the Trust 
(-) Debt repayment at Trust level (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMl's except if 

7 refinanced through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt 
refinanced through new debt, in any form or funds raised through issuance of units) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the tenns of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with financial institution or (ii). terms and conditions, 
covenants or any other stipulations applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs/ 
HoldCos, or (iii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external 

8 commercial borrowings availed by the Trust or any of its SPVs/ HoldCos,or (iv). agreement pursuant to 
which the SPV/ HoldCo operates or owns the infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or cashflows 
from such asset (such as, concession agreement, transmission services agreement, power purchase 
agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v). 
statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental stipulations; 

9 
(-) any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the lnv[T, to the extent not funded by 
debt I equity or from contractual reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCF at Trust Level 

Notes: 

Six months ended 
March 31, 2025 

191.05 

3,989.39 

l39.36 

(2,817.98) 

(320.79) 

(123 .00) 

1,058.03 

1. As per the master circular SEBl/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/ClR/2024/44 dated May 15 , 2024, details ofNDCF distributable is as below: 

Particulars Rs. (in million) 
NDCF of Trust (A) 2,549.72 

(+) NDCF of SPV's (8/ 8,883.38 

(-) Amount distributed by SPV's (C)* 8,966.62 
Amount ofNDCF Distributable D=(A+B-C) 2,466.48 

(Rs. in million) 
Six months ended Year ended 

September 30, 2024 March 31, 2025 
(102.49) 88.56 

4,977.23 8,966.62 

112.14 251.50 

-

- -

(2,732.65) (5,550.63) 

(317.44) (638.23) 

(445. 10) (568.10) 

- -

1,491.69 2,549.72 

# NDCF ofSPV's excludes NDCF for certain SPVs, where funds are not available for distribution on account of restrictions placed vide the terms of the Facilit-y Agreement. 
* Amount distributed by SPVs includes funds released, which were restricted in the previous year vide terms of the Facility Agreement 
Trust has ensured that minimum 90% of the above amount will be distributed as NDCF. 



(ii) !RB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWC) 
(Rs. in million) 

Sr No. Particulars 
Six months ended Six months ended Year ended 
March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2025 

l Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY 426.14 368.55 794.69 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant - - -
framework 
(+) TreasUJY income I income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

33.70 2.72 3642 
dividend income etc., excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 
(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPYs/Holdcos or 
lnvestment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds 
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of InvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the Inv IT Regulations 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPYs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
InvlT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the InvlT Regulations, if such proceeds are not - -
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(0.02) (0.11) (0. 13) 
Account and any shareholder debt / loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 

7 through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from - - -

Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks/ financial institution from whom the Trust 
or any of its SPYs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations 
applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPYs, or (iii). terms and conditions, 

8 
covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by the Trust 
or any of its SPYs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the infrastructure asset, - -
or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, transmission 
services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement of a like 
nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental stipulat ions: 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by 

-
debt I equity or from reserves created in the earlier vears 

lO NDCF forSPV 459.82 371.16 830.98 



(iii) Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL) 
(Rs in million) 

Sr No. Particulars 
Six months ended Six months ended Year ended 
March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2025 

1 Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement ofSPV 1,011.77 823.75 1,835.52 

2 
(+ ) Casb Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 

- -framework 
(+) Treasury income/ income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

25.45 30.08 55.53 dividend income etc. , excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+ ) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPVs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following-
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of lnvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations 

( +) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPVs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the lnvIT Regulations, if such proceeds are not -

intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(707.25) (662.45) (1 ,369.70) 
Account and any shareholder debt / loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMJ's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 
through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt/ loan from -

Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks/ financial institution from whom the Trust 
or any of its SPVs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations 
applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs, or (iii). terms and conditions, 
covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by the Trust 

8 or any of its SPVs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPV operates or owns the infrastructure asset, 145. 15 335.15 480 30 

or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, transmission 
services agreement, power purchase agreement lease agreement, and any other agreement of a like 
nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by 
debt I equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

to NDCFforSPV 475.12 526.53 1,001 .65 



(iv) Solpaur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL) 
(Rs. in million) 

Six months ended Six months ended Year ended 
Sr No. Pa rticulars 

March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2025 

I Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY 466.34 383.34 849.68 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPY's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 

-
framework 
(+) Treasury income / income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

29.76 18.27 48.03 dividend income etc., excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

( +) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure in vestments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPY s/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adj usted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of InvlT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPYs or 

s 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plai:i to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the Inv IT Regulations, if such proceeds are not - -

intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(257.10) (257.91) (515.01) 
Account and any shareholder debt / loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 
through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from -
Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agree~ent entered with banks / financial institution from whom the Trust 
or any of its SPYs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations 
applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPYs, or (iii). terms and conditions, 

8 
covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by the Trust 

91.95 91 .95 183.90 
or any of its SPYs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the infrastructure asset, 
or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, transmission 
services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement of a like 
nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory,judicial , regulatory, or governmental stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by -
debt/ equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCFforSPV 330.95 235.65 566.60 



(v) Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL) 
(Rs in million) 

Sr No. Particulars 
Six months ended Six months ended Year ended 
March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2025 

I Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY 532.65 466 .91 999.56 

2 
(+)Cash Flows received from SPY's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 
framework 
(+) Treasury income/ income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest. profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

19.1 9 18.77 37.96 dividend income etc., excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPVs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds - -

• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of InvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the lnv[T Regulations 
( +) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPVs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the lnvIT Regulations, if such proceeds are not - -

intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(0.62) (0.02) (0.64) 
Account and any shareholder debt / loan from Trust 

(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 
through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from 
Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the teans of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks/ financial institution from whom the Trust 
or any of its SPYs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations 
applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs, or (iii). terms and conditions, 
covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by the Trust 

8 or any of its SPYs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPV operates or owns the infrastructure asset, 
or generates revenue or cashtlows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, transmission 
services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement of a like 
nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory. judicial, regulatory, or governmental stipulations: 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by -
debt I eauitv or from reserves created in the earlier vears 

10 NDCFforSPV 551.22 485.66 1,036.88 



(vi) AE Tollway Limited (AETL) 
(Rs in million) 

Particulars 
Six months ended Six months ended Year ended 

Sr No. March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2025 

I Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPV 4 l 7.33 323.87 74120 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant - -
framework 
(+) Treasury income/ income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

3l.24 3.77 35.01 dividend income etc., excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Furth.er clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPVs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -

• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation l 8( 7) of InvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the Inv IT Regulations 
( +) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPY s or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations, if such proceeds are not - -

intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

3.73 (3.73) -Account and any shareholder debt I loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced -through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from 
Trust) 
(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks/ financial institution from whom the Trust 
or any of its SPVs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations 
applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs, or (iii). terms and conditions, 
covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by the Trust 

8 or any of its SPVs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the infrastructure asset, - -
or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, transmission 
services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement of a like 
nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by 
debt / equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

IO NDCFforSPV 452.30 323.91 776.21 



(vii) Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL) 
(Rs. in million) 

Six months ended Six months ended Year ended 
Sr No. Particulars 

March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2025 

I Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY 535.26 468.40 1,003.66 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 

-
framework 
(+) Treasury income/ income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

17.36 1692 34.28 dividend income etc., excluding any [nd AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares ofSPVs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds - -
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of lnvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations 
(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPYs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation l 8(7) of 
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the Inv IT Regulations, if such proceeds are not - -
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(724.80) (733.61) (1,458.41) 
Account and any shareholder debt / loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 

(95.76) (55.69) (151.45) through new debt, in any fonn or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from 
Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks/ financial institution from whom the Trust 
or any of its SPVs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations 
applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs, or (iii). terms and conditions, 
covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by the Trust 

8 or any of its SPVs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the infrastructure asset, - - -
or generates revenue or cash.flows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, transmission 
services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement of a like 
nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental stipulations: 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the SPV to the extent not funded by - -
debt/ eauitv or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCFforSPV (267.94) (303.98) (571.92) 



(viii) CG Tollway Limited (CGTL) 
(Rs in million) 

Particulars 
Six months ended Six months ended Year ended 

Sr No. March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 Ma rch 31, 2025 

l Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY 365.71 348.51 714.22 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPY's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant - -
framework 
(+) Treasury income/ income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

22.64 14.56 37.20 dividend income etc., excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

( +) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPYs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of InvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the Inv IT Regulations 
( +) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPYs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the lnvIT Regulations, if such proceeds are not -
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(738.10) (740.48) (1 ,478.58) 
Account and any shareholder debt / loan from Trust 

(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI' s except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft faci lities and to exclude any debt repayments/ debt refinanced 

(213.59) (70.83) (284.42) through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from 
Trust) 

(-) Any reserve requ ired to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks/ financial institution from whom the Trust 
or any of its SPYs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations 
applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPYs, or (iii). terms and conditions, 
covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by the Trust 

8 or any of its SPYs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the infrastructure asset, - -
or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, transmission 
services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement of a like 
nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned I leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by -
debt / equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCFfor SPV (563.34) (448.24) (1,011.58) 



(ix) Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL) 
(Rs. in million) 

Six months ended Six months ended Year ended 
Sr No. Particulars 

March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2025 

t Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY 4.84 (41.49) (36.65) 

2 
(+)Cash Flows received from SPY's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 

-
framework 
(+) Treasury income I income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

2.70 3.04 5.74 dividend income etc., excluding any fnd AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+} Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPYs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds - -

• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of InvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the lnvIT Regulations 
( +) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPYs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
lnvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the LnvIT Regulations, if such proceeds are not - - -
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(0.03) (0.02) (0.05) 
Account and any shareholder debt I loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 
through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from -
Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks / financial institution from whom the Trust 
or any of its SPYs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations 
applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPYs, or (iii). terms and conditions, 
covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by the Trust 

8 or any of its SPYs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPV operates or owns the infrastructure asset, 
or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, transmission 
services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement of a like 
nature, by whatever name caHed); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental stipulations: 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by 
debt/ eouity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCF forSPV 7.51 (38.47) (30.96) 



(x) lRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited (IRBHM) 
(Rs in million) 

Pa rticulars 
Six months ended Six months ended Year ended 

Sr No. Ma rch 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2025 

l Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY 1,445.92 1,288.79 2,734.71 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant - -
framework 
(+) Treasury income/ income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds , investments, assets etc., 

3.65 3.39 7.04 diyjdend income etc. , excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a casb receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares ofSPYs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of Inv IT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the InvlT Regulations 
(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPYs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations, if such proceeds are not -
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(0.27) (0.05) (0.32) 
Account and any shareholder debt / loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 
through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from - -
Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks / financial institution from whom the Trust 
or any of its SPYs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations 
applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPYs, or (iii). terms and conditions, 
covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by the Trust 

8 or any of its SPVs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the infrastructure asset, - - -

or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, transmission 
services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement of a like 
nature, by whatever name called): or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental stipulations: 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by 

(76.29) (76.29) 
debt/ e<iuitv or from reserves created in the earlier vears 

10 NDCFfor SPV 1,373.01 1,292.13 2,665.14 



(xi) Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL) 
(Rs in million) 

Particulars 
Six months ended Six months ended Year ended 

Sr No. March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2025 

I Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement ofSPV 934. 19 592.90 1,527.09 

2 
(+)Cash Flows received from SP V's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant - -
framework 
(+) Treasury income / income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

5.44 5.52 10.96 dividend income etc. , excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPVs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds - -

• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of InvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations 
( +) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPVs or 

s 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations, if such proceeds are not - -

intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(66 I .44) (568.07) (U29.5 I) 
Account and any shareholder debt / loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI 's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments/ debt refinanced 

0.78 (0.78) through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from 
Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks/ financial institution from whom the Trust 
or any of its SPVs have availed debt, or (ii) terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations 
applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs, or (iii). terms and conditions, 
covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by the Trust 

8 or any of its SPVs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the infrastructure asset, (242.21) - (242.21) 

or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, transmission 
services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement of a like 

nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial , regulatory, or governmental stipulations;2 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned I leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by 
debt/ equitv or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCFforSPV 36.76 29.57 66.33 

Note: 
I. On account of restrictions in Facility Agreement, the said funds are not available for distribution. 
2. The said funds pertain to change of scope work, creditors corresponding to which were discharged post March 31 , 2025. 



(xii) [RB Golconda Expressway Private Limited ([GEPL) 
(Rs in million) 

Particulars 
Six months ended Six months ended Year ended 

Sr o. March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2025 

I Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY 3,374.22 3,098.44 6,472.66 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 

-
framework 
(+) Treasury income/ income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

69.00 120 98 189.98 dividend income etc., excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPVs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds 
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of lnvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the [nvIT Regulations 
(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPVs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier ·plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the Inv[T Regulations, if such proceeds are not -
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(2,476.56) (2,423.15) (4 ,899.71) 
Account and any shareholder debt/ loan from Trust 

(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments/ debt refinanced 

(30.63) (23.76) (54.39) through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt I loan from 
Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks / financial institution from whom the Trust 
or any of its SPVs have availed debt, or (ii). tem1s and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations 
applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs, or (iii). terms and conditions, 
covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by the Trust 

8 or any of its SPVs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the infrastructure asset, 1,166.00 1,166.00 

or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, transmission 
services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement of a like 
nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by -
debt/ eauitv or from reserves created in the earlier vears 

10 NDCFforSPV 936.03 1,938.51 2,874.54 

Note: 
l . On account of restrictions in Facility Agreement, part of the funds generated in FY25 are not available for distribution. 
2. The SPV has distributed Rs.772.22 million pertaining to FY24 in HI FY25, pursuant to receipt of approval from its Senior Lenders. 



(xi ii) Samakhiyali Toll way Private Limited (STPL) 
(Rs in million) 

Particulars 
Six months ended Six months ended Year ended 

Sr No. March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2025 

l Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY 543.40 554.29 1,097.69 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 

- -
framework 
(+) Treasury income/ income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

3.65 4.38 8.03 dividend income etc., excluding any [nd AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

( +) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPYs/Holdcos or 
lnvestment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -

• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of lnvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations 
( +) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPY s or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation I 8(7) of 
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the [nvIT Regulations, if such proceeds are not -
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(97.34) (32.26) (129.60) 
Account and any shareholder debt / loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMl's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft faci lities and to exclude any debt repayments/ debt refinanced 

0.29 (0.29) through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from -

Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks I financial institution from whom the Trust 
or any of its SPVs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations 
applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPYs, or (iii) terms and conditions, 
covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by the Trust 

8 or any of its SPVs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the infrastructure asset, 
or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, transmission 
services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement of a like 
nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned/ leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by 

(477.76) (512.01) (989 77) 
debt / equitv or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCFforSPV (27.76) 14.11 (13.65) 

Note: 
1. On account of restrictions in Facility Agreement, the said funds are not available for distribution. 



(xiv) IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited (IL TPL) 
(Rs. in million) 

Particulars 
Six months ended Six months ended Year ended 

Sr No. March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 Ma rch 31, 2025 

1 Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPV 1,732.44 1,710.87 3,443.31 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 

-
framework 
(+) Treasury income / income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

66.49 65 .96 132.45 dividend income etc., excluding any Ind AS adjustments Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPVs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds - -

• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of InvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the InvlT Regulations 
(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPVs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations, if such proceeds are not 
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(I ,508.89) (1,398.50) (2,907.39) 
Account and any shareholder debt/ loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI 's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 

(38.83) (18 74) (57.57) through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from 
Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks/ financial institution from whom the Trust 
or any of its SPVs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations 
applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs, or (iii). terms and conditions, 
covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by the Trust 

8 or any of its SPVs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the infrastructure asset, -

or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, transmission 
services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement of a like 
nature, by whatever name called)· or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned I leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by -
debt I equitv or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCF forSPV 251.21 359.59 610.80 

Note: 
1. On account of restrictions in Facility Agreement, part of the funds are not avai lable for distribution. 



(xv) IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited (IKTPL) 
(Rs. i.n million) 

Particulars 
Six months ended Six months ended Year ended 

Sr No. March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2025 

1 Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY 277.38 254.10 531.48 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 
framework 
(+) Treasury income I income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

1036 8.44 18.80 dividend income etc., excluding any [nd AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares·ofSPVs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinveste~ as per Regulation 18( 7) of [nvlT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the [nvlT Regulations 
( +) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPYs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
[nvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations, if such proceeds are not -
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(197.82) (I 81.68) (379.50) 
Account and any shareholder debt / loan from Trust 

(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments I debt refinanced 

0.14 (0.14) through new debt, in any fonn or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt/ loan from -

Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks I financial institution from whom the Trust 
or any of its SPYs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations 
applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPYs, or (iii) terms and conditions, 
covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by the Trust 

8 or any of its SPVs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPV operates or owns the infrastructure asset, 
or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, transmission 
services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement of a like 
nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned/ leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by 

-
debt/ equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

i0 NDCFforSPV 90.06 80.72 170.78 

ote: 
I. On account of restrictions in Facility Agreement, the said funds are not available for distribution. 



(xvi) lRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited (IGTPL) 
(Rs. in mill ion) 

Particula rs 
Six months ended Six months ended Yea r ended 

Sr No. March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2025 

l Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY 545.50 501.75 1,047.25 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant - -
framework 
(+) Treasury income / income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

18.63 15.81 34.44 dividend income etc., excluding any [nd AS adj ustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPVs/Holdcos or 
[nvestment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of InvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPVs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
[nv[T Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the [nv!T Regulations, if such proceeds are not 
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(387.66) (364.47) (752.13) 
Account and any shareholder debt/ loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 

0.25 (0.25) through new debt, in any fonn or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from -

Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks/ financial institution from whom the Trust 
or any of its SPVs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations 
applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs, or (ii i). terms and conditions, 
covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by the Trust 

8 or any of its SPYs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the infrastructure asset, - -

or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, tTansmission 
services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement of a like 
nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory. judicial, regulatory, or governmental stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by 

-
debt / equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

IO NDCFfor SPV 176.72 152.84 329.56 

Note : 
I. On account of restrictions in Facility Agreement, the said funds are not available for distribution . 



(xvii) Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited (MBEL) 
(Rs. in million) 

Sr No. Particulars 
January 01, 2025 to 

March 31, 2025 

1 Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY2 (139.80) 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 

-
framework 
(+) Treasury income I income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

0.53 dividend income etc. , excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPYs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of InvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the Inv IT Regulations 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPYs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations, if such proceeds are not -
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 
Account and any shareholder debt/ loan from Trust 

-

(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments I debt refinanced 
through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from -

Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks / financial institution from whom the 
Trust or any of its SPYs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other 
stipulations applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPYs, or (iii) . terms and 
conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by 

142.70 8 the Trust or any of its SPYs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the 
infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, 
transmission services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement 
of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental 

stipulations; 3 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned I leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by -
debt I equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCF forSPV 3.43 

Note: 
1. On account of restrictions in Facility Agreement, the said funds are not available for distribution. 

2. Includes Liquid MF amounting to Rs. 37.62 million transferred pursuant to acquisition of the SPY on Dec 27, 2024 

3. Rs. 142. 70 million pertain to amount receivable as per relevant provisions of the Concession Agreement. 

In accordance with the SEBI circular no SEBVHO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2024/44 dated May 15, 2024, the framework for computation 
of Net Distributable cash flows ("NDCF") is revised at Trust level for the period from April O 1, 2024 to March 31, 2025 Accordingly, 
NDCF for the period April 01 , 2024 to March 31, 2025 has been calculated and presented in accordance with the new framework. 
NDCF for the periods for on or before March 31, 2024, has been calculated and presented as per the earlier framework and has been 
disclosed/ reproduced in Annexure I - Sr no. i to xvi . 



b. Pursuant to a resolution dated July 04, 2023 of the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager and a resolution dated July 27, 2023 of the 
Unitholders, the Management Fees has been revised to equivalent to cost incurred by the Investment manager plus LO% mark up in connection 
with providing investment management services to the Trust including routine administrative and operational expenses (exclusive of any out 
of pocket expenses, reimbursement and taxes. The investment management fees has been determined in considerartion of the investment 
manager's role in managing the Trust and its underlying investments. There have been no changes in the methodology for the computation of 
fees payable to the manager during the financial year ended March 31 , 2025 . 

c. Pursuant to the terms of the Project Implementation Agreements, the fees payable by the resepective Project Special Purpose Vehicles 
("Project SPVs") to the Project Manager have been duly determined and mutually agreed upon by the Project Manager, the Investment 
Manager and the respective Project SPVs. Such determination duly reflects the scope of services to be undertaken by the Project Manager, 
including but not limited to maintenance and ancilliary services, for an initial period of ten years. 
Project Management fees (services towards Operations and Maintenance (0 & M) and Engineering, Procurement and Construction (EPC)) 
increased from Rs. 19,937.47 million in previous year to Rs. 26,950.47 million in current year. This increase is primarily attributable to 
addition of Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited (MBEL) to the portfolio from December 27, 2024 and periodic maintenance activities 
undertaken for a few of the Project SPVs, as stipulated in the Agreement. 

d Statement of Earnings per unit 
(Rs. in million, except for unit data) 

Particulars Six months ended Year ended Year ended 

March 31, 2025 
September 30, 

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 
2024 

Loss for the period /year (180.65) (2,868.77) {3,928.90) (3,049.42) (6,650.15) 
Number of ~nits outstanding for 
computation of basic and diluted 1, 14,64,22,935 1, 11 ,36,93,265 1,02, 72,23,320 1, 13,00, 13,265 97,34,89,986 
earnings per unit 
Earnings per unit (basic and diluted) (0.16) (2.58) (3.82) (2.70) (6.83) 

e Statement of contingent liabilities and commitments 

Contingent liabilities not provided for 

Particulars 
As at March 31, As at September As at March 31, 
2025 30,2024 2024 

Contingent liability - - -

UTL, CGTL and KGTL have filed Writ petition with Hon'ble Rajasthan High Court with prayer to commence payment of Premium to 
National Highways Authority of India (NHAI) six months post actual completion of the project construction work. The Hon' ble High Court 
prima facie agreed with the contention of these companies and had provided interim relief from payment of premium. Vide judgement order 
dated 25th August, 2021 , the Hon ' ble High Court found merit in the contention of the companies and has directed the parties to resolve the 
dispute under Arbitration. The said matter is currently pending under Arbitration. The amount under arbitration is not ascertainable. 

Commitments 
(Rs. In million) 

Particulars 
As at March 31, As at September As at March 31, 

2025 30,2024 2024 

Estimated value of contracts in capital 
17, 120.85 19,204.63 28,594.95 

account remaining to be executed 

Total 17,120.85 19,204.63 28,594.95 



[RB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 

L List of Related parties of the Trust 
f. Statement of Related Party transactions 

List of Related parties of the Trust I As per Rei?ulation 2 (I) (zv)I 
I Parties to the InvlT 

2 Promoters, DirectoI"s and PartneI"S of the persons 
mentioned in clause I 

* Table A - S onsor Grou and Pro·ect Mana er 

(i) The sponsor(s) 

lRB Infrastructfile 
Developers Limited 

(i i) Entities or person(s) which are controlled by 
such sponsor 

Modem Road Makers Private Limited (MRMPL) 

!RB Ahmedabad Vadodara Super Express Tollway 
Private Limited (IRBA V) 

Sponsor Group and Project Manager (as per 'Table A' 
below)* 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited (Investment Manager) 

fDBI Trusteeship Services Limited (Trustee of the IRB 
Infrastructure Trust) 

As peI" 'Table B' below# 

(iii) Entities or person(s) who control such body 
corporate 

Mr. Vrrendra D. Mhaiskar, Promoter of Sponsor 

lRB Holding Private Limited 

Mhaiskar lnfrastructfile Private Limited (MLPL) Ms. Deepali V. Mhaiskar, Promoter of Sponsor 
Thane Ghodbunder Toll Road Private Limited Virendra D. Mhaiskar HUF (Karta Mr. Virendra 
(TGTRPL) Mhaiskar), promoter of Sponsor 

!RB Kolhapur Integrated Road Development Company 
Private Limited (IRBK) 

A TR lnfrastructfile Private Limited (ATRFL) 
Ideal Road Builders Private Limited (IRBPL) 
Aryan Toll Road Private Limited (A TRPL) 

GEi Expressway Private Limited (Formerly known as 
!RB PP Project Private Limited) 

!RB PS Highway Private Limited (IRBPS) 
!RB Sindhudurg Airport Private Limited (IRBSA) 
lRB Infrastructure Private Limited (IRBFL) 
Aryan Infrastructfile Investments Private Limited 
(AIIPL) 

Aryan Hospitality Private Limited (AHPL) 
IRB MP Expressway Private Limited 
IRB Goa Tollway Private Limited (IRB Goa) 
MRM Mining Private Limited (Subsidiary of 
MRMPL) 

VM7 Expressway Private Limited 
Pathankot Mandi Highway Private Limited 
Chittoor Thachur Highway Private Limited 
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited 
(Subsidiary upto 10.08.2023) 

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (Subsidiary upto 
27. L2.2023) 

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited (Joint Venture 
upto 26.12.2024) 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited (MMK)- JV 
!RB Infrastructure Trust - JV 

Project SPV's of IRB Infrastructure Trust as 
mentioned below: 

I. IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWTL)' 
2. Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL) 
3. Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL) 

4. Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL) " 

5. AE Tollway Limited (AETL)" 
6. Udai pur Tollway Limited(UTL) 

7. CG Tollway Limited (CGTL) 
8. Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited 

(KGTL) " 

9. !RB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited 

(lRBHMTL) " 

LO. Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL) 

I I. IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited 
(IRBGEPL) w.e.f I l.08.2023 

12. !RB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited w.e.f 
10. 11 .2023 

13. Samakl1iyaJi Tollway Private Limited w.e.f. 
28. 12.2023 

14. !RB Kota Tollway Private Limited w.e.f. 
01.01.2024 

15. IRB Gwalior Private Limited w.e.f. 01.01.2024 

16. Meerul Budaun Expressway Limited w.e.f. 
27. 12.2024 

(iv) Entities or person(s) which 
are controlled by entities or 
person(s) specified in clause 
(iii) 

VDM Ventures Private 
Limited 

Duex Farming Films Private 
Limited 



ersons mentioned in clause I 
Parties to the Trust 
(i) IRB Infrastructure 
Developers Limited 
(Sponsor and Project 
Manager) 

Promoters 
I . Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

3. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar (HUF) 

(ii) Entities or person(s) IRB infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL) 
which are controlled by 
such sponsor 

(iii) Entities or 
person(s) who control 
such body corporate 

(iv) Entities or 

I. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
3. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar (HUF) 

I. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
person(s) which are 2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
controlled by entities or 3. Mr. an V. Mhaiskar 

MMKToll Road 
Private Limited 
(Investment Manager) 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (lRB IDL) 

Directors 
I . Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar, Chainnan and fanaging 
Director 

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar, Whole Time Director 
3. Mr. Luis Aguirre de Career Cabezas, Non Executive 
Director (w.e.f. December 29,2024) 

4. Mr. Ravindra Dhariwal, Non-executive Director 

5. Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta-independent Director (w.e.f 
April I, 2024) 

6. Mr. Vijay Nautarnlal Bhatt- independent Director 
(w.e.f April I, 2024) 

7. Ms. Priti Savla - Independent director 
8. Mr. Ajay Kumar Singh, Independent Director (w.e.f 
Febraury 5, 2025) 

9. Mr. Jose Tarnariz Martel Goncer (Ceased as director 
w.e.f December 9, 2024) 

10. Mr. Chandrashekhar S. Kaptan- lndependent director 
(up to March 31, 2024) 

11 . Mr. Sunil H. Talati -independent director (up to 
March 3 l, 2024) 

12. Mr. Sandeep J. Shah - Independent director (Ceased 
as director w.e.f. February 4, 2025) 

I. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
3. Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi ( up to March 31 , 2025) 
4. Mrs. Arati Taskar 
5. Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing 
6. Mr. RajpauJ Shanna 
7 Mr. Arnitabh Murarka 

8. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar 
9 Mrs. Ksharna Vengsarkar 
10. Mr. Nikhil Maniar 
11. Mr. Tushar Kawedia 
12. Mr. Rajinder Pal Singh 
13. Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon 
12. Mr. Sunil Tandon -independent Director 
14. Mr. Nikesh Jain -Independent Director 
15 . Mr. Rushabh Gandhi 
16. Mrs. Anusha Date-independent Director 

17. Mr. Jitender Kumar Chauhan (Appointed as director 
w.e.f. March I, 2025) 

18. Mr. Kulumani Gopalratnarn Krishnamurthy­
lndependent Director 

19. Mrs. Ranjana Paranjape -Independent Director 

20. Mr. Kunnasagaran Chioniah (Ceased as director 
w.e.f. June 15, 2024) 

2l. Mr. Sandeep Shah -Independent Director (Ceased as 
director w.e.f. February 4, 2025) 
22 . Ms. Shilpa Todankar 

22. Mr. Abhay Phatak 
23 . Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar 
24 . Mr. Omprakash Singh 

25. Mr. Chandrashekhar Kaptan 
26. Mr. Boon Chin Hau 
27. Mr. Nagendraa Parakh 

28. Mr. Amyn Jassani (Ceased to be director ofMMK 
w.e.f. May 31 , 2024) 

29. Mr. Victor Carretero Arbona, (Appointed as director 
ofw.e.f. October 30, 2024) 

30. Ms. Rajni Sekhri Sibal- Independent Director 
(Appointed as director of w.e.f. October 30, 2024) 

L. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

I . Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

3. Mr. A an V. Mbaiskar 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

Mr. Boon Chin Hau 
Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar 
Mr. KG Krishnamurthy -Independent director 
Mrs.Ranjana Paranjape - Independent director 
Mr. Nagendraa Parakh- Independent director 

Mr. Victor Carretero Arbona (Appointed w.e.f. October 
30, 2024) 

Ms. Rajui Sekhri Sibal (Independent Director) Appointed 
w.e.f. October 30, 2024 

Mr. Kunnasagaran Chinniah (Ceased as director w.e.f 
June 15, 2024) 

Mr. Arnyn Jassani - Independent director (Ceased as 
director w.e.f. Ma 31 , 2024) 



IDBI Trusteeship IDBI Bank Limited Mr. Jayakumar Subramo11ia Pillai 
Services Limited LIC Corporation Limited Mr. Pradeep Kumar Malhotra 
(Trustee of [RB General Insurace Corporation Ms. Baljinder Kaur Manda! 
Infrast ructure Trust) Mr. Arun Kumar Agarwal (Appointed w.e.f. July 19, 

2024) 

Mr. Hare Krushna Dandapani Panda (Appointed w.e.f. 
July 19, 2024) 

Mr. Balkrishna Varier (Appointed w.e.f. June 24, 2024) 

Mr. Soma Nandan Satpathy (Appointed w.e.f January 
16, 2025) 

Mr. Pradeep Kumar Jain (Ceased as director w.e.f 
December 20, 2024) 

Mrs. Jayashree Vijay Ranade (ceased to be director w.e.f 
April 18, 2024) 



IRB lnfrascrudurt• TnJSI 
Nore-s 10 Con!,;olid:.:ttrd financi:d State~nts for the: ye-:a r t.nd1.-d M:.1rch 31, 2025 

S1·. 

No. 
Par1ku(~rs 

1 ContT~('I f'XJ)("DSICS 

UW lnfraslruclurc: Dc"·dopers L.imjtcd 

Mock.'TTI Road Makers Pri,..-are Limiled 

Oiwralion & Maintr:nanct Erpcnses 

lRB lnfi"-dslructure De"'elopers Limited 

3 fimilntt' Cost -1.nlnt"St unwindin2. on Trade paylll blf 

Modern Road Malers Privale Limito:I 

-I Financ«' Cost -lntcrnt un'K'indin2 on Track pi;ayable- TCR 

Modi.."11t Rood Makers Pri\•atc Limiled 

5 Sub-ordinlill te: d"bts (Unsecured & int"r-est fr«) 
[RB Infrn:i.1.ructurc Dcvdopcrs Limiled 

6 Un.~ured Lo:,n Repaid 

IRB lnfrastruclurc Dc."0elopcrs Limited 

7 Expensc-s incun"NI on our bt:-h.llllr 

IR8 lnfrastruclurc Developers Limited 

Mockm Rond Makers Pri\'atc Linlllcd 

lRB lnfra:."lmctun::. Developers Limilcd 

IRB lnfra...truclUre lxvdopcr.; Limited 

HI Ulility Shiftine EXfl"RStS Rc,·t.rsecl 

Modem Road Makers Private Limilcd 

11 Cons1ruction c~t 

lRB Jnlrustruclurc Dev..::lopcrs Limilcd 

I.RB Inf ra.:..1ructur..:: Developers Limilcd 

Mhaii>kar lnfras:tructure Privalc Limited 

13 Other rec«'h·ablt' 

Mockm Road Maker:; Pri"•ate Limiled 

1-1 Profe~ion:.,I ftt-S 
IRB [nt'ras1ruclurc Devdopers Limiled 

15 
Purchase -0( i.n,·mrmnt in Mttrut Budlllun E:1prt'SS'n1_y Limited 

~ (Equiry s hlll"t'S and NCO) 

IRB lnfra-.1.ructurc D..::vdopa-s Lim.itod 

16 Curllnltt:s1·«eind 
(RH lnfraslruclur..:: D:,·elopcrs Limited 

17 lnl~Jb 1 on Debt'nturr (ElR bnpact} 
IR.B lnfras1rnc1ure Developers Limited 

Anahcra [nn:.~1mcnl Pie. Ltd. 

lRB Infrastructure Developi.:rs Limi1ed 

l 9 Unils lssut>d 

IR.B l.nfrastroclure Developers Limited 

20 lntert"Sf Dis1,;bution 

IRB lnfrastruciurc Dcvclopi..-rs Limited 

21 Capil.lilll Rtduc:tion 
IRB lnfrastrncturc D..::vdop,crs Limi1cd 

Sh: ntont.M 

r ndfil~blrch 
11,2025 

Sponsor and Prnjtcf Man:1g,r 

Six months ...... 
Scptnube.r30, 

102-a 

Sh: month~ 
mdcdi\lan:-h 

ll,2fl2-I 

Ye:arcndo&?d 

:\1archJ1. 
2015 

Yr.:.1;n,.dcd 

M..:at"fh31, 
102.-a 

21.500.92 8,30JA6 111.79~.02 29.8~.38 16,327.35 2.201.83 
21.500.92 8.303.46 I0.794.02 29.8()4.38 16.3:17.35 

2201.83 

3.909.11 3,909.12 2,804.7~ 7,818.23 5,229.00 

3.909.11 3,909.12 2.804.74 7.81823 5 "9.00 

~.872.57 16.916.65 
4.87:1 57 16.916.65 

135.02 5,316.93 ~99.35 6,17~.59 

364.33 135.02 53 16.93 4993 5 6.17459 

3.08 0.79 36.96 3.87 36.96 
3.08 0.79 36.96 3.87 36.96 

9H.60 92~.60 802-50 
924.60 914.60 802.50 

l,968.Jl 7,190.62 1,968.31 7,190.62 
1.968.31 7, 190.62 1.%8.31 7. 190.62 

26A2 
26.42 

906,96 907.75 

906.96 907.75 

202.12 l,n7.70 3,756AI 1,429.82 ~.935.38 2~.29 
201.12 1211.70 3.756.41 1.-429JP 4.935.38 

24.29 

~ 19.96 419.96 
419.% 419.96 

8,746.1~ 8,746. 1~ 

8.746. 14 8.746.14 

18.80 18.80 
18.80 18.80 

61.33 6l.33 
61.33 61.33 

ll90 1.35.00 ~76.22 157.911 726.22 

22 .90 135.00 476.22 157.90 726.'22 

8,150.81 11.508.36 8,750.81 26,139.68 
8.750.8 1 11.508.36 8.750.81 16.139.68 

136.35 278A4 n9.35 ~l~.79 229.35 
116.35 :ns.44 229.3:5 414.79 '>2935 

~62.63 227.30 2,032.~ 689.93 2.032.~ 
:227.30 :L032.84 68-.J .93 2_03 2.84 

Subsidhuics or Sponsor 

265.08 296.52 

265.08 196.52 2.466.9 1 

67.51 

67.51 

O.UI 

0.01 

26A2 
26.42 

24A2 ~8.71 

14.-11 48.71 

~ .21 34.21 
3421 342 1 

928.21 

9282 1 

l87.67 
187.67 

172.03 
17'2.03 

0.01 

48.8-4 

(Rs:.inmilltOn) 

Entcrprist':5 ownf<I or s ignificance-cl by b)" manag"mc-nl ~rsonncl or 
lhf'ir 1""h1ti,·f'S 

Sunt0ntm 

c.ndNM:.1nh 

31,2025 

787.66 

781.66 

Si:I" mon.th:-1 Six montlll'! 

~ndrd ~plc.mbu coded [\larch 

30.ltJU 31~2024 

Ycarended 

MarchJt. 
20l5 

781.66 

787.66 

\ 'urn1dNI 

l\brchJl. 
202-1 



1.RBlnfr:astructu.r"'Tni.<;:t 

Note-s t,o Coosolk.b tNI Fuumci:al Statements for t.ht-ye:arendct.l 'M;.11 rchJl, 2025 

Rel.l ied Par-t:,·Tramactions(ieonfinuied} 

Sr. No. P.a.rticul;,U''S 

22 Ex-pcnsl':5 incurr-ed on our br:half 

MMK Toll Road Pri\-1.1h::: Limited 

23 l.nn-stment ?o·lan:aecmm t F'"' ir-s 
MMK Toll Rood P.ri,·::i.te Li.mile:d 

Trusttt F«s 

IDBI TruS1ec:dlip Sen.i ces Limited 

25 Director sittin2,focs p.aid 

Mrs. Ara ti T askar 

M .--. D:ushan San~urdd,:.ar 

Mr.Ompralosh Singh 

Mr. Sudhir Hoshin.2, 

Mr. CS Kapt:m 

M~. S hilpa Tocbnk.ar 

Mr. Abh:av Poth.a.I.. 

Mr. Dlum . .:u,j:I,• Jos hi 

Mr. K.G. Kri-<lmamurtJ1v 

Mr. KLUlll.aSag.irnn Ch.inniah 

Mr. Ami1.:i.bn Mumrk.a 

58A9 Sl.65 58.76 

52 .65 58.76 

Ycarcndcd 

larc.h JI~ 
2JJ25 

111. 14 

111.14 

Year-ended 
M;archJI . 

202, 

OAS 

0.45 

1,6.32 

146.32 

h:ey i\ LanagmMnt Pusonncl of Proj4...'<f SP\ · C roup 

Six months Siint0aths 
end~ March irnded Scpteml)('r 

J l~ 102S JO, 202.C. 

2.17 

O.oJ 0 .07 

0.23 0.2 1 

0.21 0.21 

0.00 0 .05 

0.46 0.4J 

0 . .57 0.5J 

0.94 0. 12 

0.28 
0.08 0 .11 

0,02 o.m 
0.83 

0.74 

0.47 

0.2 1 

0. 14 0.17 

Si.xmon1h.." 
ended 

Mucbll . 
2112, 

2.00 

0.09 

0. 12 

0. 10 

0.15 

025 

0.38 

0. 10 

0. 18 

0.21 

0.09 

\'ur~IHlt!d 
;'.\l:archJl . 

2015 

0 .10 

0.44 

OA2 

0. 11 

0.89 

1.10 

J.06 
Q_j2 

0 . 19 

0 .05 

\1.83 

0.74 

0.47 

0.21 

0.3 1 

YcarendNf 

M.archl l . 
10'2..$ 

3.39 

0. 19 

0.24 

0.24 

0.17 

0.54 

0 .70 

0 .17 

035 

0.28 

0.09 

0.65 

0.65 

(Rs in million) 

Trusttt or IRB l.n(r11!'ltn..tcfutt Trus1 

0.65 

0.65 

Si:ln.tonl.hs 

MarchJl. 
202, 

0.15 

0.15 

Ye.l.llrcndNf 

i\.larchJl, 
2025 

uo 
uo 

Ye.l.llreond«I 

March JI . 
202• 

0.56 

0 .56 



lRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 

m. Related party balances 

(Rs in million) 

Enterprises owned or significanced by 
Sponsor and Project Manager Subsidiaries of Sponsor key management personnel or their 

Sr. relatives 

No. 
Particulars 

As OD As on Ason As on As on As on Ason As on As OD 

March 31, September March 31, March 31, September March 31, March 31, September March 31, 
2025 30, 2024 2024 2025 30, 2024 2024 2025 30, 2024 2024 

1 Subordinated debt (unsecured and interest free) 16,916.65 16,916.65 16,9 16.65 - - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 16,916.65 16,916.65 16,916.65 - - - -

2 Trade payable 7,802.28 5,075.80 3,971.13 917.76 152.93 80.66 - -
!RB lnfrastructure Developers Limited 7,802 .28 5,075.80 3,971.13 - - - -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - 9l7.76 152.93 80.66 - - -

3 Mobilisation advances 77.02 476.95 100.74 - - -
IRB lnfrastructure Developers Limited 77.02 476.95 l00.74 

4 Advance given 140.22 146.38 140.22 - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 140.22 146.38 140.22 - -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - - - -

5 BG Margin Money Receivable 61.88 30.95 30.95 - - - -
[RB Infrastructure Developers Limited 61.88 30.95 30.95 - - - - -

6 Retention payable 608.45 516.80 708.82 363.74 207.56 92.54 -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 608.45 516.80 708.82 -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited 363 .74 207.56 92.54 -

7 Deferred Consideration payable 38,460.77 38,258.65 37,031.44 3,778.23 3,753.94 3,729.52 - -
!RB [nfrastructure Developers Limited 38,460.77 38,258.65 37,031.44 -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited 1,784.13 1,784.13 1,784.13 

IRB Goa Tollway Private Limited - 1,544.86 1,544.86 1,544.86 
Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited - 449.24 424.95 400.53 

8 Amount Held Up 237.20 190.97 144.74 25.42 1.55 0.44 -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 237.20 190.97 144.74 - -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - 25.42 1.55 0.44 - -

9 Other payable ( Exp incurred on our behalf) 0.49 0.49 3.79 6.05 6.05 6.05 
JRB lnfrastructure Developers Limited 0.49 0.49 3.79 -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited 6.05 6.05 6.05 - -

10 Unsecured Loan 309.51 0.02 - - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 309.51 0.02 -

11 Gurantees received 2,046.20 - - - -
!RB Infrastructure Develooers Limited 2,046.20 -

12 NCD Issued 1,599.20 I 536.40 -
IRB infrastructure Developers Limited L,599.20 - - - - -
Anahera investment Pte. Ltd - - - - 1,536.40 - -

13 Interest on Debenture (ElR Impact) 1,381.03 1,326.83 -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 1,381.03 - - - -
Anahera invesuuent Pte. Ltd - - - - - - 1 326.83 -

14 Trade Receivable - - 0.51 0.51 0.51 
Modern Road Makers Private Limited - 0.51 0.51 0.51 

15 Other receivable 3.37 14.44 - 34.22 34.22 0.01 - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 3.37 14.44 - -
Modern Road Makers Private Limited - 34.22 34.22 0.01 



IRB lnfrastructu re Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 

Related party balances (continued) 

Sr. 
No. 

16 

17 

18 

(Rs in million) 

Investment Manager 
Key Management Personnel of Project 

Trustee of lRB lnfrastructure Trust 
SPV Group 

Particulars 
Ason Ason As on 

As on March 
September 

As on March As on March 
September 

As on March As on March 
September 

As on March 
31, 2°025 

30,2024 
31, 2024 31, 2025 

30,2024 
31,2024 31,2025 

30,2024 
31,2024 

Trade payable 102.19 95.73 95.19 - - - - - -
MMK Toll Road Private Limited 102_19 95.73 95_19 - - - - - -

Trustee Fees - - - - - - 1.30 - -
IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited - - - - - - L30 - -

Director sitting fees Payable - - - 1.41 0.79 1.24 - -
Mrs. Aarti Taskar - - - 0.03 0_03 0.04 - - -
Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar - - - 0.10 0.o7 0_09 - - -
Mr. Omprakash Singh - - - 0_09 0.o7 0.o7 - - -

Mr. Sudhir Hoshing - - - 0_03 0_02 0_05 - - -
Mr.CS Kaptan - - - 0_)9 0_15 0_)8 - - -
Ms_ Shilpa Todankar - - - 0-24 0_)8 0.29 - - -

Mr_ Rajpaul Sharma - - - 0.04 0_05 0.12 - - -
Mr. Abhay Pathak - - - 0_11 0_10 o_ 13 - - -
Mr. Amitabh Murarka - - - 0.o7 0.07 0.16 - - -
Mrs_ Ranjana Paranjape - - - 0_19 0_04 0.07 - - -
Mr. Dhananjay Joshi - - - 0_14 - - - - -
Mr. K.G. Krishnamurthy - - - 0.14 - - - - -
Mr_ Tushar Kawedia - - - o_oi 0.01 0_03 - - -

Subsequent to the year ended March 31 ,2025, the Board of Investment Manager, at its meeting held on May 08, 2025, in line with strategic portfolio optimisation objectives, has 
approved amendment to its non-binding offer (NBO) for sale to the IRB InvIT Fund ("Public InvIT') dated November 14, 2024, to include only three out of the originally 
proposed five assets viz IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited, Kaithal Tollway Limited & Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited_ However, the Trust continues to classify 
the originally proposed five assets as held for sale in accordance ,>vith the requirements of IND AS - 105 - 'Non -current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued operationsn. 
The amended NBO dated May 08, 2025, is a non-adjusting event. 

For MMK Toll Road Private Limited 
(Investment Manager to [RB Infrastructure Trust) 

Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Chairman and Director 
DIN : 00183554 
Place: Mumbai 

~ 
Shilpa Todankar 
Chief Financial Officer 

Place: Mumbai 
Date : May 08, 2025 

Amitabh Murarka 
Chief Executive Officer 

Place: Hyderabad 

cY:: 
Company Secretary 
Membership No : A27833 

Place Mumbai 
Date : May 08, 2025 



Annexure - I 

Additional Disclosures as required by paragraph 6 of chapter 4 to the master circular no. SEBI/HO/DDHS­
PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated 06 July 2023 as amended for the comparable periods 

(i) IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Sr. No. 

l 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

l l 

Note: 
I 

2 

(Rs. in Million) 

Particulars 
Six months ended Year ended 

March 31, 2024 March 31 2024 

Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of lnterest 1 2,423 .20 3,748.20 

Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Dividend - -
Any other income accruing at the Trust level and not captured above, 
including but not limited to interest/return on surplus cash invested by 183.94 199.49 
the Trust 
Cash flows received from the project SPVs towards the repayment 

9,650.56 8,897.76 
(Net) of the debt issued to the Project SPVs by the Trust2 

Total cash inflow at the Trust level (A) 12,257.70 12,845.45 
Less: 

Any payment of fees, interest and expense incurred at the Trust level, 
(2,519.48) (2,634.54) 

including but not limited to the fees of the Investment Manager 

Income tax (if applicable) at the Standalone Trust Level - -
Repayment of external debt (646.69) (646.69) 

Promoter contribution in under construction Project SPVs (4,855.00) (4,855.00) 

Total cash outflows I retention at the T.rust level (B) (8,021.17) (8,136.23) 
Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 4,236.53 4,709.22 

Excludes interest due but not receivedofRs.7,703.64 millions and Rs. 12,713 .52 millions for the six months ended 
March 31, 2024 and year ended March 31, 2024. 

Netted - off with disbursement of short-term unsecured loan to related parties. (Refer RPT disclosures of 
standalone financial results). 



(ii) IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWC) 

Sr. 
No. 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 
6 
7 
8 
9 
10 
11 
12 

Notes: 

Six Months 
Year ended 

Description 
ended 

March 31, 
Marcb 31, 

2024 
2024* 

Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1,696.66) (3,308.86) 

Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of 
113.50 214.60 

profit and loss 
Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (538.64) (238.79) 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash 
income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if 0.01 42.29 
deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 
Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 1,862.94 3,158.60 
Add:- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) - -
Less: Principal repayment of external debt - (121.51) 
Less: Tax paid - -
Less: Creation of MMRA - 322.00 
Less: Capital expenditure towards the project (13.68) (24.56) 
Total adjustments (B) 1,424.13 3,352.64 
Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) (272.53) 43.78 

*The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed from external 
lenders and Trust. 



(iii) Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway_Limited (Y ATL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

Six Months 
Year ended 

Sr.No. Description 
ended 

March 31, 
March 31, 

2024 
2024 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (610.12) (1 ,302.40) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit 

279.10 573.49 
and loss 

3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (684.66) (537.41) 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash 

4 income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if deemed 36.30 74.36 
necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: [nterest paid/payable to the Trust 646.61 1,522.05 
6 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) 66.15 123.21 
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt - -
8 Less: Tax paid - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA/ release of DSRA 460.00 460.00 
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 803.50 2,215.70 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 193.38 913.30 



(iv) Solpaur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

Six Months 
Year ended 

Sr. No. Description 
ended 

March 31, 
March 31, 

2024 
2024 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (458.70) (844.59) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and 

68.63 156.93 
loss 

3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (157.98) (109.90) 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income 

4 (net of actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by 17.90 36.44 
the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 604.31 1,192.25 
6 Add:- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) 38.23 71.40 
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt - -
8 Less: Tax paid - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA/release of DSRA 260.00 260.00 
IO Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - -
1 l Total Adjustments (B) 831.09 1,607.12 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 372.39 762.53 



(v) Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL) 

(Rs. in Million) 

Six Months 
Year ended 

Sr. No. Description 
ended 

March 31, 
March 31, 

2024 
2024* 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1,044.36) (1,895.65) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 116.16 217.01 
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 381.16 633.48 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense/ non cash income (net of actual cash 

56.66 184.01 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 1,315.34 2,227.67 
6 Add:- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) (106.46) (227.64) 
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt 0.00 (50.13) 
8 Less: Tax paid - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA - 145.00 
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 1,762.87 3,129.40 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 718.51 1,233.75 

Notes: 
*The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed from external lenders and Trust. 



(vi) AE Tollway Limited (AETL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

Six Months 
Year ended 

Sr. No. Description 
ended 

March 31, 
March 31, 

2024 
2024* 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1 ,860.64) (3,507 .79) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 164.46 326.30 
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 270.03 413.41 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense I non cash income (net of actual cash 

92.46 120.73 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 1,854.63 3,266.16 
6 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) (59.02) (133 .53) 
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt - (23.23) 
8 Less: Tax paid - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA/ release of DSRA 424.30 424.30 
lO Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 2,746.86 4,394.14 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 886.22 886.35 

Notes: 

*The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed from external lenders and Trust. 



(vii) Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

Six Months 
Year ended 

Sr. No. Description 
ended 

March 31, 
March 31, 

2024 
2024 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (662.12) (1,460.53) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 226.84 429.26 

3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 300.09 908.52 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense/ non cash income (net of actual cash 

55.20 109.09 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust - -
6 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) (25.52) (87.05) 
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt (30.74) (35.4 I) 

8 Less: Tax paid - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA - -
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - -
11 Total Adjustments (8) 525.87 1,324.41 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) (136.25) (136.12) 



(viii) CG Tollway Limited (CGTL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

Six Months 
Year ended 

Sr. No. Description 
ended 

March 31, 
March 31, 

2024 
2024 

l Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (561.17) (1,131.42) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 200.36 398.41 

3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (82.73) (21.16) 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense I non cash income (net of actual cash 

18.31 36.69 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust - -
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) 74.34 138.16 
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) (70.19) (100.37) 

8 Less: Tax paid - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA - -
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 140.09 451.73 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) (421.08) (679.69) 



(ix) Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

Six Months 
Year ended 

Sr. No. Description 
ended 

March 31 , 
March 31, 

2024 
2024* 

I Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1,131.75) (2,038.30) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 133.18 259.92 
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(lncrease) in Working capital (442.49) (0.73) 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 

158.82 249.70 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: [nterest paid/payable to the Trust 769.48 942.45 
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) 93 .01 173.73 
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) - (7.96) 
8 Less: Tax paid - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA/release of DSRA 360.00 360.00 
IO Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 1,072.00 1,977.11 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) (59.75) (61.19) 

Notes: 

*The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed from external lenders and Trust. 



(x) IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited (IRBHM) 
(Rs. in Million) 

Six Months 
Year ended 

Sr. No. Description 
ended 

March 31, 
March 31, 

2024 
2024* 

I Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1,111.84) {1 ,844.84) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 267.22 481.39 
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(lncrease) in Working capital (697.56) (992.13) 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 

249.18 334.11 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 1,569.79 2,257.27 
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) 201.20 372.37 
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) (0.80) (96.43) 
8 Less: Tax paid - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA/ release of DSRA 600.00 600.00 
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project (344.10) (344.10) 
11 Total Adjustments (B) 1,844.93 2,612.48 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B)# 733.09 767.64 

Notes: 

•The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed from external lenders and Trust. 



(xi) Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

Six Months 
Year ended 

Sr. No. Description ended March 
March 31, 2024 

31, 2024 

l Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) 114.75 393.86 

2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 171.85 276.13 
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (20.17) (144.47) 

Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of 
4 actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment (26.32) (78.95) 

Manager 
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust -
6 Add:- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) - -
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) - -
8 Less: Tax paid (5.28) (5.28) 
9 Less: Creation of MMRA -
lO Less: Capital expenditure towards the project (88.84) (457.00) 
l l Total Adjustments (B) 31.24 (409.57) 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 145.99 (15.71) 



(xii) IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited (IGEPL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

Sr.No. 

I 
2 
3 

4 

5 
6 
7 

8 
9 
10 
l1 
12 

Note: 

Six Months 
Description ended March 

31,2024" 

Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (740.32) 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 244.87 
Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (8.83) 
Add/less : Any other item of non-cash expense I non cash income (net of 
actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment 64.19 
Manager 
Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 1,867.05 
Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) (388.74) 
Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) -
Less : Tax paid -
Less: Creation ofMMRA -
Less: Capital expenditure towards the pro1ect -
Total Adjustments (B) 1,778.54 
Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 1,038.22 

/\The said funds would be released post meeting Restricted Payment conditions as stated in Facility Agreement. 
The Company has been transferred to Trust from August 11 , 2023. 

August 11, 2023 to 
March 31, 2024" 

(1,008.24) 
312.12 

(8.83) 

(120.23) 

1,882.86 

-
-
-
-
-

2,065.92 
1,057.68 



(xiii) Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (STPL) 

(Rs. in Million) 

December 28, 
Sr.No. Description 2023 to Ma rcb 

31,2024" 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) 327.17 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 3.43 
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 9. 15 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense/ non cash income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if 

6.92 
deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust -
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) -
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) -
8 Less: Tax paid (83.40) 
9 Less: Creation ofMMRA -
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project (254.13) 
11 Total Adjustments (B) (318.04) 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 9.13 

Note: " The said funds are earmarked towards balance Capex. 

The Company has been transferred to Trust from December 28, 2023. 



(xiv) IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited (IL TPL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

November 10, 
Sr.No. Description 2023 to March 

31,2024 

I Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) 10. 16 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss -
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 98.93 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense/ non cash income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if 

(8.24) 
deemed necessarv by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust -
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) -
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) -
8 Less: Tax paid -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA -
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 90.69 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows {C) = (A+B) 100.85 

Note: The Company has been incorporated on N"ovember 10, 2023. 



(xv) [RB Kota Tollway Private Limited (IKTPL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

January 01, 
Sr. No. Description 2024 to Ma rcb 

31,2024 

I Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (0.87) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss -
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(lncrease) in Working capital 5.28 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if 

(1.11) 
deemed necessary by the [nvestment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust -
6 Add:- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) -
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) -
8 Less: Tax paid -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA -
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 4.16 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 3.29 

Note: The Company has been incorporated on January 01 , 2024. 



(xvi) IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited (IGTPL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

January 01, 
Sr.No. Description 2024 to March 

31,2024 

l Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) 0.60 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss -
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 10.70 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense/ non cash income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if 

(2.62) 
deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust -
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) -
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) -
8 Less: Tax paid -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA -
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project -
11 Total Adjustments (8) 8.08 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 8.68 

Note: The Company has been incorporated on January 01 , 2024. 



Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants \ 
304/308/309, Udyog Mandir No.1, 
7-C, Bhagoji Keer Marg, 
Mahim, Mumbai 400 016. 
Telephone+ 91 (22) 43484242 

M S KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

602, Floor 6, Raheja Titanium 
Western Express Highway, 

Geetanjali Railway Colony, 
Ram Nagar, Goregaon (E), 

Mumbai 400063, India 
Tel: +91226238 0519 

Independent Auditor's Report on Standalone Audited Annual Financial Information of IRB Infrastructure 
Trust pursuant to the Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations 2014, as 
amended. 

To 
The Board of Directors of 
MMK Toll Road Private Limited 
Investment Manager of IRB Infrastructure Trust ("the Investment Manager") 

Report on the Audit of Standalone Financial Information 

Opinion 

< 

We have jointly audited the accompanying statement of standalone annual financial information of IRB 
Infrastructure Trust (hereinafter referred to as 'the Trust') which comprise of Standalone Statement of Profit 
and Loss (including other comprehensive income) and explanatory notes thereto and additional disclosures 
as required by Paragraph 6 of Chapter 4 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India ("SEBI") Master Circular 
SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2024/44 dated May 15, 2024, as amended, ("the SEBI Circular") for the year 
ended March 31, 2025 ('the Statement'), attached herewith, being submitted by the Investment Manager of 
the Trust pursuant to the requirement of Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) 
Regulations, 2014, as amended, read with the SEBI Circular, together known as ("lnvlT Regulations") . 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid 
Statement: 

(i) is presented in accordance with the lnvlT Regulations in the manner so required; and 

(ii) gives a true and fair view, in conformity with the recognition and measurement principles laid down in 
the applicable accounting standards (' Ind AS') prescribed under rule 2(1 )(a) of Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, to the 
extent not inconsistent with the lnvlT Regulations, of the net profit (including other comprehensive income), 
net distributable cash flows for the year ended as on that date and other financial information of the Trust 
for the year ended March 31, 2025. 



Gokhale 8: Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 

Basis for Opinion 

M S K A & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

We conducted our joint audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing ('SAs') issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India ("ICAI"). Our responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone financial information section of our report. We are 
independent of the Trust in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by ICAI, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that 
the audit evidence obtained by us is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter 

We draw attention to Note 4 to the Statement, which describes the presentation of 'Unit Capital' as 'Equity' 
to comply with the lnvlT Regulations. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Responsibilities of the Investment Manager and Those Charged with Governance for the Standalone 
Financial Information 

This Statement, which is the responsibility of the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager (the "Board") 
and approved by them for issuance, has been prepared on the basis of the standalone annual financial 
statements. This responsibility includes the preparation and presentation of this Statement that gives a true 
and fair view of the net profit (including other comprehensive income), net distributable cash flows for the 
year ended as on that date and other financial information of the Trust in accordance with the requirement 
of lnvlT Regulations; recognition and measurement principles laid down in accordance with the Indian 
Accounting Standards (' Ind AS') prescribed under Rule 2(1 )(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015 , as amended, and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, to the extent not 
inconsistent with the lnvlT Regulations. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting 
records safeguarding of the assets of the Trust and for preventing and detecting frauds and other 
irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal 
financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring accuracy and completeness of the accounting 
records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the Statement that give a true and fair view and 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the Statement, the Board is responsible for assessing the ability of the Trust to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Trust or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Board is responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the Trust. 



Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Information 

MS KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Statement as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Statement. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Statement, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on whether 
the Trust has in place an adequate internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial 
statements and the operating effectiveness of such controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Trust to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's 
report to the related disclosures in the Statement or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Trust to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Statement, including the disclosures, 
and whether the Statement represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance of which we are the joint independent auditors 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our joint audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 



Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 

Other Matter 

M S K A & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

The Statement includes the information for the half year ended March 31, 2025 being the balancing figure 
between the audited figures in respect of the full financial year ended March 31, 2025 and the published 
unaudited year to date figures up to September 30, 2024, being the date of the end of the first half of the 
current financial year which were subject to limited review by us, as required under Regulation 23 of the 
lnvlT Regulations. 

For Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 
ICAI Firm Registration No. 103264W 

CA Kaustubh Deshpande 
Partner 
Membership No. 121011 
UDIN: 2S l'2 1ol\lsM1Ya:?El712. 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2025 

For MS KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Firm Registration No.105047W 

Nitin Tiwari 
Partner 

Membership No. 118894 
UDIN: 25118&<{4 8n1K,<SD87 23 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2025 



Sr. 
No. 

I 

II 

Ill 
IV 
V 
VI 

VII 

IRB Infrastructure Trust 
SEBI Regd. No.: IN/INVIT/19-20/0012 

(Rs. in million, unless othenvise stated) 
Audited Standalone Financial Information for the six month and ear ended March 3 I, 2025 

Six months ended 
Six months ended 

Six months ended 

Particulars 
March 31, 2025 

September 30, 2024 
March 31, 2024 

(Audited) (Audited) 
(Refer note 5 (i)) 

(Unaudited) 
(Refer note 5 (ii)) 

Incomes and e:ains 
Interest on loan 11,502.62 11,634.89 10,126.84 
Interest on bank deposits I 18.62 97.51 82 .72 
Profit on sale of investments 20.56 16.43 99.78 
Other income• 431.33 499.32 50.28 
Total Incomes and Gains 12,073.13 12,248.15 10,359.62 
Exncnses and losses 
Valuation exoe11ses 3.30 2.12 4.20 
Audit fees 3.73 4.42 6.17 
lnveshnent management fees (refer note b) 58.49 52.65 58 .76 
Custodian fees 0.64 0.76 0.19 
Trustee fees 0.65 0.65 7.18 
Finance cost (interest) 2,765.79 2,732.64 2,457.86 
Finance cost (others) 50.15 46.72 67.27 
Leual and professional exoenses 27.97 11.07 8.64 
Fair value loss on measurement of other oavable 202 .12 1,227.70 3,756.40 
Other expenses** 4.43 0.59 5.52 
Total Ex1>enses and Losses 3,117.27 4,079.32 6,372.19 
Profit before tax for the l)criod/year (I) - (II) 8,955.86 8,168.83 3,987.43 
Tax expense (current tax and deferred tax) 5.04 -
Profit after tax for the ,,eriod/year (III) - (IV) 8,950.82 8,168.83 3,987.43 
Items of Other Comorehensive Income -
Total Comprehensive Income for the period/year (V) + 
l(VI) 8,950.82 8,168.83 3,987.43 

* Other Income includes Fair value gain on inveshnents, interest on income tax refllnd and Interest on unwinding ofloan. 
** Other expenses include bank charges, rates and taxes and miscellaneous expenses. 

Year ended Year ended 
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

(Audited) (Audited) 

23,137.51 16,461.72 
216 .13 97.04 

36.99 IOI.OJ 
930,65 50.28 

24,321.28 16,710.05 

5.42 5.4 I 
8.15 6.41 

111.14 146.32 
1.40 0.19 
1.30 7.18 

5,498.43 2,463 .56 
96.87 68 .53 
39.04 26.89 

1,429.82 4,935.37 
5.02 6.36 

7,196.59 7,666.22 
17,124.69 9,043.83 

5.04 -
17,119.65 9,043.83 

- -

17,119.65 9,043.83 

Registered Office: 1101 , 11th Floor, Hiranandani Knowledge Park, Technology Street, Hill Side Avenue, 
Powai, Mumbai - 400 076, Maharashh·a, India. ; Tel: 022 - 67336400; Fax: 022 - 4053 6699; 

E-mail: irbinfrastructuretrust@irb.co.in Website: www.irbinfratrust.co.in; 



Notes to the Standalone Audited Financial Information: 
IRB Infrastructure Trust is registered as an irrevocable trust under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882 on August 27, 2019 and as an infrastructure investment 
trust under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 on November 25, 2019. Units of !RB 
Infrastructure Trust have been listed on NSE on April 03, 2023. 

2 The Audited Standalone Financial Information comprises of the Standalone statement of profit and loss (including other comprehensive income), 
explanatory notes thereto and additional disclosures as required by paragraph 6 of chapter 4 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India ("SEBI") 
Master Circular no. SEBJ/HO/DDHS-POD-2/P/CIR/2024/44 dated 15th May 2024, as amended, including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder 
("SEBI circulars") of!RB Infrastructure Trust ('Trust') for the year ended March 31, 2025 ("Audited Standalone Financial Information") being submitted 
by the Trust pursuant to the requirements of Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to 
time read with SEBI Circular, together known as ("Inv IT Regulations"). 

3 The Audited Standalone Financial Information have been prepared in accordance with the JnvIT Regulations; recognition and measurement principles laid 
down in the Indian Accounting Standards, as defined in Rule 2(1) (a) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, and other 
accounting principles generally accepted in India to the extent not inconsistent with the lnvlT Regulations. (Refer note 4 for presentation of "Unit Capital" 
as "Equity" instead of compound instruments under Ind AS 32 Financial Instruments : Presentation.) 

4 Under the provisions of the Inv IT Regulations, Trust is required to distribute to Unitholders not less than 90% of the net distributable cash flows of the 
Trust for each financial year. Accordingly, a portion of the Unit Capital contains a contractual obligation of the Trust to pay to its Unitholdcrs cash 
distributions. Hence, the Unit Capital is a compound financial instrument which contains equity and liability components in accordance with Ind AS 32 -
Financial Instruments. However, in accordance with Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 of the SEBI circular, the Unit capital have been presented as "Equity" in 
order to comply with the requirements of Section H of Chapter 3 of the SEBI circular, dealing with the minimum presentation and disclosure requirements 
for key financial statements. Consistent with Unit Capital being classified as equity, the distributions to Unitholders is also presented in Statement of 
Changes in Unitholders' Equity when the distributions are approved by the Board of Directors oflnvestment Manager. 

5 (i) The Audited Standalone Financial Information for the six months ended March 31 , 2025 are the derived figures between the audited figures in respect 
of the year ended March 31, 2025 and the reviewed figures up to September 30, 2024, being the date of the end of the first half of the current financial 
year, which were subject to limited review. 

(ii) The Audited Standalone Financial Information for the six months ended March 31, 2024 are the derived figures between the audited figures in respect 
of the year ended March 31, 2024 and the reviewed figures up to September 30, 2023, being the date of the end of the first half of the previous financial 
year, which were subject to limited review. 

6 The Audited Standalone Financial Information for year ended March 31, 2025 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Investment Manager at 
their meeting held on May 08, 2025 and thereafter approved by the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager at their meeting held on May 08, 2025. 

7 The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager declared Distribution of Rs.0.46 per unit which comprises of Rs.0.22 per unit as return of capital and 
Rs .0.24 per unit as interest in their meeting held on May 08, 2025 . 

8 (i) The Board of Directors oflnvestment Manager have approved a preliminary and non-binding offer (the "NBO") issued to the !RB Inv IT Fund ("Public 
Inv IT"), on November I 4, 2024. The NBO relates to the transfer of the five assets held by the Trust to the Public Inv IT viz. IRB Hapur Moradabad 
Tollway Limited, !RB Westcoast Tollway Limited, Kaithal Tollway Limited, AE Tollway Limited and Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited 
('Identified SPYs). Accordingly, as per Ind AS 105 - "Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations", assets/liabilities related to these 
identified SPV's are classified as held for sale. 

(ii) Subsequent to the year end, the Board of Investment Manager, at its meeting held on May 08, 2025, in line with strategic portfolio optimisation 
objectives, has approved amendment to its non-binding offer (NBO) for sale to the !RB Inv!T Fund ("Public Inv!T") dated November 14, 2024, to include 
only three out of the originally proposed five assets viz !RB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited, Kaithal Tollway Limited & Kishangarh Gulabpura 
Tollway Limited. However, the Trust continues to classify the originally proposed five assets as held for sale in accordance with the requirements of IN_D 
AS - I 05 - 'Non -current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued operations". The amended NBO dated May 08, 2025, is a non-adjusting event. 

9 During the year, Trust has raised unit capital aggregating to Rs. 17,149.23 million by way of Rights issue of units of Trust to !RB Infrastructure 
Developers Limited (IRBIDL) & GJC Affiliates. Post right issue, IRBIDL, GIC Affiliates and Cintra Jnv!T Investments B.Y. hold units in the ratio of 
51.02%, 24.99% and 23 .99 % respectively. 

IO On December 27, 2024, the Trust has completed closing under the agreements executed for implementation of the Ganga Expressway Project and has 
purchased 80.4% of the equity share capital and 80.4% of the Non-Convertible Debentures (NCD) ofMeerut Budaun Expressway Limited (MBEL) for an 
aggregate purchase consideration of Rs. 17,149.23 million. 

11 On July 29, 2023, the Trust has executed arrangement with the Sponsor for implementation of !RB Golconda Expressway Private Limited ('SPY') by the 
Trust and accordingly, the project is being executed by the SPY through the Trust. 

12 On October 12, 2023, Definitive Agreements in relation to the implementation of Samakhiyali Santalpur BOT Project were entered through the Trust. 
Yide the said agreement, the Investment Manager and Trustee (acting on behalf of the Trust) have now executed the definitive agreements with the 
Sponsor, affiliates of GIC Private Limited as financial investors ("Financial Investors"), and Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited ("STPL") subject to the 
fulfilment of the conditions precedent set out therein. STPL has been added to Trust from its appointed date ( December 28, 2023). 

13 Previous period/year figures have been rearranged to make them comparable with the current period as per Inv!T regulations. 

14 Investors can view the Audited Standalone Financial Information of the !RB Infrastructure Trust ('Trust') on the Trust's website (www.irbinfratrust.co.in) 
or on the website ofNSE (www.nseindia.com). 



Additional disclosures as required by paragraph 6 of chapter 4 to the master circular no. SEBI/HO/DDHS-POD-2/P/ClR/2024/44 dated 15'" May 2024 as amended Including 

any guidelines and circulars Issued thereunder ("SEBI circulars") 

(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

a) Net Distributable Cash Flow for the six months and year ended March 31, 2025 

(i) IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Particulars 
Six months ended Six months ended 

Sr No. 
March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 

1 Cashflows from ooeratimi!: activities as per Cash Flow Statement of the Trust 191.05 (102.49) 

2 
(+) Cash flows received from SPV's / Investment entities which represent distributions of NDCF computed as per relevant 

3,989.39 4,977.23 
framework 

(+) Treasury income / income from investing activities of the Trust (interest income received from FD, any investment 

3 
entities as defined in Regulation 18(5), tax refund, any other income in interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, 

139.36 112.14 
assets etc.1 dividend income etc.1 excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be considered 

on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds· from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPVs/Holdcos or Investment Entity 

adjusted for the following: 

• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds 

• Directly attributable transaction costs 

• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18{ 7) of lnvlT 

Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the lnvlT Regulations 

(+} Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale ofshares of SPVs or Investment Entity not 

5 
distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18{7) of lnvlT Regulations or any other relevant 

provisions of the lnvlT Regulations, if such proceeds are not intended to be invested subsequently 

6 (-} Finance cost on Borrowings, excludinR amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss Account of the Trust (2,817.98) (2,732.65) 

(-) Debt repayment at Trust level (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMl's except If refinanced through new 

7 debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments/ debt refinanced through new debt, in any form or (320.79) (317.44) 

funds raised through iss uance of units) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in accordance with, any: (i). 

loan agreement entered with financial institution or {ii). terms and conditions, covenants er any other stipulations 

applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs/ HoldCos, or (iii). terms and conditions, covenants or any 

other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by the Trust or any of its SPVs/ HcldCos, or (iv). 

8 agreement pursuant to which the SPV/ Holdco operates or owns the infrastructure asset, or generates revenue pr (123.00) (445.10) 
cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, transmission services agreement, power purchase agreement, 

lease agreement, and any other agreement of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, 

or governmental stipulations; 

9 
(-) any capital expenditure on existing assets owned/ leased by the lnvlT1 to the extent not funded by debt/ equity or from 
contractual reserves created in the earlier vears 

10 NOCF ;at Trust LPVPI 1,058.03 1491.69 

Notes: 

1. As per the master circular 5EBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2024/44 dated May 15, 2024, details of NDCF distributable is as below: 

Particulars Rs. (In million) 

NDCF ofTrust(A) 2,549.72 

(+) NDCF of 5PV's (B)1 
8,883.38 

(-) Amount distributed by 5PV's (C)• 8,966.62 

Amount of NDCF Distributable D=(A+B·C) 2,466.48 

II NDCF of SPV's excludes NDCF for certain SPVs, where funds are not available for distribution on account of restrictions placed vide the terms of the Facility Agreement. 

• Amount distributed by SPVs includes funds released, which were restricted in the previous year vide terms of the Facility Agreement. 

Trust has ensured that minimum 90% of the above amount will be distributed as NDCF. 

Year ended 
March 31, 2025 

88.56 

8,966.62 

251.50 

(5,550.63) 

(638.23) 

(568.10) 

2 549.72 

2. In accordance with the SEBI circular no SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2024/44 dated May 15, 2024, the framework for computation of Net Distributable cash flows ("NDCF") is revised at Trust level 

for the period from April 01, 2024 to March 31, 2025. Accordingly, NOCF for the period April 01, 2024 to March 31, 2025 has been calculated and presented in accordance with the new framework . 

NDCF for the periods for on or before March 31, 2024, has been calculated and presented as per the earlier framework and has been disclosed/ reproduced in NDCF of IRB Infrastructure Trust for the 

six months ended March 31, 2024 and year ended March 31, 2024. 

b) Pursuant to a resolution dated July 04, 2023 of the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager and a resolution dated July 27, 2023 of the Unitholders, the Management Fees has been revised to 

equivalent to cost incurred by the Investment manager plus 10% mark up in connection with providing investment management services to the Trust including routine administrative and operational 

expenses (exclusive of any out of pocket expenses, reimbursement and taxes. The investment management fees has been determined in considerartion of the investment manager's role in managing 

the Trust and its underlying investments. There have been no changes in the methodology for the computation of fees payable to the manager during the financial year ended March 31, 2025 

c) Statement of earnings per unit 

Six months ended 

Particulars September 30, 
March 31, 2025 

2024 
March 31, 2024 

Profit for the period/ year 8,950.82 8,168.83 3,987.43 
Number of units outstanding for computation of basic and diluted earnings per unit 1,14,64,22,935 1,11,36,93,265 1,02, 72,23,320 
Earnings per unit in Rs. (basic and diluted} 7.81 7.33 3.88 

d) Statement of contingent liabilities and commitments 

Particulars 

Contingent liability Refer note below Refer note below Refer note below 

2,219.50 2,219.50 2,219.50 

t has provided Corporate guarantee for the subsidiary companies i.e SYTL and YATL in respect of NCDs issued during the FY 2 

f1' 

* t 
~ 

Year ended 

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

17,119.65 9,043.83 

1,13,00,13,265 97,34,89,986 

15.15 9.29 



e. Statement of Related Party transactions 

List of Related parties of the Trust [As per Regulation 2 (1) (zv)] 

1 Parties to the lnvlT Sponsor Group and Project Manager (as per 'Table A' 

below)* 

MMK Toll Road Private limited (Investment Manager) 

IDBI Trusteeship Services limited (Trustee of the IRB 

Infrastructure Trust) 

2 Promoters, Directors and Pa~ners of the persons As per 'Table B' below# 
mentioned in clause 1 

• Table A - Sponsor Group and Project Manager 

(I) The sponsor(s) 

IRB Infrastructure 

Developers Limited 

(ii) Entities or person(s) which are controlled by such (Iii) Entities or person(s) who control such body 
sponsor 

Modern Road Makers Private Limited (MRMPL) 

IRB Ahmedabad Vadodara Super Express Tollway 

Private Limited (IRBAV) 

corporate 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar, Promoter of Sponsor 

IRB Holding Private Limited 

Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited (MIPL) Ms. Deepali V. Mhaiskar, Promoter of Sponsor 

Thane Ghodbunder Toll Road Private Limited (TGTRPL) Virendra D. Mhaiskar HUF (Karta Mr. Virendra 

Mhaiskar), promoter of Sponsor 

IRB Kolhapur Integrated Road Development Company 

Private limited (IRBK) 

ATR Infrastructure Private Limited (ATRFL) 

Ideal Road Builders Private Limited (IRBPL) 

Aryan Toll Road Private Limited (ATRPL) 

GEl Expressway Private Limited (Formerly known as 
IRB PP Project Private Limited) 

IRB PS Highway Private Limited (IRBPS) 

IRB Sindhudurg Airport Private Limited (IRBSA) 

IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (IRBFL) 

Aryan Infrastructure Investments Private Limited 
(AIIPL) 

Aryan Hospitality Private Limited (AHPL) 

IRB MP Expressway Private Limited 

IRB Goa Tollway Private Limited (IRB Goa) 

MRM Mining Private Limited (Subsidiary of MRMPL) 

VM7 Expressway Private Limited 

Pathankot Mandi Highway Private Limited 

Chittoor Thachur Highway Private Limited 

IRB Golconda Expressway Private limited (Subsidiary 

upto 10.08.2023) 

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (Subsidiary upto 
27.12.2023) 

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited (Joint Venture 

upto 26.12.2024) 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited (MMK) - JV 

IRB Infrastructure Trust -JV 

Project SPV's of IRB Infrastructure Trust as 
mentioned below: 

1. IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWTL)' 

2. Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL) 

3. Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL) 

4. Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL)' 

5. AE Tollway Limited (AETL)' 

6. Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL) 

7. CG Tollway Limited (CGTL) 

8. Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited 

(KGTL) ' 

9. IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited (IRBHMTL)' 

10. Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL) 

11. IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited 

(IRBGEPL) w.e.f 11.08.2023 

12. IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited w .e.f 

10.11.2023 

13. 5amakhiyali Tollway Private Limited w .e.f. 

28.12.2023 

14. IRB Kola Tollway Private Limited w.e.f. 01.01.2024 

15. IRB Gwalior Private Limited w .e.f. 01.01.2024 

16. Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited w .e.f. 
27.12.2024 

(iv) Entitles or person(s) which 

are controlled by entitles or 

person(s) specified In clause (iii) 

VDM Ventures Private 

Limited 

Ouex Farming Films Private 
Limited 



# Table B • List of promoters directors and partners of the persons mentioned in clause 1 

Parties to the Trust Promoters Directors 

(i) IRB Infrastructure l. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar l . Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar, Chairman and Managing 

Developers Limited Director 
(Sponsor and Project 2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar, Whole Time Director 
Manager) 3. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar (HUF) 3. Mr. Luis Aguirre de Career Cabezas, Non Executive 

Director (w.e.f. December 29,2024) 

4. Mr. Ravindra Dhariwal, Non-executive Director 

5. Mr. Baj rang Lal Gupta-Independent Director (w.e.f 

Aprill, 2024) 

6. Mr. Vijay Nautamlal Bhatt- Independent Director 

(w.e.f April l, 2024) 

7. Ms. Priti Savla • Independent director 

8. Mr. Ajay Kumar Singh, Independent Director (w.e.f 

Febraury 5, 2025) 

9. Mr. Jose Tamariz Martel Goncer (Ceased as director 

w.e.f December 9, 2024) 

10. Mr. Chandrashekhar S. Kaptan- Independent director 

(up to March 31, 2024) 

11. Mr. Sunil H. Talati -Independent director (up to 

March 31, 2024) 

12. Mr. Sandeep J. Shah - Independent director (Ceased 

as director w .e.f. February 4, 2025) 

(ii) Entities or person(s) IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL) l, Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

which are controlled by 2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
such sponsor 3. Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi (up to March 31, 2025) 

4. Mrs. Arati Taskar 

5. Mr. Sudhir Rao Hashing 

6. Mr. Rajpaul Sharma 

7. Mr. Amitabh Murarka 

8. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar 

9. Mrs. Kshama Vengsarkar 

10. Mr. Nikhil Maniar 

11. Mr. Tushar Kawedia 

12. Mr. Rajinder Pal Singh 

13. Mr. Vi nod Kumar Menon 

12. Mr. Su nil Tandon -Independent Director 

14. Mr. Nikesh Jain -Independent Director 

15. Mr. Rushabh Gandhi 

16, Mrs. Anusha Date-Independent Director 

17. Mr. Jitender Kumar Chauhan (Appointed as director 

w.e.f. March l, 2025) 

18. Mr. Kulumanl Gopalratnam Krishnamurthy-

Independent Director 

19. Mrs. Ranjana Paranjape -Independent Director 

20. Mr. Kunnasagaran Chinniah (Ceased as director 

w.e.f. June 15, 2024) 

21. Mr. 5andeep Shah -Independent Director (Ceased as 

director w.e.f. February 4, 2025) 

22. Ms. Shilpa Todankar 

22. Mr. Abhay Phatak 

23. Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar 

24. Mr. Omprakash Singh 

25. Mr. Chandrashekhar Kaptan 

26. Mr. Boon Chin Hau 

27. Mr. Nagendraa Parakh 

28. Mr. Amyn Jassani (Ceased to be director of MMK 

w.e.f. May 31, 2024) 

29. Mr. Victor Carretero Arbona, (Appointed as director 

of w.e.f. October 30, 2024) 

30. Ms. Rajni Sekhri Sibal- Independent Director 

(Appointed as director of w.e.f. October 30, 2024) 

(iii) Entities or person(s) l. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar l. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
who control such body 2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 2. Mrs. Deepall V. Mhaiskar 
corporate 3. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar (HUF) 

(iv) Entities or person(s) l. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar l. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
which are controlled by 2. Mrs. Oeepali V. Mhaiskar 2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
entitles or person(s) 3. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar 3. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar 

MMK Toll Road Private IRB Infrastructure Developers limited (IRBIDL) Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
limited (Investment Mr. Boon Chin Hau 
Manager) Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar 

Mr. KG Krishnamurthy -Independent director 

Mrs.Ranjana Paranjape - Independent director 

Mr. Nagendraa Parakh- Independent director 

Mr. Victor Carretero Arbona (Appointed w .e.f. October - 30, 2024) 

'<'ti,.\.E & ~ Ms. Rajni Sekhri Sibal (Independent Director) Appointed 

:E
~~ w.e.f. October 30, 2024 

I C: MUMBJI ~ ) 
Mr. Kunnasagaran Chinniah (Ceased as director w.e.f. 

June 15, 2024) 

1~ .,I-$ Mr. Amyn Jassanl • Independent director (Ceased as 

~~ '1'0.11)'!> o/,~~ director w.e.f. May 31, 2024) 

'lr~DACC<:W 
--



IDBI Trusteeship I DBI Bank Limited Mr. Jayakumar Subramonia Pillai 

Services Limited UC Corporation Limited Mr. Pradeep Kumar Malhotra 
(Trustee of IRB General lnsurace Corporation Ms. Balj inder Kaur Mandal 
Infrastructure Trust) Mr. Arun Kumar Agarwal (Appointed w.e.f. July 19, 

2024) 

Mr. Hare Krushna Dandapani Panda (Appointed w.e.f. 

July 19, 2024) 

Mr. Balkrishna Varier (Appointed w.e.f. June 24, 2024) 

Mr. Soma Nandan Satpathy (Appointed w.e.f January 16, 

2025) 

Mr. Pradeep Kumar Jain (Ceased as director w.e.f 

December 20, 2024) 

Mrs. Jayashree Vijay Ranade (ceased to be director w.e.f 

Apri l 18, 2024) 

.. 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 202S 

II. Related party transaction during the period/ year 
(~In million) 

Six months ended Six months ended Sh, months ended Year ended Year ended 
Sr. No. Partlculars Relation 

March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2024 March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

1 Equity Investment 4,287.33 6,794 .13 4,287.33 13,948.63 

!RB Golconda Expressway Private Umted Subsidiary 7,154.50 

Samakhlyall Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,162.00 1,162.00 

IRS Lalitpur Tollway Private Llmted Subsidiary 4,205.80 4,205.80 

IRB Kola Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 393.48 393.48 

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,032.85 1,032.85 

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited Subsidiary 4,287.33 4,287.33 

2 Purchase of Investment In Meerut Budaun Expressway 
limited (Equity shares and NCO) 8,746.14 8,746.14 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor and Project Manager 8,746.14 8,746.14 

3 Non• Convertible Debentures 12,861.90 12,861 .90 

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited Subsidiary 12,861.90 12,861.90 

4 Subordinated Debt 24,539.79 45,187.19 

AE Tollway Limited 1 
Subsidiary 159.52 159.52 

CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 168.46 168.46 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited 1 
Subsidiary 204.18 454.18 

IRB Westcoast Tollway limited• Subsidiary 457.45 457.45 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 164.05 164.05 

Kaithal Tollway Limited ' Subsidiary 46.82 46.82 

Solapur Yedeshl Tollway Limited Subsidiary 299.47 299.47 

Udaipur Tollway limited Subsidiary 555.01 555.01 

Yedeshl Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 828.35 828.35 

PalsitDankuni Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 2,424.50 2,424.50 

lRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 1,067.60 21,465.00 

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,268.00 1,268.00 

IRB lalitpur Tollway Private Umted Subsidiary 12,617.40 12,617.40 

IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,180.43 1,180,43 

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 3,098.55 3,098.55 

S Subordinated Debt repaid 752.25 827.50 6,553.77 1,579.75 6,553 .77 

IRS Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited 1 Subsidiary 540.00 540.00 

IRB Westcoast Tollway limited' Subsidiary 4,872.57 4,872.57 

Kishanga rh Gulabpura Tollway Limited 1 
Subsidiary 260.00 260.00 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 293.77 282.50 513.50 576.27 513.50 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 458.48 545.00 367.70 1,003.48 367.70 

6 Unsecured long term loan ( Interest bearing) 13,513.89 13,627.54 

AE Tollway Limited • Subsidiary 5,615.70 5,615.70 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited 1 
Subsidiary 32.00 32.00 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited' Subsidiary 2,594.70 2,662.56 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 198.88 198.88 

Kaithal Tollway Limited 1 Subs idiary 5,072.60 5,118.40 

7 Unsecured long term loan repaid (Interest bearing) 186.98 187.00 12,096,53 373.98 12,096.53 

AE Tollway limited• Subsidiary 28.36 28.36 4,674.25 56.72 5,202.81 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited • Subsidiary 0.41 0.41 2,217.01 0.82 0.41 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 58.17 58.18 2.05 116.35 2,217.01 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 5.10 5.10 5,202.81 10.20 2.05 

Kaithal Tollway limited • Subsidiary 94.94 94.95 0.41 189.89 4,674.25 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Flnanclal Statements as at March 31, 2025 

II. Related party transaction during the period/ year 

(" In mlllion) 

Sht months ended She months ended She months ended Year ended Year ended 
Sr.No. Particulars Relation 

March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2024 March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

8 Short Term Loan given 1,296.20 2,334.76 2,747,04 3,630.96 3,479.84 

AE Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 47.50 167.42 250.00 214.92 265.00 

CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 540.84 402.08 434.29 942.92 610.59 

lRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 0.00 15.03 15.03 

IRB Westcoast Tollway limited 1 
Subsidiary 50.00 82 .78 196.72 132.78 335.72 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited 1 
Subsidiary 286.18 310.41 160.00 596.59 160.00 

Kaithal Tollway Limited 1 
Subsidiary 37.50 952.75 272.84 990.25 272.84 

Solapur Yedeshl Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.00 46.23 24.00 46.23 24.00 

Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 276.48 258.06 537.54 534.54 940.04 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.00 64.02 519.80 64.02 519.80 

IRB Golconda Expressway Private Umted Subsidiary 7.97 31.98 39.95 

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted Subsidiary 4.00 246.60 4.00 246.60 

IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 36.04 36.04 

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 69.21 69.21 

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited Subsidiary 49.73 49.73 

9 Short Term loan repaid 159.98 20.50 1,886.95 180.48 1,886.95 

AE Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 424.30 424.30 

IRB Westcoast Tollway limited' Subsidiary 16.50 322.00 16.50 322.00 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited • Subsld lary 100.00 100.00 

Kaithal Tollway Limited 1 
Subsidiary 145.00 145.00 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 46.23 24.00 46.23 24.00 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 64.02 519.80 64.02 519.80 

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Umted Subsidiary 4.00 246.60 4.00 246.60 

IRB Kata Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 36.04 36.04 

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 69.21 69.21 

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited Subsidiary 49.73 49.73 

10 Unit Capital Issued 8,750.81 11,508.36 8,750.81 26,139.68 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor and Project Manager 8,750.81 11,508.36 8,750.81 26,139.68 

11 Interest Income 11,930.86 11,634.91 10,126.84 23,565.77 16,461.72 

AE Tollway limited• Subsidiary 1,951.44 1,955.43 1,854.63 3,906.87 3,266.16 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway limited• Subsidiary 1,703.62 1,721.32 1,569.79 3,424.94 2,257.27 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited 1 
Subsidiary 1,691.24 1,706.64 1,872.56 3,397.88 3,171.00 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 877.99 878.36 769.47 1,756.35 942.45 

Kaithal Tollway limited 1 
Subsidiary 1,370.61 1,381.66 1,315.34 2,752.27 2,227.67 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 547.53 568.26 604.32 1,115.79 1,192.25 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 679.47 730.24 646.61 1,409.71 1,522.05 

IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 1,501.21 1,507.00 1,494.12 3,008.21 1,882.86 

IRB lalitpur Tollway Private limted Subsidiary 880.79 885.65 1,766.44 

IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 82.40 82.86 165.26 

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 216.31 217,49 433.80 

Meerut Budaun Expressway limited Subsidiary 428.26 428.26 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 

II. Related party transaction during the period/ year 

t ~In mllllon) 
She months ended SIK months ended Six months ended Year ended Year ended 

Sr. No. Partlculars Relation 
March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2024 March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

12 Receipt of Interest Income 3,301.52 3,875.44 2,511.20 7,176.96 3,836.20 

AE Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 456.41 400.00 450.00 856.4 1 450.00 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited • Subsidiary 1,198.60 1,076.72 1,200.00 2,275.32 1,200.00 

IRB Westcoast Tollway limited' Subsidiary 230.00 150.00 400.60 380.00 400.60 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 60.00 60.00 

Kaithal Tollway limited• Subsidiary 387.50 336.70 460.60 724.20 675.60 

Solapur Yedeshl Tollway Limited Subsidiary 390.00 

Yedeshl Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 720.00 

IRB Golconda E)(pressway Private Limted Subsidiary 860.51 1,645.14 2,505.65 

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Priva te limted Subsidiary 168.50 206.88 375.38 

13 Interest Income unwinding on loan (Interest Fee) 0.00 499.47 24.42 499.47 48.84 

Kaithal Tollway limited• Subsidiary 0.00 499.47 24.42 499.47 48.84 

14 Investment Management Fees 58.49 52.65 58.76 111.14 146.32 
MMK Toll Road Private limited Investment Manager 58.49 52.65 58.76 111.14 146.32 

15 Expenses Incurred on behalf of others 11.60 11.78 SO.ZS 23.38 96.52 

AE Tollway Limited ' Subsidiary 0.00 0.01 4.52 0.01 4.SS 

CG Tollway limited Subsidiary 0.01 0.01 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway limited 1 
Subsidiary 0.00 0.65 0.00 4.25 

/RB Westcoast Tollway Limited• Subsid ia ry 0.01 3.07 0.01 8.02 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway limited • Subsidiary 0.00 0.00 1.12 0.01 11.38 

Kaithal Tollway limited• Subsidiary 0.00 0.03 0.00 5.13 
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.00 0.01 0.00 0.01 
Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary o.oo 0.01 0.00 0.01 
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway limited Subsidiary 0.36 0.01 0.36 0.01 

Palsit Oankuni Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1.20 1.42 17.39 2.62 38.85 

IRB Golconda Expressway Private limted Subsidiary 0.01 0.01 0.39 

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 2.52 0.89 0.24 3.41 0.24 

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted Subsidiary 0.01 6.51 5.98 6.52 5.98 

IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary (0.03) 0.80 4.67 0.77 4.67 

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary (0.05) 1.77 12.57 1.72 12.57 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited Investment Manager 0.45 

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited Subsidiary 5.44 5.44 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor and Project Manager 2.51 2.51 

16 Unsecured loan received 22.90 1,135.00 476.20 1,157.90 726.20 

IRB Infrast ructure Developers limited Sponsor and Project Manager 22.90 135.00 476.20 157.90 726.20 

lRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,000.00 1,000.00 

17 Unsecured loan repaid 22.90 135.00 5,599.11 157.90 S,599.11 

IRB Infrastructure Developers limited Sponsor and Prolect Manager 22.90 135.00 5,599.11 157.90 5,599.11 



IRS Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 

II. Related party transaction during the period/ year 

l"lnmllllon) 
Six months ended She months ended She months ended Year ended Year ended 

Sr.No. Partlculars Relation March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2024 March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

18 Long Term loan given• MMR 1,300.00 1,300.00 

AE Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 390.90 390.90 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 43.80 43.80 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited 1 
Subsidiary 413.00 413.00 

Kaithal Tollway limited• Subsidiary 452.30 452.30 

19 Long Term loan repald•MMR 19.97 19.94 11,29 39.91 11.29 
AE Tollway Limited' Subsidiary 1.98 1.97 0.19 3.95 0.19 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 0.57 0.56 0.57 1.13 0.57 

IRS West coast Tollway limited 1 
Subsidiary 9.03 9.02 5.74 18.05 5.74 

Kaithal Tollway Limited ' Subsidiary 8.39 8.39 4.79 16.78 4.79 

20 Secured Long Term Loan given 31,807.00 46,239.70 

AE Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 6,767.90 6,767.90 

IRB Hapur Morada bad Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 15,043.10 15,043.10 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 9,605.30 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited • Subsidiary 9,996.00 9,996.00 

Kaithal Tollway limited 1 
Subsidiary 4,827.40 

21 Secured Long Term Loan repaid 783.59 783 .61 485.08 1,567.20 485.08 

AE Tollway Limited 1 
Subsidiary 34.18 34.18 3.38 68.36 3.38 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited 1 
Subsidiary 193.60 193.60 194.06 387.20 194.06 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 209.87 209.88 133.51 419.75 133.51 

Kishangarh Gu/abpura Tollway Limited 1 
Subsidiary 256.39 256.40 102.96 512.79 102.96 

Kaithal Tollway Limited 1 
Subsidiary 89.55 89.55 51.17 179.10 51.17 

22 Expenses Payable 226.'1 1,252.12 3,780.83 1,478.53 4,984.22 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor and Project Manager 202.12 1,227.70 3,756.41 1,429.82 4,935.38 

Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private limited 
Subsidiaries Company of Sponsor 

24 .29 24.42 24.42 48.71 48.84 
and Project Manager 

23 Interest Distribution (Return on Capital) 136.35 278.44 229.35 414.79 229.35 
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor and Project Manager 136.35 278.44 229.35 414.79 229.35 

24 capital Reduction (Return of Capita\) 462.63 227.30 2,032.84 689.93 2,032.84 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor and Project Manager 462.63 227.30 2,032.84 689.93 2,032.84 

25 Expenses Incurred on our behalf 4.10 '1.10 

IRS Infrastructure Developers limited Sponsor and Project Manager 4.10 4.10 

26 Trustee Fees 0.65 0.65 0.15 1.30 0.56 

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited Trustee 0.65 0.65 0.15 1.30 0.56 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 

Ill. Related party outstanding balances 

Sr. No Particulars 

1 Equity Investment 

AE Tollway Limited• 

CG Tollway Limited 

IRB Hapur Morada bad Tollway Limited• 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited ' 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited ' 

Kaithal Tollway Limited' 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited 

Udaipur Tollway Limited 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited 

PalsitDankuni Tollway Private Limited 

IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted 

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited 

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted 

IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited 

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited 

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited 

2 Non- Convertible Debentures 

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited 

3 Subordinated Debt 

CG Tollway Limited 

Udaipur Tollway Limited 

Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited 

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited 

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted 

IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited 

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited 

4 Unsecured long term loan ( Interest bearing) 

AE Tollway Limited • 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited' 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited' 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited' 

Kaithal Tollway Limited' 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited 

5 Subordinated debt - {Interest bearing) 

AE Tollway Limited• 

CG Tollway Limited 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited' 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited' 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited • 

Kaithal Tollway Limited• 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited 

IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted 

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted 

IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited 

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited 

6 Long term loan ( Interest bearing) -MMR 

AE Tollway Limited • 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited• 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited • 

Kaithal Tollway Limited• 

Relation 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

("!in million) 

Ason As on As on 
March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2024 

40,447.97 36,160.64 36,160.64 

4,365.00 4,365.00 4,365.00 

2,035.00 2,035.00 2,035.00 

3,715.00 3,715 .00 3,715.00 

1,741.94 1,741.94 1,741.94 

1,555.00 1,555.00 1,555.00 

3,280.00 3,280.00 3,280.00 

982.50 982.50 982.50 

1,168.00 1,168.00 1,168.00 

2,157.57 2,157.57 2,157.57 

1,212.00 1,212.00 1,212.00 

7,154.50 7,154.50 7,154.50 

1,162.00 1,162.00 1,162.00 

4,205.80 4,205.80 4,205.80 

393.48 393.48 393.48 

1,032.85 1,032.85 1,032.85 

4,287.33 

12,861.90 

12,861.90 

16,695.17 16,695.17 33,591.55 

2,896.26 2,896.26 2,896.26 

8,893.41 8,893.41 8,893.41 

3,637.50 3,637.50 3,637.50 

1,268.00 1,268.00 1,268.00 

12,617.40 

1,180.43 

3,098.55 

31,157.01 31,344.01 31,531.00 

9,884.59 9,912.95 9,941.31 

30.77 31.18 31.59 

4,329.19 4,387.37 4,445.55 

186.63 191.73 196.83 

8,725.83 8,820.78 8,915.73 

4,000.00 4,000.00 4,000.00 

4,000.00 4,000.00 4,000.00 

92,570.94 93,323.18 77,254.30 

10,425.40 10,425.40 10,425.40 

9,712.69 9,712.69 9,712.69 

7,788.81 7,788.81 7,788.81 

2,399.43 2,399.43 2,399.43 

4,472.86 4,472.86 4,472.86 

3,633.40 3,927 .17 4,209.67 

15,776.97 16,235.44 16,780.44 

21,465.00 21,465.00 21,465.00 

12,617.40 12,617.40 

1,180.43 1,180.43 

3,098.55 3,098.55 

1,248.81 1,268.77 1,288.71 

386.76 388.74 390.71 

42.11 42.67 43.23 

389.21 398.24 407.26 

430.73 439.12 447.51 

' 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 

Ill. Related party outstanding balances ("!in million) 

Particulars Relation 
As on As on As on 

Sr. No 
March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2024 

7 Long term loan ( Interest free) 400.53 

Kaithal Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 400.53 

8 Secured Long Term Loan ( Interest bearing) 44,187.41 44,971.01 45,754.62 

AE Tollway Limited • Subsidiary 6,696.16 6,730.34 6,764.52 

IRB Hapur Morada bad Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 14,461.84 14,655.44 14,849.04 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 9,052.03 9,261.91 9,471.79 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 9,380.25 9,636.64 9,893.04 

Kaithal Tollway Limited • Subsidiary 4,597.13 4,686.68 4,776.23 

9 Short Term Loan 9,920.86 8,784.64 6,470.38 

AE Tollway Limited • Subsidiary '534,51 487.01 319.59 

CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,112.01 1,571.17 1,169.09 

IRB Hapur Morada bad Tollway Limited • Subsidiary 15.03 15.03 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited • Subsidiary 2,478.08 2,428.08 2,361.80 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 656.59 370.41 60.00 

Kaithal Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 1,274.80 1,237.30 284.55 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 46.23 

Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,809.89 2,533.41 2,275.35 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 64.02 

IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 39.95 31.98 

10 Other Payable 42,239.00 42,012.59 40,760.47 

Sponsor and Project 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Manager 38,460.77 38,258.65 37,030.95 

Subsidiaries Company 

of Sponsor and Project 

Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited Manager 449.24 424.95 400.53 

Subsidiaries Company 

of Sponsor and Project 

Modern Road Makers Private Limited Manager 1,784.13 1,784.13 1,784.13 

Subsidiaries Company 

of Sponsor and Project 

!RB Goa Tollway private Limited Manager 1,544.86 1,544.86 1,544.86 

Other payable ( Reimbursement of Expenses 

11 incurred on our behalf) 0.49 0.49 0.49 

Sponsor and Project 

!RB Infrastructure Developers Limited Manager 0.49 0.49 0.49 

12 Other Receivable 9.42 308.26 291.48 

AE Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 0.00 0.01 

CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 47.34 47.35 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 27.14 27.14 

!RB Westcoast Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 0.02 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 182.68 182.70 

Kaithal Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 0.00 0.01 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4.89 4.89 

Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 13.97 13.97 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 6.75 6.74 

Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 2.62 1.42 8.30 

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 3.43 0.91 0.24 

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted Subsidiary 6.51 0.01 

!RB Kata Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 0.61 0.04 

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1.60 0.06 

Sponsor and Project 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Manager 3.37 14.44 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 202S 

Ill. Related party outstanding balances (~in million) 

Sr. No Particulars Relation 
Ason Ason Ason 

March 31, 2025 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2024 

13 Interest Receivable 37,085.37 28,456.00 16,378.71 

AE Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 8,857.75 7,362.72 5,807.30 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 2,596.89 2,091.87 1,447.27 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited # Subsidiary 7,340.28 5,879.03 4.55 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 2,638.79 1,760.81 942.45 

Kaithal Tollway Limited • Subsidiary 5,692.88 4,709.77 3,664.81 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,457.94 1,910.41 1,342.15 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,697.03 2,017.56 1,287.32 
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 2,385.42 1,744.71 1,882.86 
IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted Subsidiary 1,391.06 678.77 . 
IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 165.26 82.86 . 
IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 433.80 217.49 . 
Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited Subsidiary 428.26 . 

14 BG Margin Receivable 61.88 30.95 30.95 

Sponsor and Project 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Manager 61.88 30.95 30.95 

15 Unsecured Loan received 1,000.00 1,000.00 . 
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,000.00 1,000.00 . 

16 Trustee Fees 1.30 0.56 

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited Trustee 1.30 . 0.56 

17 Trade payable 102.19 95.73 95.19 

MMK Toll Road Pvt Limited Investment Manager 102.19 95.73 95.19 

#The Board of Directors of Investment Manager have approved a preliminary and non-binding offer (the "NBO") issued to the IRB lnvlT Fund ("Public 

lnvlT"), on November 14, 2024. The NBO relates to the transfer of the five assets held by the Trust to the Public lnvlT viz. IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway 

Limited, IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited, Kaithal Tollway Limited, AE Tollway Limited and Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited {'Identified SPVs). 

Accordingly, as per Ind AS 105 - "Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations", assets/liabilities related to these identified SPV's are 
classified as held for sale. 

Subsequent to the year end, the Board of Investment Manager, at its meeting held on May 08, 2025, in line with strategic portfolio optimisation objectives, 

has approved amendment to its non-binding offer (NBO) for sale to the IRB lnvlT Fund ("Public lnvlT") dated November 14, 2024, to include only three out 

of the originally proposed five assets viz IRB Hapur Morada bad Tollway Limited, Kaithal Tollway Limited & Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited. However, 
the Trust continues to classify the originally proposed five assets as held for sale in accordance with the requirements of IND AS -105 - 'Non -current 

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued operations". The amended NBO dated May 08, 2025, is a non-adjusting event. 

For MMK Toll Road Private Limited 

(As Investment Manager to IRB Infrastructure Trust) 

Vlrendra D. Mhalskar 

Chairman & Director 

Place : Mumbai 

~ 
Shllpa Todankar 

Chief Financial Officer 

Place : Mumbai 

Date : May 08, 2025 

Amltabh Murarka 

Chief Executive Officer 

Place : Hyderabad 

~ 
Kaustubh Sh evade 

Company Secretary 

Place : Mumbai 

Date: May OB, 2025 



Annexure-1 

Additional Disclosures as required by paragraph 6 of chapter 4 to the master circular no. SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-

2/P /CIR/2023/115 dated 06 July 2023 as amended for the comparable periods 

(ii) Net Distributable Cash Flow of IRB Infrastructure Trust for the six months ended March 31, 2024 and year ended 
March 31, 2024 

Sr. No. 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 
11 

Note: 

1 

2 

(Rs. in million, unless otherwise stated) 
- - - y -

Particulars 
Six months ended 

I! 
Year ended 

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2024 

Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of 

lnterest1 2,423.20 3,748.20 

Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of 
- -

Dividend 

Any other income accruing at the Trust level and not 

captured above, including but not limited to 183.94 199.49 

interest/return on surplus cash invested by the Trust 
Cash flows received from the project SPVs towards the 

repayment (Net) of the debt issued to the Project SPVs 9,650.56 8,897.76 

by the Trust2 

Total cash inflow at the Trust level (A) 12,257.70 12,845.45 
Less: 

Any payment of fees, interest and expense incurred at 
the Trust level, including but not limited to the fees of {2,519.48) (2,634.54) 
the Investment Manager 

Income tax (if applicable) at the Standalone Trust Level - -

Repayment of external debt {646.69) {646.69) 
Promoter contribution in under construction Project 

(4,855.00) (4,855.00) 
SPVs 

Total cash outflows/ retention at the Trust level (B) (8,021.17) (8,136.23) 
Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 4,236.53 4,709.22 

Excludes interest due but not received of Rs.7,703.64 millions and Rs. 12,713.52 millions for the six months 
ended March 31, 2024 and year ended March 31, 2024. 

Netted - off with disbursement of short-term unsecured loan to related parties. (Refer RPT disclosures of 
Standalone Unaudited Financial Information). 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Unit Holders of IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

M S K A & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

602, Floor 6, Raheja Titanium 
Western Express Highway, 

Geetanjali Railway Colony, 
Ram Nagar, Goregaon (E), 

Mumbai 400063, India 
Tel: +91 22 6238 0519 

We have jointly audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of IRB Infrastructure 
Trust (hereinafter referred to as the "Trust") and its subsidiaries (Trust and its subsidiaries together 
referred to as "the Group"), which comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025, 
the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Unit Holders' Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year then ended, the Consolidated Statement of Net Assets at Fair value as at March 31, 2025, 
the Consolidated Statement of Total Returns at Fair Value and the Net Distributable cashflows 
('NDCF') of the Trust and each of its subsidiaries for the year then ended as an additional disclosure 
in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Board of India ("SEBI") Master Circular 
SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2024/44 dated May 15, 2024, as amended, ("the SEBI Circular") for the 
year ended March 31, 2025 and notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, including material 
accounting policy information and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as the 
"consolidated financial statements"). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, and 
based on consideration of reports of other auditors on separate financial statements of subsidiaries, 
the aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the information required by SEBI (Infrastructure 
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular, together 
known as (the "lnvlT Regulations") and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian 
Accounting Standards prescribed under rule 2(1 )(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015, as amended ("Ind AS") and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, to 
the extent not inconsistent with the lnvlT Regulations, of their consolidated state of affairs of the 
Group as at March 31, 2025, and of consolidated net loss (including other comprehensive loss), 
consolidated changes in unit holders' equity, its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended, its . 
consolidated net asset assets at fair value as at March 31, 2025, its consolidated total returns at fair 
value and net distributable cashflows of the Trust and each of its subsidiaries for the year ended as 
on date and other financial information of the Trust for the year ended March 31, 2025. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our joint audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the 
Standards on Auditing (SAs) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India ("ICAI") . Our 
responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the 'Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements' section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by ICAI and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained and on consideration of audit reports of other auditors referred to 
in paragraph (a) of the "Other Matters" section below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter 

We draw attention to Note 13 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements, which 
describes the presentation of 'Unit Capital' as 'Equity' to comply with the lnvlT Regulations. Our 
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
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Key Audit Matters 

MS KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31 , 2025. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and 
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have 
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our 
report: 

Sr. 
No 

2 

Key Audit Matters 

The Trust has payable of Rs. 22,270.80 
million as on March 31, 2025 to IRB 
Infrastructure Developers Limited 
(" Sponsor") on account of transfer of project 
companies by the Sponsor. (Refer note 18 of 
the consolidated financial statements) . 

Pursuant to settlement of IRB Infrastructure 
Trust ('Trust') by Sponsor, as a Private lnvlT, 
the Trust has entered into Debt Novation 
Agreements (DNA). As per the terms of DNA, 
in consideration of assets taken over in 9 
project companies, Trust has issued units and 
agreed to transfer to the Sponsor, the claim 
amounts when and to the extent the same 
are eventually received by project 
companies, on account of Sponsor claims. 

Such Sponsor claims are lodged after 
obtaining Commercial Operation Date by 
respective project companies. The amount 
realisable against claims has been estimated 
by the valuers based on the weighted average 
of probabilities of realisation of such claims. 

Based on the fair value of liability as 
estimated by the valuers, a resultant impact 
in the value of liability has been recognised 
under the head 'Loss of fair value 
measurement of other payables' . 

There is significant judgement involved on 
assessing fair value of these payables which 
is based on key assumptions such as timing of 
collection, the discount rate, and the 
probability of success in respect of the 
claims. 

How the Key Audit Matters were addressed 
in our audit 

Our audit procedures include the following: 

1. Obtained an understanding of the Trust's 
process placed around the impairment 
assessment process of the amount payable 
to Sponsor. 

2. Obtained Trust's assessment of the fair 
valuation of the deferred consideration 
payable. These projections are based on 
underlying infrastructure project cash 
flows which are sensitive to some of the 
claims to be settled with NHAI/HMDA. 

3. Assessed the work performed by 
management as well as management's 
external valuation expert, including the 
valuation methodology and the key 
assumptions used. Also, assessed the 
competence, capabilities and objectivity of 
the expert used by the management in the 
process of evaluating impairment models. 

4. Involved our internal valuation specialist, 
where appropriate, to evaluate the 
reasonability of the methodology, 
approach and discount rate used in the 
valuation carried out for determining the 
fair value of deferred consideration 
payable. 

5. Checked the mathematical accuracy of the 
impairment model. 

6. Evaluated the appropriateness and 
adequacy of disclosures made by 
Investment Manager. 

Impairment Testing for Intangible Assets Our audit procedures include the following: 
Toll Collection Rights (refer Note 4.2 to the 
consolidated financial statements) 

As at March 31, 2025, the carrying amount of 
intangible assets and intangible assets under 
development is Rs. 2,63,694.66 million and 
Rs. 51 ,337.57 million respectively. 
The Trust's project subsidiaries have toll 

hts as intan ible assets and 

1. Obtained an understanding of the Trust's 
process to identify indicators of 
impairment of intangibles assets - toll 
collection rights and intangible assets 
under development. 

2. Assessed the model 
mathematical accurac 
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3 

intangible under development pursuant to 
the concession agreements. The carrying 
value of these rights acquired under Build­
Operate-Transfer (BOT) ft Toll-Operate­
Transfer (TOT) basis is being compared to the 
recoverable value (which is value in use in 
the instant case) thereof to ascertain for 
impairment. 

The process involves estimating the value in 
use of the asset which is determined by 
forecasting and discounting future cash 
flows. The same is sensitive to changes in 
discount rate, traffic growth rates, toll 
growth rates, concession period etc. 

The determination of the recoverable 
amount of the toll collection right involves 
significant judgment due to inherent 
uncertainty in the assumptions evaluated for 
recoverable amount of these rights. 

Accordingly, the evaluation of impairment of 
toll collection rights has been determined as 
a key audit matter. 

cash flow model, evaluation of the 
assumption and methodologies on a test 
check basis that were used to arrive at the 
underlying recoverable value. In doing this 
assessment we have involved auditors' 
expert as appropriate to evaluate the 
reasonability of the methodology, 
approach and key assumptions mainly 
weighted average cost of capital. 

3. Focused on key assumptions such as 
discount rate, traffic growth rates, toll 
rates, concession period etc. which were 
most sensitive to the recoverable value of 
the intangible asset. 

4. Evaluated the objectivity, independence 
and competence of specialists involved. 

5. Evaluated the appropriateness and 
adequacy of disclosures made by 
Investment Manager. 

Disclosures relating to Statement of Net Our audit procedures include the following : 
Assets at Fair Value and Statement of Total 
returns at Fair value as per lnvlT 1. Obtained an understanding of regulatory 

requirements by reading the requirements 
of SEBI Regulations along with the relevant 
SEBI circulars, pursuant to which the 
Statements are prepared by the Investment 
Manager. 

Regulations. 

The Trust is required to disclose Statement of 
Net Assets at Fair Value and Statement of 
Total Returns at Fair Value pursuant to SEBI 
Circular issued under the lnvlT Regulations 
which requires valuation of assets. Such fair 
valuation has been carried out by the 
independent valuer appointed by the 
Investment Manager of the Trust. 

For the above purpose, fair value is 
determined by the management using 
discounted cash flow ('DCF') valuation 
method which involves significant 
management judgement in respect of various 
estimates used as inputs such as 
determination of future cash flows, discount 
rates, revenue growth rates, inflation rates, 
tax rates, amongst others. The determination 
of fair value involves judgement due to 
inherent high estimation uncertainty in the 
underlying assumptions. 

Considering the judgement involved in 
determination of fair values due to inherent 
uncertainty and complexity of the 
assumptions used in determination of fair 
values, this is considered as a key audit 

• er for the current ear audit. 

2. Obtained an understanding of the Trust's 
policies and procedures adopted by the 
Investment Manager for computation and 
disclosure of the Statements. 

3. Assessed the work performed by 
management as well as management's 
external valuation expert, including the 
valuation methodology and the key 
assumptions used. Also assessed the 
competence, capabilities and objectivity 
of the expert used by the management in 
the process. 

4. Involved our internal valuation specialist, 
where appropriate, to evaluate the 
reasonability of the methodology, 
approach and discount rate used in the 
valuation carried out for determining the 
fair value. 

5. Tested arithmetic accuracy of cash flows 
projections and sensitivity analysis. 



Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 

6. Evaluated the 

MS KA ft Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

appropriateness and 
adequacy of disclosures for compliance 
with the relevant requirements of SEBI 
regulations. 

Information Other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon 

The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager (the "Board") are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the Annual Report but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. The Annual Report is expected 
to be made available to us after the date of this auditor's report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we 
are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 

Responsibilities of the Investment Manager and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements 

The Board are responsible for the preparation and presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position, consolidated financial 
performance, consolidated changes in unitholders' equity, consolidated cash flows of the Group, 
consolidated net assets at fair value as at March 31, 2025, consolidated total returns at fair value 
and net distributable cashflows of the Trust and it's subsidiaries for the year ended as on date and 
other financial information in accordance with the requirement of lnvlT Regulations; the Indian 
Accounting Standards (' Ind AS') prescribed under Rule 2(1 )(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015 , as amended, and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, to 
the extent not inconsistent with the lnvlT Regulations. The respective Management and Board of 
Directors of the companies included in the Group are responsible for maintenance of adequate 
accounting records for safeguarding the assets of the Group for preventing and detecting frauds and 
other irregularities; the selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and 
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring 
accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements by the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager, as 
aforesaid. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of the Trust and the respective Board 
of Directors of the companies included in the Group are responsible for assessing the ability of the 
Group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate 
the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Board of the Trust and the respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group 
are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the Group. 
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M S K A ft Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

We give in "Annexure A" a detailed description of Auditor's responsibilities for Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Other Matter 

We did not audit the financial statements of five subsidiaries, whose financial statements reflect 
total assets of Rs. 1, 15,439.96 million (before consolidation adjustments) as at March 31, 2025, total 
revenues of Rs. 17,270.85 million (before consolidation adjustments) and net cash flows amounting 
to Rs. 222.42 million for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated financial 
statements. These-financial statements have been audited by other auditors whose reports have been 
furnished to us by the Management and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, in so 
far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries, is based 
solely on the reports of the other auditor. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statement is not modified in respect of above matter. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Based on our audit and as required by lnvlT Regulations, we report that: 

a. We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit. 

b. The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including 
other comprehensive income), the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Unit Holders' 
Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow, the Consolidated net assets at fair value 
as at March 31, 2025, the Consolidated total returns at fair value and the net distributable 
cashflows of the Trust and each of its subsidiaries for the year ended dealt with by this Report 
are in agreement with the relevant books of account. 

c. In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Indian 
Accounting Standards ('Ind AS') as defined in Rule 2(1 )(a) of the Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, and other accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent with the lnvlT Regulations. 

For Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 
ICAI Firm Registration No.103264W 

~~~ 

CA Kaustubh Deshpande 
Partner 
Membership No. 121011 
UDIN: 251,1 0 1\ B,MI.J'C{)l-t56J7 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2025 

For M S K A & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Firm Registration No.105047W 

fwrt~ ..J-

Nitin Tiwari 
Partner 

embership No. 118894 
IN: 25II~CJ4Bfl'lKX5C'l146 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2025 
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ANNEXURE A TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT OF EVEN DATE ON THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF IRB INFRASTRUCTURE TRUST 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing 
our opinion on whether the Trust has in place an adequate internal financial controls with 
reference to consolidated financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of 
such controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board's use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group's to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continu~ as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of the financial 
statements of such entities included in the consolidated financial statements of which we 
are the independent auditors. For the other entities included in the consolidated financial 
statements, which have been audited by other auditors, such other auditors remain 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audits carried out by them. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance of the Trust and such other entities 
included in the consolidated financial statements of which we are the independent auditors 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our joint 
audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards. 



Gokhale a Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 

MS KA a Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended March 31, 2025 and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

We also performed procedures in accordance with Regulation 13(2)(e) of the lnvlT Regulations, 
as amended to the extent applicable. 

For Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 
ICAI Firm Registration No.103264W 

~ 
CA Kaustubh Deshpande 
Partner 
Membership No. 121011 
UDIN: '.2,.512. \ 01 I B rvt J: J(Q HS 6 17 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2025 

For M S KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Firm Registration No.105047W 

Nitin Tiwari 
Partner 

Membership No. 118894 
UDIN: '25II8894BmKxSC914f» 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2025 



lRB Infrastructure Trust 
Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025 

(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

ASSETS 
Non-current assets 
Property, Plant and equipment 

Goodwill 

Other Intangible assets 

Intangible assets under development 

Financial assets 
i) Other Financial assets 

Deferred tax assets 

Other non-current assets 

Total non-current assets (A) 

Current assets 
Financial assets 

i) Investments 

ii: Trade receivables 

iii Cash and cash equivalents 

i"' Bank balance other than (ii) above 

v: Other Financial assets 

Current tax assets (net) 

Other current assets 

Total current assets (B) 

Assets held for Sale (C) 

Total assets (D=A+B+C) 

EQUITY AND LlABfLITIES 
Equity 
Unit capital 

Subordinate debt 

Other equity 

Total equity 
Non-controlling interests 
Total unit holder's equity (E) 

Liabilities 
Non-current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 

i) Borrowings 

ii : Other financial liabilities 

Provisions 

Deferred tax liabilities 

Total non-<:urrent liabilities (F) 

Current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 

i) Borrowings 

ii : Trade payables 
a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 

b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises 

iii Other financial liabilities 

Other current liabilities 

Provisions 
Total current liabilities (G) 

Liabilities relating to assets held for sale (H) 

Total liabilities (l=F+G+H) 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES (J=E+l) 

Summary of material accounting policies 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of Consolidated Financial Statements 

As per our report of even date 

For Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 

ICAJ registration num 

CA Kaustubh D pa 
Partner 
Membership No • 1210 I 

Place: Mumbai 

For 1\1 S KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

ICAJ registration number· 105047W 

~~;___ 
Nitin Tiwari 
Partner 

Membership No .. I I 8894 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 08, 2025 

Noles As at 

March 31, 2025 

4. 1 2.61 

311.01 

4.2 2,63,694 .66 

4.2 51,337 .57 

7 182.79 

8 I, 118.63 

9 64.87 

3,16,712.14 

1,870.47 

6 122.50 

10 3,070.00 

II 5,480.70 

7 1,884.94 

12 140.90 

9 699.20 

13,268.71 

29 1,34,279 .33 

4,64,260. l 8 

13 1,50,888.26 

14 16,916.65 

15 (18,595.51) 

1,49,209.40 

1,289.33 

1,50,498. 73 

16 1,90,378.43 

18 22,274. 14 

20 588.03 

694.58 

2,l3,935.18 

16 1,688.33 

I 7 
7 06 

8,405.18 

18 1, 151.20 

19 974.18 

20 1,390.59 

13,616.54 

29 86,209.73 

3,13,761.45 

4,64.260. lS 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited 

As at 

March 31, 2024 

6.63 

604.54 

3, 17,031.32 

64,816.48 

4,408.10 

2,229.78 

12.00 

3,89, l08.85 

1,523 07 

68. 15 

1,605.67 

6,672.40 

2,346.30 

174.41 

537.93 

12,927.93 

4,02,036. 78 

' 1,35,091 .22 

16,916.65 

(17,640.04) 

1,34,.367 .83 

1.49 
l,34,369.32 

2, 14,136.34 

40,765.03 

1,336 98 

280.89 

2,56,519.24 

1,178 .93 

2.41 

5,6 1 I 71 

1,883 .60 

23S.99 
2,235 .58 

11,148.22 

2,67,667.46 

4,02,036. 78 

(As Investment Manager to IRB Infrastructure Trust) 

CIN: U45200MH2002PTCl3SS 12 

~-- ~ 
Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Chairman and Director 

DIN: 00183554 

Place. Mumbai 

Shilpa Todankar 
Chief Financial Officer 

Place 1umbai 

Date May 08, 2025 

Amitabh Murarka 
Chief Executive Officer 

Place: Hyderabad 

Company Secretary 

Membership No.:A27833 

Place Mumbai 

Date: May 08, 202S 



IRB lnfraslructure Tmsl 

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2025 

(All amounts are in rNR million unless otherwise slated) 

Income 

Revenue from operations 

Other income 

Total income 

Expenses 

Operating expenses 

Project Management Fees 

Valuation Expenses 

Insurance and Security Expenses 

Trustee fees 

Depreciation on Property, Plant and Equipment 

Amortisation of Intangible Assets 

Finance costs (Interest) 

Finance costs (Others) 

Audit fees 

Legal & Professional Fees 

Investment Manager Fees (refer note 40(i1)) 

Custodian Fees 

Fair value loss on measurement of other payable 

Other expenses 

Total expenses 

Loss before tax 
Tax expenses 

Current tax 

Deferred tax 

Total tax expenses 

Loss after tax 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax 
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: 

Re-measurement gain/ (loss) on defined benefit plans (net of taxes) 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 

Loss after tax for the year attributable to: 

Unitholders 
Non-controlling interests 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to: 

Unitholders 
Nonscontrolling interests 

Earnings per unit share (of Rs. 10 each) 

Basic (INR) 
Diluted (rNR) 

Summary of material accounting policies 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of Consolidated Financial Statements 

As per our report of even date 

For Gokhale & Sathe 

Partner 
Membership No.: 
Place: Mumbai 

ts 

For MS KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 
!CAI registration number: 105047W 

~~J-
Nitin Tiwari 

Partner 
Membership No.: 118894 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 08, 2025 

Notes Year ended Year ended 
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

21 53,346.24 38,930.75 

22 949.27 839.83 

54,295.51 39,770.58 

23 23,658.98 19,876 05 

5,251 .80 3,573.20 

3.78 5.41 

181.14 94 .71 

1.30 14 .97 

25 0.76 0.95 

25 4,540.51 3,648.04 

24 21 ,175.41 13,449.23 

24 822.58 1,007 .87 

27 19.14 12.48 

173 .41 726.17 

111.14 146.32 

4.47 1.21 

1,429.82 4,935.37 

26 67.04 11 6.58 

57,441.28 47,608.56 

(3,145.77) (7,837.98) 
28 

266.4i 5.25 

(36282) (1 ,193.08) 

(96.35) (1,187.83) 

(3,049.42) (6,650.15) 

(3,049.42) (6,650.15) 

(3 ,077.41) (6,650.38) 
27.99 0.23 

(3,077.41) (6,650.38) 
27.99 0.23 

42 
(270) (6.83) 
(2.70) (6.83) 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
MMK Toll Road Private Limited 
(As Investment Manager to IRB Infrastructure Trust) 
CIN • U45200MH2002PTC 13 5512 

Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Chairman and Director 
DI • 00183554 
Place : Mumbai 

~ 
Shilpa Todankar 
Chief Financial Officer 

Place: Mumbai 

Date May 08, 2025 

Amitabh Murarka 
Chief Executive Officer 

Place: Hyderabad 

Company Secretary 
Membership o.: A27833 

Place: Mumbai 

Date· May 08, 2025 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow for the year ended March 31, 2025 
(All amounts are in INR million unless other.vise stated) 

Partjculars 

Cash flow from operating activities 

Profit/(loss) before tax 
Adjustment to reconcile loss before tax to net cash flows: 
Depreciation and amortisation 
Resurfacing expenses 
Fair value gain on mutual funds 
Net (gain) on sale of current Investment 
Dividend income on current investments 
Notional Contract Revenue Margin 
Finance costs 
Interest income 
Gain/(loss) on fair value measurement of other payable 
Operating profit before working capital changes 

Movement in working capital: 
Increase/ (Decrease) in trade payables 
Increase/ (decrease) in provisions 
[ncrease/ (Decrease) in other financial liabilities 
Increase/ (Decrease) in other liabilities & provision 
(Increase)/ Decrease in trade receivables 
Decrease/ (Increase) in other financial assets 
Decrease/ (Increase) in other assets 
Cash generated from operations 
Taxes paid (net of refunds) 
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from operating activities (A) 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Purchase of property, -plant and equipment including CWIP, intangible assets including 
intangible assets under development 
Proceeds from sale/ (purchase) of current investments (net) 
lnvestments in bank deposits (having maturity of more than three months) (net) 
Dividend Income 
Interest received 
Consideration paid for acquisition of subsidiary (Equity) 
Consideration paid for acquisition of subsidiary (Non Convertible Debentures) 
Net cash flows (used in) investing activities (B) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from non-current borrowings 
Proceeds from non convertible debentures 
Repayment of non convertible debentures 
Repayment of non-current borrowings 
Proceed of current borrowings 
Repayment of current borrowings 
Issue of Unit capital 
Distribution made to unit holders 
lssue of Subordinate Debt 
Unit issue expenses 
Finance cost paid 
Transaction cost paid 
Interest distribution to unitholders 
Liabilities held for Sale 
Net cash flows generated from financing activities (C) 

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+c) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 
Add: Cash acquired on transfer of SPV's 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 

Components of cash and cash equivalents 
Balances with scheduled banks: 
- Trust, retention and other escrow accounts 
- Others 
- In deposit accounts with original maturity less than 3 months 

Cash on hand 
Total cash and cash equivalents(D) 
Asset held for Sale ([) 
Total cash and cash equivalents (F=D+[) 

Year ended 
March 31, 2025 

(3,145.77) 

4,541.27 
3.[25.83 

(4.74) 
(170.67) 

(693 .71) 
21,254.12 

(733 .91) 
1,478.53 

25,650.93 

1,757.05 

163.67 
(2,005.05) 

(101.31) 
3,763.89 

(6 1.09) 
29,168.09 

(271.89) 
28,896.20 

(17,083.99) 
(31 l.24) 

(3,085.70) 

759.24 
(4,287.33) 

(12,86 1.90) 
(36,870.92) 

12,657.26 
3,747.14 

(64.17) 
(1 ,125.31) 

(341.45) 
(0.02) 

17, 149.23 
(1 ,352.20) 

(14.07) 
(21 ,585.54) 

(8 12.96) 

8,257.91 

283.19 
1,605.67 
1,488.57 
3,377.43 

400.44 
2,657.00 

12.56 
3,070.00 

307.43 
3,377.43 

Year ended 
March 31, 2025 

(7,837.98) 

3,648.99 
607.54 
(10.42) 

(190.86) 
(0.03) 

14,147 00 
(566.97) 

4,935.37 
14,732.63 

( 14,206.31) 

( 1,202.70) 
85 .39 
16.52 

(904.80) 
4,027.16 
2,547.89 
(154.86) 

2,393.02 

( 1,54,655.86) 

(38.67) 
(6,153.51) 

514.80 

(1,60,333.24) 

1,65,552.04 

(5,396.93) 
(43,167.48) 

97.68 
(5,448.38) 
51,146 50 
(3 ,984 .60) 
16,916.65 

(144.31) 
( I 3,880.03) 

(2,428.99) 
(449.55) 

l,58,812.61 

872.39 
731.3 1 

1.98 
1, 605.67 

477.22 
349.09 
760.00 

19.36 
1,605.67 

1,605.67 



IRB lnfrastructure Trust 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow for the year ended March 31, 2025 
(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Debt reconciliation statement in accordance with Ind AS 7 
Opening balances 
Long term borrowing 
Short term borrowing 

Movements 
Cash Flows 
Long term borrowing 
Short term borrowing 

Non-cash changes 
Long term borrowing 
Short term borrowing 

Closing balances 
Long term borrowing 
Short term borrowing 

Notes : 
1 _ All figures in bracket are outflow_ 

2,19,244_66 
0_02 

34,336_05 
309.49 

2,53 ,580_7 l 
309 SI 

l ,0l ,369_82 
5,350_72 

)J7,874_84 
(5,350_70) 

2,19,244_66 
0_02 

2_ Taxes paid are treated as arising from operating activities and are not bifurcated between investing and financing activities_ 
3_ The Consolidated Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under Indirect Method as per Ind AS 7 "Statement of Cash Flows"_ 
4. The Borrowings reflected in above Debt Reconciliation Statement are gross of Unamortised Transaction Cost 

Refer to note 3 for Summary of material accounting policies 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of Consolidated Financial Statements_ 

As per our report of even date attached 
For Gokhale & Sa the 
Chartered Accountants 
ICAI registration number: lO 

CA luustubh i nd 
Partner 
Membership No _: 121011 
Place Mumbai 

For M S K A & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 
ICAI registration number: 105047W 

'itin Tiwari 
Partner 
Membership No.: 118894 

Place : Mumbai 
Date May 08, 2025 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
MMK Toll Road Private Limited 
(As Investment Manager to IRB Infrastructure Trust) 
CCN: U45200MH2002PTC135512 

~~ ~ 
Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Chairman and Director 
DIN: 00183554 
Place: Mumbai 

Shilpa Todankar 
ChiefFinancial Officer 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2025 

Amitabh Murarka 
Chief Executive Officer 

Place: Hyderabad 

~ 
Company Secretary 
Membership No_: A27833 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2025 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Unitholder's Equity for the year ended March 31, 2025 
(All amounts are in INR million unless othernrise stated) 
Statement of changes in Unitholders equity 
A. Unit capital: 

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024 
Units issued, subscribed and fully paid 
Balance at the beginning of the year 
Issue of Unit capital 
Return of Unit capital (refer note 38 and 48) 
Balance at the end of the period/ year 

B. Other equity 

Capital Reserve 
Balance at the beginning of the year 
Addition on account of acqujsition 

Balance at the end of the year 

Retained earnings 
Balance at the beginning of the year 
Loss for the year 
Return on Capital (Interest distribution) (refer note 38 and 48) 

Unit Issue expenses 
Balance at the end of the year 

Total Other Equity 

C. Movement of NCI 
Balance at the beginning of the year 
Add: Addition on account of Acquisition 
Add : Profit Attributable for the year 
Balance at the end of the year 

o. of units 
I, 11 ,36,93,265 

5,84,00,000 

1,17,20,93,265 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of Consolidated Financial Statements. 

As per our report of even date 
For Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountan 
ICAI registration nu 

CA Kaustubh D s 
Partner 
Membership No. 12 
Place : Mumbai 

For MS KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 
ICAI registration number: 105047W 

Nitin Tiwari 
Partner 
Membership No . 1 18894 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2025 

Amount (Rs. in million) 
1,35,091 .23 

17,149.23 
(1,352.20) 

1,50,888.26 

No. of units 
87,92,93,265 
23,44,00,000 

1,11,36,93,265 

As at March 31, 2025 

2,948.97 

2,948.97 

(17,640.04) 
(3,077.41) 

(812.96) 
(14.07) 

(21,544.48) 

(18,595.51) 

As at March 31, 2025 
l.49 

1,259.85 
27 .99 

1,289.33 

For and on behal fof the Board of Directors of 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited 
(As Investment Manager to lRB Infrastructure Trust) 
CIN : U45200MH2002PTC 135512 

Amount (Rs. in million) 
87,929.33 
51 , 146.50 
(3,984.60) 

1,35,091.22 

As at March 31, 2024 

(10,395.80) 
(6,650.38) 

(449.55) 
(144.31) 

(17,640.04) 

(17,640.04) 

As at March 31, 2024 
0.81 
0.45 
0.23 

1.49 

~ 
Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Chairman and Director 
DIN :00183554 
Place: Mumbai 

Shilpa Todankar 
Chief Financial Officer 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2025 

Amitabh Murarka 
Chief Executive officer 

Place: Hyderabad 

~ . 
Company Secretary 
Membersh ip No.A27833 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08 20 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO SEBI CIRCULARS 

(SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2024/44 dated May 15, 2024) 

(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

A. Consolidated Statement of Net Asset at Fair Value 

Particulars 

A. Assets 

B. Liabilities (at book value) 

C. Net Assets (A-B) 

D. Number of units (in millions) 

E. NA V (CID) (Amount in Rs.) 

Project wise break up of fair value of total assets: 

Name of the project 

!RB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWTL) 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL) 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL) 

Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL) 

AE Tollway Limited (AETL) 

Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL) 

CG Tollway Limited (CGTL) 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL) 

!RB Haour Moradabad Tollway Limited (IRBHMTL) 

Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL) 

!RB Golconda Expressway Private Limited (IGEPL) 

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (STPL) 

!RB Lalitour Tollway Private Limitcd(ILTPL) 

!RB Kola Tollway Private Limitcd(IKTPL) 

!RB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited(IGTPL) 

Meerut Buadun Expressway Limited (MBEL) 

Subtotal 

Add: Net Assets adjusted for Deferred consideration (Refer Note I) 

Add: As per Valuation Report 

Add: Other Adjustments at Trust level 

Total assets 

B. Consolidated Statement of Total Returns at Fair Value 

Particulars 

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 
(As per the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss) 
Add/Less: other changes in fair value (e.g., in investment property, property, plant 
& equipment (if cost model is followed)) not recognized in total comprehensive 
income for the year 

Total Return 

March 31, 2025 

Book value Fair value 

4,64.260.18 6,70.082.24 

3.13,761.45 3.13.761.45 

1,50.498..73 3.56,320. 79 

1,172.09 1,172.09 

128.40 304.00 

For the period ended March 31, 2025 

(3,049.42) 

2,05,822.06 

2,02,772.64 

March 3 I, 2024 

Book value Fair value 

4,02.036. 78 5.67, 707.56 

2,67,667.46 2,67.667.46 

1.34,369.32 3,00,040.10 

1,113.69 I, 113.69 

120.65 269.41 

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

30.367.37 34,349.80 

29,690.58 26,098.85 

57.657.31 43,959.36 

27.811.80 23,729.03 

35.487.89 35,515.99 

29.612.84 26,471.47 

26,706.14 28,272.18 

13,168.38 20,525.91 
44,198.67 43,182.42 

22,738 07 17,954.33 

1,58,569.83 1,44,280.42 

6,941.69 4,966.03 

61,140.69 49,878.83 

9,852.19 7,190.66 

16,566.26 13,416.72 
46,860.85 -

6,17,370.56 5,19,792.00 

22,270.80 40,760.96 

5,651.73 3,380.52 

24,789.15 3,774.08 

6,70,082.24 5,67,707.56 

For the year ended March 31, 2024 

(6,650.15) 

1,65,670. 78 

1,59,020.63 

Note I: Liability as per books includes deferred consideration oflNR 22,270.80 Million (PY: 40,761 Million) (Refer Note No.34). Corresponding adjustements carried out 

in the Fair value of Assets, which is not considered in the valuation reports issued by independent valuers appointed under the lnvlT Regulations. Adjustement will not have 

a impact on Net Assets detennined by independent valuer. 

Notc_2: Fair value of assets as at March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 and other changes in fair value for the year then ended as disclosed in the above tables are derived 

based on the fair valuation reports issued by the independent valuer appointed under the Inv IT Regulations. 

The accompanying notes arc an integral part of Consolidated Financial Statements. 

As per our report of even date 

For Gokhale & S?the 

Partner 

Membership No. 

Place: Mumbai 

For M S KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

!CAI registration number: I 0504 7W 

Nitin Tiwari 

Partner 

Membership No. I I 8894 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 08, 2025 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited 

(As Investment Manager to IRB Infrastructure Trust) 

CIN : U45200MH2002PTCl 35512 

Virendra D.Mhaiskar 

Chainnan and Director 

DIN . 00183554 

Place: f\•lumbai 

Shil1>a Todank;.1r 

Chief Financial Officer 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 08. 2025 

Amitabh Murarka 

Chief Executive officer 

Place: Hyderabad 

� Kaustubh Shevadc 

Company Secretary 

Membership No.A27833 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 08, 2025 

Chartered Accou 
ICAI Finn Re• 

CA Kaustub 



Additional disclosures as required by paragraph 6 of chapter 4 to the master circular no. SEBI/HO/DDHS-POD-

2/P/CIR/2024/44 dated 15th May 2024 as amended including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder ("SEBI circulars") 

Net Distributable Cash Flow for the year ended March 31, 2025 

(i) IRB Infrastructure Trust 
(Rs. in million) 

Sr No. Particulars 
Year ended 

March 31, 2025 
1 Cashflows from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of the Trust 88.56 

2 
(+) Cash flows received from SPV' s I Investment entities which represent distributions of NDCF 

8,966.62 
computed as per relevant framework 
(+) Treasury income I income from investing activities of the Trust (interest income received from FD, 

3 
any investment entities as defined in Regulation 18(5), tax refund~ any other income in interest, profit 

251 .50 on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., dividend income etc. , excluding any Ind AS 
adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPVs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18(7) of InvJT 
Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the Inv IT Regulations 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPVs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the InvlT Regulations, if such proceeds are not -
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(5,550.63) 
Account of the Trust 

(-) Debt repayment at Trust level (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if 

7 refinanced through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt (638.23) 
refinanced through new debt, in any form or funds raised through issuance of units) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under· the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with financial institution or (ii). terms and conditions, 
covenants or any other stipulations applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs/ 
HoldCos, or (iii). tenns and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external 

8 commercial borrowings availed by the Trust or any of its SPVs/ HoldCos,or (iv). agreement pursuant to (568.10) 
which the SPY/ HoldCo operates or owns the infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or cashflows 
from such asset (such as, concession agreement, transmission services agreement, power purchase 
agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v). 
statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental stipulations; 

9 
(-) any capital expenditure on existing assets owned/ leased by the InvIT, to the extent not funded by 
debt/ equity or from contractual reserves created in the earlier years -

10 NDCF at Trust Level 2,549.72 

Notes: 

1. As per the master circular SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/C[R/2024/44 dated May 15, 2024, details ofNDCF distributable is as below: 

Particulars Rs. (in million) 
NDCF of Trust (A) 2,549.72 

(+) NDCF of SPV' s (Bl 8,883.38 

(-) Amount distributed by SPV' s (C)* 8,966.62 
DCF Di:,tributable D=(A+B-C) 2,466.48 

ludes NDCF for ce1tain SPVs. where funds are not availabl e fo r distributi rict ions placed vide 
Agreement. •., 

by SPVs includes funds released. which were restricted in"_the previous ye aci I ity Agreement. 



(ii) IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWC) 
(Rs. in million) 

Sr No. Particulars Year ended 
March 31, 2025 

I Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPV 794.69 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 
framework 

-

(+) Treasury income I income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

36.42 
dividend income etc., excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 
(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPVs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of InvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the Inv IT Regulations 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPVs or 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 

5 InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the Inv IT Regulations, if such proceeds are not -
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(0.13) 
Account and any shareholder debt / loan from Trust 

(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 
through new debt including overdraft faci lities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 

7 through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from -

Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks / financial institution from whom the 
Trust or any of its SPVs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other 
stipulations applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs, or (iii). terms and 

8 
conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by 
the Trust or any of its SPVs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPV operates or owns the -
infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, 
transmission services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement 
of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental 
stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the SPV to the extent not funded by 

-
debt/ eauitv or from reserves created in the earlier years 

IO NDCF forSPV 830.98 



(iii) Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL) 
(Rs. in million) 

Particulars 
Year ended 

Sr No. 
March 31, 2025 

1 Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPV 1,835.52 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 
framework 

-

( +) Treasury income / income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

55.53 dividend income etc., excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPVs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of InvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the InvlT Regulations 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPVs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations, if such proceeds are not -
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amo~isation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(1,369.70) 
Account and any shareholder debt I loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 
through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt/ loan from -

Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks / financial institution from whom the 
Trust or any of its SPVs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other 
stipulations applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs, or (iii). terms and 
conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by 

8 the Trust or any of its SPVs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPV opera~es or owns the 480.30 

infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or cashtlows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, 
transmission services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement 
of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v}. statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental 
stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the SPV to the extent not funded by 

-
debt I equitv or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCFforSPV 1,001.65 



(iv) Solpaur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL) 
(Rs. in million) 

Particulars 
Year ended 

Sr No. March 31, 2025 
1 Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPV 849.68 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 
framework 

-

(+) Treasury income/ income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

48.03 dividend income etc., excluding any [nd AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPVs/Holdcos or 
[nvestment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds 
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of lnvlT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the [nvff Regulations 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPVs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an . earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the Inv IT Regulations, if such proceeds are not 
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(515.01) 
Account and any shareholder debt/ loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 
through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from 
Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks / financial institution from whom the 
Trust or any of its SPVs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other 
stipulations applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs or (iii). terms and 

8 
conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by 

183.90 
the Trust or any of its SPVs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPV operates or owns the 
infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or cashtlows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, 
transmission services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement 
of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental 
stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned I leased by the SPV to the extent not funded by 
debt/ equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCF for SPV 566.60 



(v) Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL) 
(Rs. in million) 

Sr No. Particulars 
Year ended 

March 31, 2025 

I Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY 999.56 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 
framework 

-

(+) Treasury income I income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

37.96 dividend income etc., excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

( +) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPV s/Ho Ideas or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of lnvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the lnvIT Regulations 
(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPVs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation l 8(7) of 
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations, if such proceeds are not -

intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(0.64) 
Account and any shareholder debt/ loan from Trust 

(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 
through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt/ loan from -
Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks / financial institution from whom the 
Trust or any of its SPYs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other 
stipulations applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs, or (iii). terms and 
conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by 

8 the Trust or any of its SPVs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPV operates or owns the -
infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, 
transmission services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement 
of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental 
stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by 

-
debt I equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCFforSPV 1,036.88 



(vi) AE Tollway Limited (AETL) 
(Rs. in million) 

Year ended 
Sr No. Particulars 

March 31, 2025 

1 Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY 741.20 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPY's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 
framework 

-

( +) Treasury income / income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

35.0l dividend income etc., excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPYs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -

• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of InvlT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the lnvIT Regulations 
(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPYs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
lnvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the Inv IT Regulations, if such proceeds are not -

intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 
Account and any shareholder debt / loan from Trust 

-

(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 

-
through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt/ loan from 
Trust) 
(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks / financial institution from whom the 
Trust or any of its SPYs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenaI)ts or any other 
stipulations applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPYs, or (iii). terms and 
conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by 

8 the Trust or any of its SPYs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the -
infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, 
transmission services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement 
of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial , regulatory, or governmental 
stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned/ leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by -
debt / equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

lO NDCF forSPV 776.21 



(vii) Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL) 
(Rs. in million) 

Year ended 
Sr No. Particulars 

March 31, 2025 

1 Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY 1,003 .66 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPY's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 

-
framework 
(+) Treasury income/ income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

34.28 dividend income etc., excluding any [nd AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPYs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of InvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the Inv IT Regulations 
(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPYs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
Inv IT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations, if such proceeds are not -
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(1 ,458.41) 
Account and any shareholder debt/ loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 

(151.45) through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt/ loan from 
Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks / financial institution from whom the 
Trust or any of its SPYs have availed debt, or (ii) . terms and conditions, covenants or any other 
stipulations applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPYs, or (iii). terms and 
conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by 

8 the Trust or any of its SPYs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPV operates or owns the -
infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, 
transmission services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement 
of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental 
stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by 

-
debt/ equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCF for SPV (571.92) 



(viii) CG Tollway Limited (CGTL) 
(Rs. in million) 

Sr No. Particulars 
Year ended 

March 31, 2025 

l Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY 714.22 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPY's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 
framework 

-

(+) Treasury income I income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

37.20 dividend income etc. , excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPYs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -

• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of lnvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the Inv IT Regulations 
(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPYs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
Inv IT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the lnvlT Regulations, if such proceeds are not -
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(1 ,478.58) 
Account and any shareholder debt/ loan from Trust 

(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments I debt refinanced 

(284.42) through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from 
Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the _terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks / financial institution from whom the 
Trust or any of its SPYs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other 
stipulations applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPYs, or (iii). terms and 
conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by 

8 the Trust or any of its SPYs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the -

infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, 
transmission services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement 
of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental 
stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by 

-
debt/ equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCF forSPV (1,011.58) 



(ix) Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL) 
(Rs. in million) 

Sr No. Particulars 
Year ended 

March 31, 2025 

1 Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPV (36.65) 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 
framework 

-

( +) Treasury income I income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund~ 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

5.74 dividend income etc., excluding any [nd AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPVs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -

• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of Inv[T Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations 
(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPVs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the Inv[T Regulations, if such proceeds are not -

intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(0.05) 
Account and any shareholder debt/ loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 
through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt/ loan from -
Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks / financial institution from whom the 
Trust or any of its SPVs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other 
stipulations applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs, or (iii). terms and 
conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by 

8 the Trust or any of its SPVs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the -

infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, 
transmission services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement 
of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental 
stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned I leased by the SPV to the extent not funded by 

-
debt I equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCFforSPV (30.96) 



(x) IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited (IRBHM) 
(Rs. in million) 

Sr No. Particulars 
Year ended 

March 31, 2025 

1 Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY 2,734.71 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPY's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 
framework 

-

(+) Treasury income I income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

7.04 dividend income etc., excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPYs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled fr_om sale proceeds -
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of InvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the Inv IT Regulations 
(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPYs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
Inv IT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the Inv IT Regulations, if such proceeds are not -

intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(0.32) 
Account and any shareholder debt/ loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 
through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt/ loan from -

Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks I financial institution from whom the 
Trust or any of its SPYs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other 
stipulations applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPYs, or (iii). terms and 
conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by 

8 the Trust or any of its SPVs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the -
infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, 
transmission services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement 
of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental 
stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned/ leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by 

(76.29) 
debt / equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCF forSPV 2,665.14 



(xi) Palsit Dank.uni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL) 
(Rs. in million) 

Particulars 
Year ended 

Sr No. March 31, 2025 

1 Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPV 1,527.09 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 

-
framework 
(+) Treasury income/ income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

10.96 dividend income etc. , excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPVs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -

• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of InvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations 
(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPVs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
Inv IT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations, if such proceeds are not -

intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(1 ,229.51) 
Account and any shareholder debt / loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 
through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from -

Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks / financial institution from whom the 
Trust or any of its SPVs have availed debt, or (ii) . terms and conditions, covenants or any other 
stipulations applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs, or (iii). terms and 
conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by 

8 the Trust or any of its SPVs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the (242 .21) 

infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, 
transmission services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement 
of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental 

stipulations; 2 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the SPV to the extent not funded by 

-
debt I equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCF forSPV 66.33 

Note: 
1. On account ofrestrictions in Facility Agreement, the said funds are not available for distribution. 
2. The said funds pertain to change of scope work, creditors corresponding to which were discharged post March 31 , 2025. 



(xii) IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited (IGEPL) 
(Rs. in million) 

Particulars 
Year ended 

Sr No. March 31, 2025 
1 Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY 6,472.66 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPY's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per re]evant 
framework 

-

( +) Treasury income / income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

189.98 dividend income etc., excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPYs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -

• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of InvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the Inv IT Regulations 
(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPYs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
Inv IT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the Inv IT Regu]ations, if such proceeds are not -

intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(4,899.71) 
Account and any shareholder debt/ loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI' s except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft faci lities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 

(54.39) through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from 
Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks / financial institution from whom the 
Trust or any of its SPYs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other 
stipulations applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPYs, or (iii). terms and 
conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by 

8 the Trust or any of its SPYs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the 1,166.00 

infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, 
transmission services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement 
of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental 
stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by 

-
debt I equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCF forSPV 2,874.54 

Note: 
l. On account of restrictions in Facility Agreement, part of the funds generated in FY25 are not available for distribution . 
2. The SPY has distributed Rs. 772 .22 million pertaining to FY24 in Hl FY25, pursuant to receipt of approval from its Senior Lenders. 



(xiii) Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (STPL) 
(Rs. in million) 

Sr No. Particulars 
Year ended 

March 31, 2025 
1 Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPV 1,097.69 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 
framework 

-

(+) Treasury income/ income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

8.03 dividend income etc. , excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPVs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of Inv[T Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations 
(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPVs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the lnv[T Regulations, if such proceeds are not -

intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(129.60) 
Account and any shareholder debt/ loan from Trust 

(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 
through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any sharehol~er debt/ loan from -

Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks I financial institution from whom the 
Trust or any of its SPVs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other 
stipulations applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs, or (iii). terms and 
conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by 

8 the Trust or any of its SPVs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPV operates or owns the -
infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, 
transmission services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement 
of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental 
stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the SPV to the extent not funded by 

(989.77) 
debt/ equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCFforSPV (13.65) 

Note: 
1. On account of restrictions in Facility Agreement, the said funds are not available for distribution. 



(xiv) IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited (ILTPL) 
(Rs. in million) 

Particulars 
Year ended 

Sr No. March 31, 2025 

1 Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPV 3,443.31 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 
framework 

-

( +) Treasury income I income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

132.45 dividend income etc. , excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

( +) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPV s/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of lnvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the lnvIT Regulations 
( +) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPV s or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
Inv IT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the lnvIT Regulations, if such proceeds are not -
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(2,907.39) 
Account and any shareho Ider debt I loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 

(57.57) through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from 
Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks / financial institution from whom the 
Trust or any of its SPV s have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other 
stipulations applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs, or (iii). terms and 
conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by 

8 the Trust or any of its SPVs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPV operates or owns the -
infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, 
transmission services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement 
of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental 
stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the S PV to the extent not funded by 

-
debt/ equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCFforSPV 610.80 

Note: 
I. On account ofrestrictions in Facility Agreement, part of the funds are not available for distribution. 



(xv) [RB Kota Tollway Private Limited (IKTPL) 
(Rs. in million) 

Year ended 
Sr No. Particulars 

March 31, 2025 

1 Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY 531.48 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPY's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 

-
framework 
(+) Treasury income I income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

18.80 dividend income etc., excluding any [nd AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPYs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of Inv[T Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the lnvIT Regulations 
(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPYs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
InvlT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the lnvlT Regulations, if such proceeds are not -

intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(379.50) 
Account and any shareholder debt/ loan from Trust 

(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 
through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan from -

Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks / financial institution from whom the 
Trust or any of its SPYs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other 
stipulations applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPYs, or (iii). terms and 
conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by 

8 the Trust or any of its SPYs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the -

infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, 
transmission services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement 
of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental 
stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned/ leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by -
debt I equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCFforSPV 170.78 

Note: 
1. On account of restrictions in Facility Agreement, the said funds are not available for distribution. 



(xvi) [RB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited (IGTPL) 
(Rs. in million) 

Sr No. Particulars 
Year ended 

March 31, 2025 

1 Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPV 1,047.25 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPV's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant 

-
framework 
( +) Treasury income I income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, investments, assets etc., 

34.44 dividend income etc., excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPVs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the following: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of lnvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPVs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
Inv IT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the Inv IT Regulations, if such proceeds are not -
intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 

(752 .13) 
Account and any shareholder debt/ loan from Trust 
(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments I debt refinanced 
through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt/ loan from -
Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks / financial institution from whom the 
Trust or any of its SPVs have availed debt, or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other 
stipulations applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs, or (iii). terms and 
conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by 

8 the Trust or any of its SPVs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the -

infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, 
transmission services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement 
of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental 
stipulations; 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned I leased by the SPV to the extent not funded by -
debt I equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCF forSPV 329.56 

Note: 
l. On account of restrictions in Facility Agreement, the said funds are not available for distribution . 



(xvii) Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited (MBEL) 
(Rs. in million) 

Sr No. Particulars 
January 01, 2025 to 

March 31, 2025 

1 Cash flow from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of SPY2 (139.80) 

2 
(+) Cash Flows received from SPY's which represent distributions ofNDCF computed as per relevant -
framework 
( +) Treasury income / income from investing activities (interest income received from FD, tax refund, 

3 
any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds , investments, assets etc., 

0.53 dividend income etc., excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will be 
considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPYs/Holdcos or 
Investment Entity adjusted for the f~llowing: 
• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds -
• Directly attributable transaction costs 
• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of [nvIT Regulations or any 
other relevant provisions of the lnvIT Regulations 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPYs or 

5 
Investment Entity not distributed pursuant to an earl ier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of 
Inv IT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the Inv IT Regulations, if such proceeds are not -

intended to be invested subsequently 

6 
(-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss 
Account and any shareholder debt I loan from Trust 

-

(-) Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's except if refinanced 

7 
through new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced 
through new debt, in any form or equity raise as well as repayment of any shareholder debt/ Joan from -

Trust) 

(-) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in 
accordance with, any: (i). loan agreement entered with banks / financial institution from whom the 
Trust or any of its SPYs have availed debt, or (ii) . terms and conditions, covenants or any other 
stipulations applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPYs, or (iii). terms and 
conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by 

142.70 8 the Trust or any of its SPYs, (iv). agreement pursuant to which the SPY operates or owns the 
infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or cash-flows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, 
transmission services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease agreement, and any other agreement 
of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v) . statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental 

stipulations; 3 

9 
(-) Any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the SPY to the extent not funded by 

-
debt I equity or from reserves created in the earlier years 

10 NDCFforSPV 3.43 

Note: 
1. On account of restrictions in Facility Agreement, the said funds are not available for distribution. 

2. Includes Liquid MF amounting to Rs. 37.62 million transferred pursuant to acquisition of the SPY on Dec 27, 2024 

3. Rs. 142. 70 million pertain to amount receivable as per relevant provisions of the Concession Agreement. 



Annexure - I 

Additional Disclosures as required by paragraph 6 of chapter 4 to the master circular no. 
SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated 06 July 2023 as amended for the 

(i) IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Sr. No. 

l 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

IO 

11 

Note: 
I 

2 

(Rs. in Million) 

Particulars 
Year ended 

March 31 2024 

Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Interest1 3,748.20 

Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Dividend -
Any other income accruing at the Trust level and not captured above, 
including but not limited to interest/return on surplus cash invested by 199.49 
the Trust 
Cash flows received from the project SPYs towards the repayment 

8,897.76 
(Net) of the debt issued to the Project SPVs by the Trust2 

Total cash inflow at the Trust level (A) 12,845.45 
Less: 

Any payment of fees, interest and expense incurred at the Trust level, 
(2,634.54) 

including but not limited to the fees of the Investment Manager 

Income tax (if applicable) at the Standalone Trust Level -
Repayment of external debt (646.69) 

Promoter contribution in under construction Project SPYs (4,855.00) 

Total cash outflows/ retention at the Trust level (B) (8,136.23) 
Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 4,709.22 

Excludes interest due but not received of Rs. 12,713.52 millions for the year ended March 31 , 
2024. 

Netted - off with disbursement of short-tenn unsecured loan to related parties. (Refer RPT 
disclosures of standalone financial results). 



(ii) IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWC) 

Sr. 
Year ended 

No. 
Description March 31, 

2024* 

I Profit after tax as per profit and Joss account (A) (3 ,308.86) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of 

214.60 
profit and loss 

3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (238.79) 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense/ non cash 

4 income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if 42.29 
deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 3,158.60 
6 Add:- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) -
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt (121.51) 
8 Less: Tax paid -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA 322.00 
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project (24.56) 
11 Total adjustments (8) 3,352.64 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 43.78 

Notes: 

*The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed 
from external lenders and Trust. 



(iii) Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

Year ended 
Sr.No. Description March 31, 

2024 

l Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1,302.40) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit 

573.49 
and loss 

,, 
Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (537.41) .) 

Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash 
4 income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if deemed 74.36 

necessary by the Investment Manager 
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 1,522.05 
6 Add:- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) 123.21 
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt -
8 Less: Tax paid -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA/ release of DSRA 460.00 
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 2,215.70 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 913.30 



(iv) Solpaur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

Year ended 
Sr. No. Description March 31, 

2024 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (844.59) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and 

156.93 
loss 

3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (109.90) 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense I non cash income 

4 (net of actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by 36.44 
the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 1,192.25 
6 Add:- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) 71.40 
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt -
8 Less: Tax paid -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA/release of DSRA 260.00 
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 1,607.12 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 762.53 



(v) Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL) 

(Rs. in Million) 

Description 
Year ended March 

Sr.No. 
31,2024* 

l Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1,895.65) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 217.01 
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 633.48 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense/ non cash income (net of actual cash 

184.01 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 2,227.67 
6 Add ::.. Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) (227.64) 
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt (50.13) 
8 Less: Tax paid -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA 145.00 
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 3,129.40 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 1,233.75 

Notes: 

*The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed from external lenders and Trust. 



(vi) AE Tollway Limited (AETL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

Year ended 
Sr.No. Description March 31, 

2024* 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (3,507.79) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 326.30 
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 413.41 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non ·cash income (net of actual cash 

120.73 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 3,266.16 
6 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) (133.53) 
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt (23.23) 
8 Less: Tax paid -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA/ release of DSRA 424.30 
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 4,394.14 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 886.35 

Notes: 

*The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed from external lenders and Trust. 



(vii) Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

Year ended 
Sr. No. Description March 31, 

2024 

l Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1 ,460.53) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 429.26 

3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 908.52 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense/ non cash income (net of actual cash 

109.09 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust -
6 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) (87.05) 
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt (35.41) 

8 Less: Tax paid -

9 Less: Creation of MMRA -

10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 1,324.41 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) (136.12) 



(viii) CG Tollway Limited (CGTL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

Year ended 
Sr. No. Description March 31, 

2024 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1 ,131.42) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 398.41 
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (21.16) 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense/ non cash income (net of actual cash 

36.69 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust -
6 Add:- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) 138.16 
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) (100.37) 
8 Less: Tax paid -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA -
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 451.73 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) (679.69) 



(ix) Kishangarb Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

Year ended 
Sr.No. Description March 31, 

2024* 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (2,038.30) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 259.92 

3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (0.73) 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 

249.70 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 942.45 
6 Add:- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) 173.73 
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) (7.96) 
8 Less: Tax paid -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA/release of DSRA 360.00 
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 1,977.11 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) (61.19) 

Notes: 

*The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed from external lenders and Trust. 



(x) IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited (IRBHM) 
(Rs. in Million) 

Year ended 
Sr. No. Description March 31, 

2024* 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1,844.84) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 481.39 
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (992.13) 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense I non cash income (net of actual cash 

334.11 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 2,257.27 
6 Add:- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) 372.37 
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) (96.43) 
8 Less: Tax paid -

9 Less: Creation of MMRA/ release of DSRA 600.00 
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project (344.10) 
11 Total Adjustments (B) 2,612.48 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B)# 767.64 

Notes: 

*The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed from external lenders and Trust. 



(xi) Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

Sr.No. Description 
Year ended 

March 31, 2024 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) 393.86 

2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 276.13 
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (144.47) 

Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of 
4 actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment (78.95) 

Manager 
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 
6 Add:- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) -
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) -
8 Less: Tax paid (5.28) 
9 Less: Creation of MMRA 

10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project (457.00) 
ll Total Adjustments (B) (409.57) 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) (15.71) 



(xii) IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited (IGEPL) 

Sr. No. 

1 
2 
3 

4 

5 
6 
7 
8 
9 
10 
11 
12 

Note: 

(Rs. in Million) 

Description 
August 11, 2023 to 
March 31, 2024A 

Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1,008.24) 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 312.12 
Add/Less: Decrease/(lncrease) in Working capital (8.83) 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense I non cash income (net of 
actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the [nvestment (120.23) 
Manager 
Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 1,882.86 
Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) -
Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) -
Less: Tax paid -
Less: Creation of MMRA -
Le·ss: Capital expenditure towards the project -
Total Adjustments (B) 2,065.92 
Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 1,057.68 

/\The said funds would be released post meeting Restricted Payment conditions as stated in Facility Agreement. 

The Company has been transferred to Trust from August 11 , 2023. 



(xiii) Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (STPL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

Decem her 28, 
Sr. No. Description 2023 to March 

31 2024/\ 

l Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) 327.17 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 3.43 
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 9.15 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense/ non cash income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if 

6.92 
deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust -
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) -
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) -
8 Less: Tax paid (83.40) 

9 Less: Creation of MMRA -
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project (254.13) 
11 Total Adjustments (B) (318.04) 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 9.13 

Note: I\ The said funds are earmarked towards balance Capex. 
The Company has been transferred to Trust from December 28, 2023. 



(xiv) IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited (IL TPL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

November I 0, 
Sr. No. Description 2023 to March 

31,2024 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) 10.16 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss -
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(lncrease) in Working capital 98.93 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if 

(8.24) 
deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust -
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) -
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) -
8 Less: Tax paid -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA -
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 90.69 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 100.85 

Note: The Company has been incorporated on November 10 2023 . 



(xv) IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited (IKTPL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

January 01, 
Sr. No. Description 2024 to March 

31,2024 

l Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (0.87) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss -
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 5.28 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense/ non cash income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if 

(1.11) 
deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust -
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) -
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) -
8 Less: Tax paid -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA -
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 4.16 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 3.29 

Note: The Company has been incorporated on January 01 , 2024. 



(xvi) IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited (IGTPL) 
(Rs. in Million) 

January 01, 
Sr. No. Description 2024 to March 

31,2024 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) 0.60 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss -
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 10.70 

4 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense/ non cash income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if 

(2.62) 
deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust -
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) -
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) -
8 Less: Tax paid -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA -
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 8.08 
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 8.68 

Note: The Company has been incorporated on January 01 , 2024. 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended Ma rch 31, 2025 
(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

I Corporate Informatio n 
The [RB lnfrastructure Trust (the "Trust") is a trust settled pursuant to the indenture of trust dated August 27, 2019 which is registered under the Registration Act, 1908 and under the Securities 
Exchange Board of India (lnfrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to time. The Trust is settled by the Sponsor, IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited ("IRB" 
or the "Sponsor" ), an infrastructure development company in India. The Trustee to the Trust is IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited (the "Trustee"). lnvestment manager for the Trust is MMK Toll 
Road Private Limited (the "Investment Manager"). The Trust has received registraion certificate from SEBI on November 25, 20 I 9. 

The Trust has been formed to invest in infrastructure assets primarily being in the road sector in India. The Trust's road projects are eligible infrastructure projects under the !nvlT Regulations 
and held through special purpose vehicles ("Project SPVs" together as "Project SPY Group"). The Trust's portfolio comprises of sixteen road projects as listed below:-

Project SPV Name** Residual 
Sha reholding 

Natu re of 
Status 

Principal Country of 
Concession li fe* [nvestment Activities incorporation 

16 years I I Months 100"/o Subsidiary Tolling and lndia 
[RB Westcoast Tollway Limited ([RBWTL) 

I day Construction 

18 years 9 Months 100% Subsidiary Operating India 
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL) 

21 days 

100% Subsidiary Operating India 
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL) 16 years 3 Months 

I 7 years 3 Months 100% Subsidiary Operating India 
Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL) 

14 days 

15 years 4 Months 2 100"/o Subsidiary Operating India 
AE Tollway Limited (AETL) 

days 

13 years 5 Months 3 100"/o Subsidiary Operating India 
Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL) 

days 

I 2 years 7 Months 4 100% Subsidiary Operating Construction lndia 
CG Tollway Limited (CGTL) 

days and operation 

100% Subsidiary Operating of road India 
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL) 

12 years IO Months 
including toll 

21 days 
collection 

16 years I Month 25 100% Subsidiary Operating India 
!RB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited (IRBHMTL) 

days 

100% Subsidiary Tolling and India 
Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL) w.e.f02.04.2022 14 years Construction 

28 years 4 Months 100% Subsidiary Operating lndia 
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited(IGEPL) w.e.f I I 08.2023 

12 days 

I 8 years 8 Months 100% Subsidiary Tolling and lndia 
Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited(STPL) w.e.f 28 .12.2023 

27 days Construction 

[RB Lalitpur ToUway Private Limited(ILTPL) w.e.f I 0 .11 .2023 19 years 100% Subsidiary Operating lndia 
IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited(IKTPL) w.e.f0l .01 .2024 19 years 100% Subsidiary Operating India 
IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited(IGTPL) w.e.fOl.01.2024 19 years 100% Subsidiary Operating lndia 

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited(MBEL) w.e.f28 . l 2.2024 27 years 6 Months 100% Subsidiary Operating India 
13 days 

• Represents residual concession hfe as at March 31, 202S as per ongmal concession penod ( without considering extension of concess10n period, 1f any). 

** Of the above Project SPYs, IRBWTL, SYTL, YA TL, AETL, CGTL, UTL and IRBHMTL have been converted to public companies on November 13, 2019 and KTLand KGTL on November 
14, 2019 . 

The registered office of the Investment Manager is OffNo-1 ltb Floor/I IOI Hiranandani Knowledge Park, Technology Street, Hill Side Avenue, Powai Mumbai 400076 
The Trust has been listed on NSE w.e.f. 03 .04.2023 

Basis of preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements 

A. Basis of preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements 
The Consolidated Financial Statements comprise the Financial Statements of the Project SPY Group. 

Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances. 
The Financial Statements of all Project SP\ls used for the purpose of consolidation are drawn up to the same reporting date i.e year ended March 31 , 2025. 
Consolidation procedure: 
(a) Consolidate Like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows of Project SP Vs. 
(b) Eliminate in full intra Project SPYs assets and liabilities, income, expenses and cash flows relating to trar1sactions between Project SPVs of the Project SP\/ Group (profits or losses resulting 
fi-om intra Project SPY Group transactions that are recognised in assets, such as inventory and property, plant and equipment., are eliminated in full) . Profit or loss and each component of other 
comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the Project SPY Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance. 

B. Statement of compliance 
The Consolidated Financial Statements of Project SPY Group comprises of Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31 , 202S and March 3 I, 2024, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 
(including Other Comprehensive Income) of the Project SPY group, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Unitholders equity for the year ended 
March 31, 2025 and March 31 , 2024, the Consolidated statement of Net Assets at Fair Value as at March 31 , 202S and March 31, 2024 and the Consolidated Statement of Total Returns at Fair 
Value for the year ended March 31 , 2025 and March 31 , 2024, a summary of material accounting policies, notes and other explanatory Information. 

The Consolidated Financial Statements which comprises the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31 , 2025, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive 
Income), the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Unit Holder's Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, Statement of Net Assets at Fair value as at March 31, 
2025, Statement of Total Returns at Fair Value and Net Distributable cashflows for the year then ended as an additional disclosure in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Board of India 
("'SEBL" ) Master Circular SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2024/44 dated May IS, 2024, as amended, ("the SEBI Circular" ) for the year ended March 31 , 202S and notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements, including material accounting po]jcy information and other explanatory information has been prepared i.n accordance with the requirements of SEBI (Infrastructure 
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular, together known as ("lnvlT Regulations"); the Indian Accounting Standards prescribed under Rule 
Jf-1::r:i:i~~.:impanies (lndian Accounting Standards) Rules, 201S, as amended, and other accounting principles generally accepted in India to the extent not inconsistent with the lnvlT 

ote 13 below on presentation of "Unit Capital" as "Equity" instead of compou d • r IND AS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation) 

~,-.ssoc 
cial Statements are presented in Rs in millions, except when __ ._,..-L._,._...,_~m-=d1cate=-.1 , ..... .,.,. . - the amount represented '0' (zero) construes value less th 



[RB lnfrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 
(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

C The accounting policies adopted, and methods of computation followed are consistent with those of the previous fmancial year, except for items disclosed below: 

111e Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified Companies (Indian Accounting Standard) Amendment Rules 2023 dated 31 March 2023 to amend the following IND AS which are effective from 
1 April 2023 

fND AS l, Presentation of Financial Statements 
An entity shall disclose material accounting policy information. Accounting policy infonnation is material if, when considered together with other infonnation included in an entity ' s financial 
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements. 

lND AS 8, Accounting policies, Change in Accounting Estimates and Errors 
Definition of 'Change in Accounting Estimates' in account has been replaced by revised definition of 'Accounting Estimate' . As per revised definition, accounting estimates are monetary 
amounts in the fmancial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. An entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by tbe accounting policy. Developing 
accounting estimates involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest available, reliable information.. 
An entity may need to change an accounting estimate if changes occur in the circumstances on which the accounting estimate was based or as a result of new information, new developments or 
more experience. By its nature, a change in an accounting estimate does not relate to prior periods and is not the correction of an error. 

3 Summary of material accounting policies 

3.01 Current versus non-current classification 
The Project SPY Group has identified twelve months as its operating cycle. The operating cycle is the trme between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash and cash 
equivalents. 
The Project SPY Group presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/ non-current classification. An asset is treated as current when it is. 

- Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle 
- Held primarily for the purpose of trading 
- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period 

All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when: 
- It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle 
- [tis held primarily for the purpose of trading 
- It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
- There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period 

The Project SPY Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities respectively 

3.02 Use of estimates and judgements 
The preparation of the Project SPY Group's financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of expenses, assets and 
liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future years .. 

Estimates and assumptions 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimates are revised and future periods are 
affected. 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within tbe next financial year, are described below. The Project SPY Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the fmancial 
statements were prepared_ Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, rnay change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control 
of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 

Fair value measurement of financial instruments (refer note 33) 
Provision for major maintenance (refer note 20) 
Impairment of non financial assets (refer note 3 17) 

3 03 Business Combinations 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acqws1tion is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at fair value on 
acquisition date and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree 
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets 

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at thetr acquisition date fair values. For this purpose, the liabilities assumed include contingent 
liabilities representing present obligation and they are measured at their acquisition fair values irrespective of the fact that outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is not probable. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non-control! ing interests, and any previous interest held, 
over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it 
has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the 
reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in OCI and accumulated in equity as capital 
reserve. However, if there is no clear evidence of bargain purchase, the entity recognises the gain directly in equity as capital reserve. without routing the same through OCI 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated 11npa1m1ent losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are 
assigned to tl1ose units. 

A cash generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impa1nnent annually, or more frequently when there is an mdica11on that the umt may be impaired. If the recoverable 
amount of the cash generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impainnent loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other 
assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit 

Any impainnent loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss. An impainnent loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent penods Where goodwill has been allocated to a 
cashgenerating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the go_odwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining tl1e gain or loss on disposal Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit 
retained. 
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3.04 Asset acquisition 

The acquisition of an asset or a group of assets that does not constitute a business. In such cases the acquirer shall identify and recognise the individual identifiable asset acquired including those 
assets that meet the definition of, and recognition criteria for, intangible asset in IND AS 38, lntangible Assets and Liabilities assumed. The cost of the group is allocated to the individual 
identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction or event does not give rise to goodwill. 

3.05 Fair value measurement 
The Project SPY Group measures financial instruments, (refer note 32) at fair value at each balance sheet date. 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 
- In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
- In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Project SPY Group 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their 
economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to 
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use 

The Project SPY Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant 
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole 

Level l - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2- Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable 
Level 3 -Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable 
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Project SPY Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy 
by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

The Project SPY Group's Management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement, such as derivative instruments and unquoted financial assets measured 
at fair value, and for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held for distribution in discontinued operations. 

At each reporting date, the Management analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are required to be remeasured or re-assessed as per the Project SPV Group's 
accounting policies. For this analysis, the Management verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other 
relevant documents. 

The management also compares the change in the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable. 
On an annual basis, the Management presents the valuation results to the Investment Manager and the Project SPV Group's independent auditors. This includes a discussion of the major 
assumptions used in the valuations 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Project SPY Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the bastS of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the 
level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above 

This note summarises accounting policy for fair value. Other fair value related disclosures are given in the relevant notes. 
Disclosures for valuation methods, significant estimates and assumptions (note 3.02) 
Financial instruments (including those carried at amortised cost) (note 5,6,7, 16, 17, 18,33) 
Quantative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy (note 34) 

3.06 Revenue recognition 

The Project SPV Group has applied the following accounting policy for revenue recognition-

Revenue from contracts with customers: 
The Project SPY Group recognises revenue from contracts with customers based on a five step model as set out in £ND AS 115: 
Step I. Identify the contract(s) with a customer: A contract is defined as an agreement between two or more parties that creates enforceable rights and obligations and sets out the criteria for 
every contract that must be met. 

Step 2. Identify the performance obligat10ns in the contract: A performance obligation is a promise in a contract with a customer to transfer a good or service to the customer. 
Step 3. Determine the transaction price : The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services 
to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties_ 

Step 4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract: For a contract that has more than one performance obligation, the Company will allocate the transaction price 
to each performance obi igation in an amount that depicts the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for satisfying each performance obligation. 

Step 5. Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a pe.rfom1ance obligation 

The Project SPY Group satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met: 
I . The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Project SPY Group's performance as the Project SPV Group performs; or 
2. The Project SPY Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or 
3_ The Project SPV Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Project SPY Group and the entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed 
to date. 

Contract revenue 
Contract revenue associated with the utility shifting incidental to construction of road are recognized as revenue by reference to the stage of completion of the projects at the balance sheet date. 
TI1e stage of completion of project is determined by the proportion that contract cost incurred for work performed up to the balance sheet date bears to the estimated total contract costs 
Project SPVs operations involve levying of GST on tl1e construction work. Goods and Service tax is not received by the project SPVs on its own account, rather, it is tax collected on value added 
to the commodity by the seller on behalf of the government. Accordingly, it is excluded from revenue 

[ncome from the concession arrangements earned under the intangible asset model consists of the (i) fair value of contract revenue, which is deemed to be fair value of consideration transferred 
to acquire the asset; and (ii) payments actually received from the users. The intangible asset is an1ortised over its expected useful life in a way that reflects the pattern in which the asset ' s 
economic benefits are consumed by the Project SPY Group, starting from the date when the right to operate starts to be used_ Based on these principles, the intangible asset is amortised in line 
with tl1e actual usage of the specific public utility facility, with a maximum of the duration of the concession. 
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Claim Revenue 
Claims are recognised as revenue as per relevant terms of concession agreement with the authority when it is probable that such claims will be accepted by the customer that can be measured 
reliably. 

Income from tolJ contracts 
The income from Toll Contracts on BOT basis are recognised on actual collection of toll revenue (net of Premiwu and revenue share payable to NHAI) as per Concession Agreement. Revenue 
from electronic toll collection is recognised on accrual basis. 

Interest income 
For all financial assets measured either at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR). EIR is the rate 
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the gross carrying amount of the 
financial asset or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Project SPY Group estimates the expected cash flows by considering all the 
contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, extension, call and similar options) but does not consider the expected credit losses. lnterest income is included in finance 
income in the statement of profit and loss 

Dividends 
Revenue is recognised when the Project SPY Group's right to receive the payment is established., which is generally when shareholders approve the dividend. 

Trade receivables 
A receivable represents the Project SPV Group 's right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional i.e only the passage of time is required before payment of consideration is due. 

3.07 Taxes 
Current income tax 
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities in accordance the Income Tax Act, 1961 . The tax rates and 
tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the country where the Company operates and generates taxable income. 

Current income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or in equity). Current tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying 
transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to 
interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided using the liabil ity method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the 
reporting date. 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except 
- When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss 

- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidianes, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable tl1at the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: 

- \Vhen the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability 111 a transaction that is not a business combination and, at 
the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all 
or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable tl1at future 
taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside statement of profit and loss is recognised outside statement of profit and loss (either in other comprehensive income or in equity). Deferred tax 
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity . 

Deferred tax assets and defe.rred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exist; to set off current tax assets agamst current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same 
taxable entity and tl1e same taxation authority 

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combmation, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at that date, are recognised subsequently if new infonnation about facts and 
circumstances change. Acquired defe.rred tax benefits recognised within the measurement period reduce goodwill related to that acquisition if they result from new infonnation obtained about 
facts and circumstances existing at the acquisition date. If the carrying amount of goodwill is zero, any remaining deferred tax benefits are recognised in OCI/ capital reserve depending on the 
principle explained for bargain purchase gains. AU other acquJTed tax benefits realised are recognised in tl1e consolidated statement of profit and loss Deferred tax is recognised in consolidated 
statement of profit and loss on the consolidated adjustments 

Minim um Alternate Tax (MAT) 

Minimwu Alternate Tax (MAT) paid as per lndian Income Tax Act, 1961 is in the nature of unused tax credit which can be carried forward and utilised when the Project SPY Group wi ll pay 
normal income tax during the specified period Being DTA tax credit is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the unused tax credit can be uti lised in the specified future period . TI1e net 
amount of tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the balance sheeL 

Goods and service tax paid on acquisit ion of assets or on incurring expenses 
Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and service tax paid, except: 
When the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax authority, in which case, the tax paid is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense item, as applicable. 

When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of tax included. The net amount of tax recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included as part of receivables or payables 
in the balance sheet 
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3.08 Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses if any. Cost comprises the purchase price and any attributable cost of bringing the asset to 
its working condition for its intended U5e.Any trade discount or rebates are deducted in arriving at the purchase price. 

Depreciation is calculated on written dmvn value method (WDV) using the useful hves as prescribed under the Schedule II to the Companies Act, 20 I 3 or re-assessed by the Project SPV Group 
based on technical evaluation. The ProJect SPV Group has estimated the following useful lives for its tangible fixed assets: 

Asset class Useful life 
Building 30 years* 
Office equipment 5 years 
Computers (including server) 3 to 6 years 
Furniture & fixtures 10 years 

* The useful life of building has been calculated by management as per their technical estimate 

3.09 intangible assets 
The ProJect SPV Group exercised fir st time adoption under IND AS 101 and has elected to continue with the carrying value of its "Toll Collection Rights" (Intangible Assets) including 
corresponding obligation, as recognised in the financial statements as at the date of transition April 1, 2016 measured as per the Previous GAAP and uses that as its deemed cost as at date of 
transition 

Toll collection rights are stated at cost, less accumulated amortisation, impairment losses and grant from government. Cost includes: 
a) For acquired Toll Collection Rights - Upfront payments towards acquisition and incidental expenses related thereto. 
b) Toll Collection Rights awarded by the grantor against construction service rendered by the Project SPV Group on BOT / DBFOT basis - Direct and indirect expenses on construction of roads, 
bridges, culverts, infrastructure and other assets at the toll plazas 

c) Toll Collection Rights in lieu of premium - Undiscounted premium obligation over the concession period. 

Amortisation 
Toll Collection Rights are amortised over the period of concession, using revenue based amortisation as prescribed in IND AS-36. Under this method, the carrying value of the rights is amortised 
in the proportion of actual toll revenue for the period to projected revenue for the balance toll period, to reflect the pattern in which the assets economic benefits will be consumed. At each 
balance sheet date, the projected revenue for the balance toll period is reviewed by the management If there is any change in the projected revenue from previous estimates, the amortisation of 
toll collection rights is changed prospectively to reflect any changes in the estimates 

Intangible assets under development 
Expenditure related to and incurred during implementation of project are included under "Intangible Assets under Development"_ The same wil! be transferred to the respective intangible assets 
on completion of project. 

3 1 0 Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are 
capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in 
connection with the borrowing of funds . Borrowing cost also includes exchange differences between the foreign currency borrowing and the functional currency borrowing to the extent 
regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs 

3 11 Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Project SPV Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of tile amount of the obligation. When the Project SPV Group expects some or all of a provision 
to be reimbursed., for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain The expense relating to a 
provision is presented in the statement of profit and loss net of any reimbursement 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted usmg a current pre-tax rate that reflects. when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability When discounting is 
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates. 

3 12 Resurfacing expenses 

As per the Concession Agreements. the Project SPV Group is obligated to carry out resurfacing of the roads under concession. Provision required for resurfacing expenses are measured at the 
present value of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects risks 
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as finance cost. Provision for the planned expenditure is made for the period upto end of the period 
for which periodic maintenance is required, out of the total entitiled period.The same is stated in the consolidated statement of profit and loss in accordance with [ND AS 37 "Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets." 

3.13 Contingent liability and Contingent assets 
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond 
the control of the Project SPV Group or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent 
liability also arises in extremely rare cases where there is a liability that cannot be recognised because it cannot be measured rel.iably The Project SPV Group does not recognise a contingent 
liability but discloses its existence in the fmancial statements 

A contingent assets 1s not recognised unless it becomes virtually certam d1at an inflow of economic benefits will arise When an inflow of economic benefits is probable, contingent assets are 
disclosed in the financial statements 

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date 
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3.14 Fina ncial instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

Financia I assets 

Initial recognilion and measurement 

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus., in the case of financial assets not recorded at fair value through statement of profit and loss, transaction costs that are attnbutable to 
the acquisition of the financial asset. 

On initial recognistion, a financial asset is classified as measured of 
- amortised cost 
- Fair Value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) - Debt instruments 
- Fair Value through other comprehensive income (FVOCl) - equity instruments 
- Fair Value through profit and loss (FVTPL) 
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except if and in the year, the Project SPV Group changes its business model for managing financial assets 

Debt instruments at amortised cost 

A 'debt instrument' is measured at the amortised cost ifboth the following conditions are met. 
- The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting contractual cash flows, and 
- Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EfR) method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR The ElR amortisation is included in finance income in the statement of profit and loss The losses arising 
from impairment are recognised in the statement of profit and loss 

Debt instrument al FVOCI 
A 'debt instrument' is classified as at the FVOCI if both of the following criteria are met: 
- The objective of the business model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets, and 
- The asset's contractual cash flows represent SPPI. 
Debt instruments included within the FVOCI category are measured initially as well as at each reporting date at fair value. Fair value movements are recognized in the other comprehensive 
income (OC l). However, the Project SPY Group recognizes interest income, impairment losses and reversals and foreign exchange gain or loss in the statement of profit and loss. On 
derecognition of the asset, cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCJ is reclassified from the equity to Statement of profit and loss.Interest earned whilst holding FYOCI debt 
instrument is reported as interest income using the EIR method. 

Debt instrument at FVFPL 
FVTPL is a residual category for debt instruments. Any debt instrument, which does not meet the criteria for categorization as at amortized cost or as at FVOCI., is classified as at FVTPL. 

In addition, the Project SPY Group may elect to designate a debt instrument, which otherwise meets amort12ed cost or FYOCI e,nteria., as at FVTPL. However, such election 1s allowed only if 
doing so reduces or eliminates a measurement or recognition inconsistency (referred to as ' accounting mismatch' ). The Project SPY Group has designated certain debt instrument as at FVTPL. 

Debt instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes recognized in the Statement of profit and loss. 

Equity investments 
All equity investments in scope of IND AS 109 are measured at fair value. Equity instruments which are held for trading are classified as at FVTPL. For all other equity instruments, the Project 
SPY Group may make an irrevocable election to present in other comprehensive income subsequent changes in the fair value The Project SPV Group makes such election on an instrurnent­
byinstrurnent basis. The classification is made on initial recognition and is irrevocable 

If the Project SPY Group decides to classify an equity instrument as at FVOCI, then all fair value changes on the instrument, excluding dividends, are recognized in the OCI There 1s no recycling 
of the amounts from OCI to P&L, even on sale of investment However, the Project SPY Group may transfer the cumulative gain or loss within equity. 

Equity instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes recognized in the Statement of profit and loss. 

Derecognition 
A financial asset ( or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Project SPY Group of similar financial assets) is pnmarily derecognised (i .e. removed from the Project SPY Group's 
consol.idated balance sheet) when-

- The rights to receive cash flows from the asset has expired, or 
-The Project SPY Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a thrrd party 
under a 'pass-through' arrangement; and either (a) the Project SPY Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Project SPY Group has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

When the Project SPV Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered mto a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the 
risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, die Project SPV Group 
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Project SPV Group' s continuing involvement. In that case, the Project SPY Group also recognises an associated liability. The 
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Project SPY Group has retained 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the Project SPY Group could be required to repay 
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Impairment of financial assets 

In accordance with IND AS I 09, the Project SPY Group applies expected credit loss (ECL) model for measurement and recognition of impairment loss on the following financial assets and credit 
risk exposure · 

-Financial assets that are debt instruments, and are measured at amortised cost e.g., loans, debt securities, deposits, trade receivables and bank balance 
-Financial assets that are debt instruments and are measured as at FVOCI 
-Lease receivables under IND AS 17 
-Trade receivables or any contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset that result from transactions that are within the scope of IND AS 18 (referred to as contractual revenue 

receivables' in these financial statements) 

-Loan commitments which.are not measured as at FVTPL 
-Financial guarantee contracts which are not measured as at FYTPL 
The Project SPY Group follows 'simplified approach· for recognition of impainnent loss allowance on. 
-Trade receivables; and 
-Other receivables 

The application of simplified approach does not require the ProJect SPY Group to track changes in credit risk Rather, it recognises impairme.nt loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each 
repoi:ting date, right from its initial recognition 

For recognition of impairment loss on other financial assets and risk exposure, the Project SPY Group determines that whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial 
recognition. [f credit risk has not increased significantly, 12-month ECL is used to provide for impairment loss However, if credit risk has increased significantly, Lifetime ECL is used. lf, in a 
subsequent period, credit quality of the instrument improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. then the entity reverts to recognising 
impairment loss allowance based on 12-month ECL 

Lifetime ECL are the expected credit losses resulting from all possible default events over· the expected life of a financial instrument. The 12-month ECL is a portion of the lifetime ECL which 
results from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. 

ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Project SPY Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the entity expects to receive (i .e., all 
cash shortfalls), discounted at the original EIR. When estimating the cash flows, an entity is required to consider-

-All contractual terms of the financial instrument (including prepayment, extension, call and similar options) over the expected life of the financial instrument. However, in rare cases when the 
expected life oftl1e financial instrument cannot be estimated reliably, tl1en the entity is required to use the remaining contractual term of the financial instrument. -

-Cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms 
-Financial assets measured as at amortised cost, contractual revenue receivables and lease receivables: ECL is presented as an allowance, i.e., as an integral part of the measurement of those 

assets in the balance sheet. The allowance reduces the net carrying amount. Until the asset meets write-off criteria, tile Project SPY Group does not reduce impairment allowance from tile gross 
carrying amount. 

Fina ncial lia bili ties 
Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabi lities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through Statement of profit and loss, loans and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 
The Project SPY Group's financial liabilities include trade and otller payables, loans and borrowings including bank overdrafts and derivative financial instruments 

Subsequent measurement 
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on ilieir classification, as described below: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through Statement of profit and loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through statement of 
profit and loss. Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near terro This category also includes derivative financial 
instruments entered into by tile Project SPY Group tllat are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by lND AS I 09 

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit and loss. 

Loans and borrowings 
This is the category most relevant to the ProJect SPV Group. After initial recognition. interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using tile EIR method_ 
Gains and losses are recognised in statement of profit and loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through tile ElR amortisation process 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the ElR The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs 
in the statement of profit and loss_ 

This category generally applies to borrowings For more infom1ation refer note 16. 

Derecognition 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or exprres When an existing financial liability is replaced by anotl1er from tl1e same lender 
on substantially different terms, or tile terms of an existing liability are substantially modified. such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit and loss. 

OffieUing of financial in!ilruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and tile net amount is reported in the standalone balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and 
tllere is an. intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

3 15 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalent in the balance sheet comprises of cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents cons 1st of cash and short-term deposits, as defined above, as they are considered an integral part of the Project SPV 
Group's cash management. 

3.16 Cash dividend to equity holders of the Project SPV Group 
The Project SPY Group recognises a Liability to make cash or non-cash distributions to equity holders of the parent when tile distribution is authorised and tile distribution is no longer at tl1e 
discretion of the Project SPY Group As per the corporate laws in India, a distribution is authorised when it is approved by the shareholders A corresponding amount is recognised directly in 
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3.17 lmpairment of non-financial assets 
The Project SPY Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is 
required, the Project SPY Group estimates the asset's recoverable amount An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's (CGU) fair value less costs of 
disposal and its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset. unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets 
or Project SPY Group's of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset. [n determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate 
valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators. 

The Project SPY Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared separately for each of the Project SPY Group's CGUs to which the 
individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations generally cover a period of five years. For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project 
future cash flows after the fifth year. To estimate cash flow projections beyond periods covered by the most recent budgets/forecasts, the Project SPY Group extrapolates cash flow projections in 
the budget using a steady or declining growth rate for subsequent years, unless an increasing rate can be justified. In any case, this growth rate does not exceed tbe long-term average growth rate 
for the products, industries, or country or countries in which the entity operates, or for the market in which the asset is used 

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determme whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have 
decreased. If such indication exists, the Project SPY Group estimates the asset's or CGU's recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a 
change in the assumptions used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not 
exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such 
reversal is recognised in the statement of profit and loss 

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at 31st March and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU ( or Project SPY Group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relares When the recoverable amount of the 
CGU is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. lmpairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually as at 31st March at the CGU level, as appropriate, and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 
impaired. 

3.18 Earnings per unit 
Basic earnings per unit are calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the period attributable to unitholders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the period. For the 
purpose of calculating diluted earnings per unit, the net profit or loss for the period attributable to unitholders and the weighted average number of units outstanding during the period are 
adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential units. 

3.19 Asset held for sale 
Assets held for sale Non-current assets or disposal groups comprising of assets and liabilities are classified as ' held for sale ' when all of the following criteria's are met: (i) decision has been 
made to sell. (ii) the assets are available for immediate sale in its present condition (iii) the assets are being actively marketed and (iv) sale has been agreed or is expected to be concluded within 
12 months of the Balance Sheet date. 
Subsequently, such non-<:urrent assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of its carrying value and fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets held for 
sale are not depreciated or amortised. 

3.20 Recent pronouncements 
Ministry of Corporate Affairs ("MCA") notifies new standards or amendments to the existing standards under Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time For 
the period ended March 31 , 2025, New notified standards of MCA are not applicable to the group 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 
(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 
Note 4.1 : Property, Plant and Equipment 

Gross Block/ Carrying value 
As at March 31, 2023 
Additions during the year 
Disposals during the year 
As at March 31, 2024 
Additions during the year 
Disposals during the year 
Assets held for sale (refer note 29) 
As at March 31, 2025 

Accumulated Depreciation 
As at March 31, 2023 
Charge for the year 
Depreciation on disposals during the year 
As at March 31, 2024 
Charge for the year 
Depreciation on disposals during the year 
Assets held for sale (refer note 29) 
As at March 31, 2025 

Net Block/ Net Carrying value 
As at March 31, 2024 
As at March 31, 2025 

Building 

16.09 

16.09 

(10 .68) 
5.41 

8.60 
0.94 

9.54 
0.76 

(7.47) 
2.82 

6.55 
2.59 

Office 
Equipments 

1.31 

1.31 

(1 .06) 
0.25 

1.23 
0.01 

1.24 
0.00 

(1.01) 
0.23 

0.07 
0.02 

Note 4.2 : Other Intangible Assets and Intangible Assets under development 

Intangible Assets 
Toll Collection 

Total 
Rights 

Gross Block/ Carrying value 
As at March 31, 2023 2,37,527.40 2,37,527.40 
Additions during the year 92,261 .06 92,261 .06 
Disposals during the year 
As at March 31, 2024 3,29,788.46 3,29, 788.46 
Additions during the year 77,101.70 77,101.70 
Disposals during the year 
Assets held for sale (refer note 29) (1 ,32,672.86) ( l ,32,672.86) 
As at March 31, 2025 2,74,217.30 2,74,217.30 

Amortisation 
As at March 31, 2023 9,109.10 9,109.10 
Charge for the year 3,648.04 3,648 04 
Depreciation on disposals during the year 
As at March 31, 2024 12,757.14 12,757.14 
Charge for the year 4,540.51 4,540.51 
Depreciation on disposals during the year 
Assets held for sale (refer note 29) (6,775.01) (6,775.01) 
As at March 31, 2025 10,522.64 10,522.64 

Net Block/ Net Carrying value 
As at March 31, 2024 ·3,17,031.32 3,17,031.32 
As at March 31, 2025 2,63,694.66 2,63,694.66 

Intangible assets under development 
As at March 31, 2023 2,421.67 
Additions 79,809.18 
Capitalised during the year (17,414.37) 
As at March 31, 2024 64,816.48 
Additions 63,622.79 
Capitalised during the year (77,101.70) 
As at March 31, 2025 51,337.57 

1t & equipments and Intangible assets given as security 

Computer 

0.30 

0.30 

(0. 16) 
0.15 

0.29 

0.29 

(0.15) 
0.14 

0.01 
0.01 

Furniture and 
Fixture 

0.39 

0.39 

(0.39) 

0.39 
0.01 

0.39 
0.00 

(0.39) 

0.00 
0.00 

Total 

18.10 

18.10 

(12.28) 
5.81 

10.51 
0.95 

11.47 
0.76 

(9.03) 
3.20 

6.63 
2.61 

,-R,,;Pr<i,n'fui nd Equipments and Lntangible assets are subject to first charge to secured long-term borrowings from the lenders of the Trust. 



lRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 
(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Financial Assets 
Note 5: Investments 
Investments in Mutual Funds 
Quoted (Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVTPL)) 
Canara Robeco Liquid Fund - Direct Plan - Growth 
Canara Robeco Overnight Fund - Direct Plan - Growth 
LIC MF Liquid Fund - Direct Plan - Growth 
LIC MF Overnight Fund - Direct Plan - Growth 
ABSL Liquid Fund - Direct Plan - Growth 
ABSL Liquid Fund - Regular Plan - Growth 
ABSL Overnight Fund - Regular Plan - Growth 
LGRD - Union Liquid Fund Growth - Direct 
HSBC Liquid Fund Direct Growth 
Bank oflndia Liquid Fund - Direct Growth 
Union Overnight Fund - Direct Growth 
SBI Liquid Fund - Direct Growth 

Total 

Aggregate book value of quoted investments 
Market value of quoted investments 

Face value 

1,000 
1,000 
1,000 
l ,000 

100 
100 

1,000 
l ,000 
1,000 
1,000 
1,000 
1,000 

No. of Units March 31, 2025 

49,182.70 152.87 
l ,75,269. 75 231.l 7 

6,834 .92 32.19 
7,563.33 10.01 

94,199.49 39.44 
32,465.00 13.44 
12,349.62 16.93 

28,811.81 74.46 

3,42,252 84 460.06 
2,07,079.41 839.90 

1,870.47 

1,856.04 
1,870.47 

Refer note 33 for Fair Value measurement and note 35 for information about Group's exposure to Financial risk. 

No. of Units March 31, 2024 

31,932.12 92.40 

8,064.54 10.01 

2,22,851 .68 86.84 

44,797.38 104.31 
34,375 85 82.71 

9,954.90 27.68 

2,96, 120.25 1 ll9 .12 

1,523.07 

1,512.65 
1,523.07 



mB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 

(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

ote 6: Trade receivable 
(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 

Current 

- Related parties (Refer note 48) 

- Others 

Total 

The group has not identified any credit impairment loss as at March 31 , 2025 and March 31 , 2024. 

March 31, 2025 

122.50 

122.50 

Refer note 33 for Fair Value measurement and note 35 for information about Group's exposure to Financial risk. 

Note 7: Other financial assets 
(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 

Non-current 
Bank guarantee margin receivable 

- Related parties (Refer note 48) 

Bank deposits with maturity more than 12 months* 

Security and other deposits 

Total 

*Debt service reserve account 

182.79 

182.79 

Bank deposits are marked lien / pledged against the non current secured loan as per term loan agreement with the lenders. 

March 31, 2024 

0.51 

67.64 

68.15 

30.95 

4,347.80 

29.35 

4,408.10 

The deposits to the extent of Rs. Nil (March 31 , 2024 : Rs. 4,347.80 million) maintained by the Project SPY Group with bank includes time 
deposits, which are held against Debt Service Reserve (DSR) as per terms stated in Financing Agreement. 

Bank deposits earn interest at the rate of 6.80% to 7. 70% p.a for March 31, 2024. 

Refer note l 6 for details of security against term loans. 

Refer note 33 for Fair Value measurement and note 35 for information about Group's exposure to Financial risk. 

Current 
lnterest accrued on fixed deposits 

Interest receivable from others 

Bank guarantee margin receivable 

- Related parties (Refer note 48) 

Retention money receivable 

- from NHAI & others 

Other receivables 

- Related parties (Refer note 48) 

- Other parties 

Security and other deposits 

Receivable from Government Authorities (NHAf) 

Total 
Refer note 33 for Fair Value measurement and note 35 for information about Group's exposure to Financial risk. 

[4.34 

0.32 

61.88 

472.81 

3.37 

160.30 

l.41 

1, 170.51 

1,884.94 

63 .74 

10.63 

638.59 

0.01 

99.85 

10.99 

1,522.49 

2,346.30 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 

(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Note 8: Deferred tax assets / Deferred tax liabilities 

Deferred tax liabilities 

Difference in carrying value of Property, Plant and equipm~nt and Intangible assets as 
per tax books & financial books 

Fair valuation on current investments 

Deferred tax assets: 

Business losses 

Resurfacing Expenses 

Deferred tax liabilities 

Deferred tax assets 

Deferred Tax assets on Fair valuation of other payables# 

Deferred Tax Assets 

March 31, 2025 

33,515 .90 

3.42 

31 ,796.81 

1,027.93 

694.58 

1,118.63 

1,118.63 

March 31, 2024 

351.58 

70.69 

280.89 

2,229.78 

2,229.78 

# Standalone Trust is taxable at maximum rate of 42.74%, However, domestic tax rate applicable to the SPVs which is in the range of 25.168% to 
29.12% basis the section as per Income Tax Act, 196 l. 

Note 9: Other assets 

Non-current 

Mobilisation and other advance 

- related parties 

Prepaid expenses 

Duties and taxes receivable 

Total 

Current 

Mobilisation advances 

- Related parties (Refer note 48) 

Advance given to suppliers 

- Related parties (Refer note 48) 

- Others 

Duties and taxes receivable 

Prepaid expenses 

Contract assets 

Total 
Refer note 33 for Fair Value measurement and note 35 for information about Group's exposure to Financial risk. 

62.21 

2.66 

64.87 

14.81 

54.99 

39.02 

77.75 

512.64 

699.21 

12.00 

12.00 

100.74 

140.22 

48.70 

53.71 

126.39 

68.17 

537.93 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 

(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Note 10: Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash on hand 

Balances with banks: 

- In current accounts 

- In Escrow accounts* 

- In deposit with original maturity of less than 3 months 

Total 

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

12.56 19.36 

2,657.00 349.09 

400.44 477.22 

760.00 

3,070.00 1,605.67 

* First charge on above to the extent of amount payable as per the waterfall mechanism as defined in the Concession Agreement / Common Loan 
Agreement. 
Refer note 33 for Fair Value measurement and note 35 for information about Group's exposure to Financial risk. 

Note 11 : Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents 

Debt service reserve account with banks/ earmarked balance* 

-Maturity more than 3 months but less than 12 month 

- Maturity more than 12 months 

Major maintenance reserve account with banks/ earmarked* 

- Maturity more than 3 but less than 12 months 

Margin money deposits against bank guarantees* 

- Maturity more than 3 but less than 12 months 

Deposits with banks 

- Maturity more than 12 months 

Cash reserve* 

Total 

*Debt service reserve account/ major maintenance reserve account and cash reserve 

4,549.76 

714.94 

214.00 

2.00 

5,480.70 

Bank deposits are marked lien/ pledged against the non current secured loan as per term loan agreement with the lenders . 

3,403.90 

190.00 

1,985.50 

91.00 

2.00 

1,000.00 

6,672.40 

The deposits to the extent of Rs.5 ,478.70 million (March 31, 2024 : Rs. 6,670.40 million) maintained by the Project SPY Group with bank 
includes time deposits, which are held against Debt Service Resetve (DSR) and Cash reserve (CR), as per terms stated in Financing Agreement. 

Bank deposits earn interest at the rate of 6.80% to 7.93% p.a. (March 31 , 2024: 5.50% to 7.75% p.a) . 

Refer note 16 for details of security against term loans. 

Refer note 33 for Fair Value measurement and note 35 for information about Group's exposure to Financial risk. 

Note 12: Current tax assets (net) 
Advance income tax (net of provision: Rs.256.12 million, March 31, 2024: Rs.5 .25 
million) 

Total 

140.90 174.41 

140.90 174.41 



JRB Infrastructu re Tru..tl 

Notes to Consolid.atcd FinanciaJ Sf•lcmcnts for the ~·c;,1rt.'fldcd March Jl ~ 2025 

Note 13: Unit capit>1I 

Ali amounts arc in lNR million unless othen,i.s:e stated) 

Unit capibl .. 

Authori,.cd unit c.1.p ita..1 

ln,i.,rcasc.: / \doc.rease) during the year 

tuiucd,. subscribed and paid up unit capital 

Al the beg.inning of the year 
Issued during the year 
Relwn t.'lf Unil capital (refer note 38 and 48) 
Tobi 

Term-'! I righfW; attached to units 

Th-¢ Trusl ha s only one cla.-.s o r units. Each unil repre.'icnls a.n undi,·1dcd b.!ncficial intt::r(:St in I.he Trusl E.., ch holder of wul. is enti tled to orte \ 'Ole .(:k!r unil 

Asat 
March JI , 2025 

1.50.888.26 

1,50,888.26 

March 31 , 2025 
1,35,091.23 

17,149.23 

( 1,352.20) 

1.50,888.26 

A~at 
March JI, 2024 

1.35.091 22 

1..15.091.22 

March JI, 2024 
87.929.33 
51.1464? 

(3.984.60) 

1..15.091.n 1 

A unithold~r's right is limited to the right lo requi r~ due admmi:s u-..ition of the Trus t in accordance with the pro\'isions of the Trust Dc:ed and the lm-estmenl Manag.emc:nt AgnxmenL 

• Under the pro,isions of the InvlT ReguJations. Trust is requirOO co distribute to Unitholders not less than 90'¼ of the nd. distributable cash flows of the Tru.-.1 for 4!3cb financial yc:ar. Accordingly. a portion of the Unit Capital contain1 <\,COlllractual 
obligation of the Trust to pay to its Unitholdcrs cash distributions. Hence. the Unit Capital is a compound financial instrument which contain. .. equicy and liabilil.)' components ln accordance wilh lnd AS 32 - Financia l lnslruITk.,-nls: Presentation.. 
Howen!J·, in accordal'IIX with Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 or the .SEBl circular, the Unit capital have been presented as "Equil),- in order lo comply " ·ith the requiremen~ or Secti(ln 1-1 of Chapter 3 to the SEBI circular, deal ing with the minimum 
presentation and disclosure requirements for key financia l stah.:ments Consistent with Unit Capital being clnss-ifiOO as equity. the distributions lo Unitholdcrs is also presen tt:d in Statement of Changes in Unitholders" Equity wlk.'11 I.he dlstribution.'i 
are approv"'"(( by the Boord of Directors of the Im '<..-slment Manager 

Units an: classified as equi ty. lncreme:ntal costs auributabk to the issue of units arc directly recorded in equit)'. net orta..'X 

Reconciliation or un.its out.danding at the beginning autd at 1he end t1f the repGrting period. 
Units i!f:i1:ucd, :i.uh~cribcd a.nd fulh· paid 

Marchll , 2025 

No. ofuni1s 

Al 11w b<ginning of the year 
Issued during !he year (refer a & b below\ 
Return or Unit caoital (refer note 38 and 48) 
Tot~I 

1, 11 ,36,93.265 

5,84 .00,000 

Amount 
(R.,. inmillion) 

1,35,091.23 

17.149.23 
{1 ,352.20) 

1,50,888.26 

M~rch 3 I, 2024 

N-0.ofunih: 

87.92,93.265 
23,44 .00.000 

1,11,.36,93,265 

Amount 
<R, . in million) 

87.929.33 
5 1,146.49 
(3,984 .60) 

a) ·n1c Trust offt:n:d rights issue of up to :5 ,84,00.000 umls of the Trust (the ..,unil'i ' ), for cash at a pl'ice of Rs. 293 .65 per unit (the 4 issue price "). aggregating to Rs L 7. 149.13 mill.ion to L11e eligible unitholders (as defined in the l~Hert:.lfOtfor) on a 
rights basis lo Sponsor and GIC affiliates in the ratio or 51:49 held hy them on the record date, being. on CA:cember 13 . 2024 ti.he · issue·) in ac.xordancc " i th the lnvlT Rcgula1jons The Boord of Dircclors or M'.MK Toll Rood Pri,·atc Limit«I 
(' [nvl:stment Manager'). considered and appro,\!d allolmc.:nl of 5.84.00_000 rights units lo the eligible unithold!!rs of IRB I.nfrastruclure Trust on Decxmber 20. 2024 
b\ The Trust olforcd rights issue of up to 9.20.00.000 units of the Trust (the ' units "), for cash at a price of Rs. 244.86 pc-r unit (Uie "is.sue piicc ' ). •w"l!"ting lo R.s. 22.527.00 million to 11w eligible urutholders (as defined in the lotl"1"of0ffer) on a 
rights basis: to Sponsor and GIC affiliates in the ratio of 51 :49 held by them on the record date, being. on March 12 . 2024 (the ' lssuc ' ) in ac.xorrlance with the lm·IT Regula tions. The Boord of Directors of~ Toll Road Pri,-nte Limited 
(' lnvcstmi...~l Man.ager' ). considered and appro,-00 all4..'llnlt!"llt of 9.20.00,000 righL-;: w1i ts to the eligible unitholdt..-rs of I.RB Infrastructure Trust on March 21 , 2024 
c) TI1e Trust offered rights issue ofup lo 14.24.00,000 unics of the Trust (the ' units"), for cash al a p,icc of Rs. 200.?8 pa uni t (llw ' issue price·) , aggregating 10 Rs 28,619.50 million to the eligible unitholdors (as defined in the Lou-,· ofO0c-r) on 
a rights basis lo Sl'.k)nsor and GIC affilia tes in the ratio of :51 :49 held by them on the record date, being on Juty 28. 2023 (the "L-.sue' ) in accordance with tl1e [nvIT Regulations. lne Boord of Directors of tviMK Tol.1 Roo.d Pri,-a1e Limjwd 
(' ln,·cstmenl Managc-r·). considen:d and approwd allotmcnl of 14.14 .00.000 rights units lo tl,e eligible uni lholders ofLRB Infrastructure Trust on August 10. 2023 

Details uf unitholdcrs holding m-0·re than 5•1• units 

Name of unitholder-

[RB lnfrasi111c1ure De, -elope,'S Limited 

Cinu:a lm·IT lm·estments B.V 
Anahera lm"t!sUncnt Pti:!. Ltd. 
Brick.layers lnv~tmcnt Pt.e. Ltct 
Chiswick (nvestmenl Ptc. Ltd. 

Strctford lm•eslffil.."llt Pte. Ltd 
Dagenham lnvcstmc,t Pte. Lui 

Name of unitholde.r 

lRB lnli"asUUGtw·e Dcn~lopers Llmi1ed 

Anah\.-ra Investml.!nl Pte_ Ltd. 
Bricklayer.;; Investment Pte.. Ltd 
Chts" ick: lnveslm<.:nl Ptt:. Ltd. 
Su·ctford lnvestrr1' ... 'Tl t Ptc. Ltd 
Dap..t!nham ln\"Cstmcnt Ple. Ltd 

Tobi.I 

Dcl;,11_ih of Spon.~or un it.'i 

IRB lnli-as1I1Jclurc (A."'.-elopers LlmitOO 

Note: I-a Subordiruaitc Debt 

At th!! beginning of the ycai 
locrca::;~ / {decrease) dwi ng the year 
Tohll (Refer note ~8) 

Note: 15 Other Equi~' 
AlU1but.ablc to the unit holders 

Ofhcr rcscn·e~ 
C:.ipital Resen·e 

At the beginning or the yea l 
lncrcase during. the year on account of acqui::;ltion 

Al the end or the )"Car (A) 

Retained c.tmings 

At thl! li....--glru1i~ of the year 
Profit for the year 
Uni t [ssue <!xpenses 
Rctum on Capital ( lntc:resl distribution) (rdc!f" note J8 and -18) 
Tota] retained earnings (B ) 

Tot"I Other Equil)· (A+B) 

Man:h 31, 2025 

No. of units 

59,80.39.840 
28, 12 ,11.470 
7,84 .23, 18 1 
6,99,57.56 1 
8,37 .57,561 
4,15,46 ,091 

1,9 1,57.561 

1.17,20,93,265 

March 31 , 202-1 

51% 
2-4% 

71
1/0 

6% 

7% 

4% 
21v. 

100¾ 

No.ofunit5 0/o of total unit c-Apital 
56.82,39,840 
27 ,86,23, 18 I 
6,65.57,56 1 
6,65.57.56 1 
6,67,57.56 1 

6,69.57,56 1 
1,11,.36,93,265 

5 1% 

25% 
6% 
6% 

6% 

6% 
100-/o 

Much 31, 2025 

59 .80.39,840 

Ma:rch31 , 20U 

No.of units •1• of tot.a.I unit capital 
56 .82,.39.840 

27 .86.23 . 181 
6.65,57.561 
6,65,57 ,56 1 

6.67.57 .561 
6.69.57,561 

1,11,.36,93.265 

Ma rch 31 , 2023 

No. of units 

44.84,39,840 

21 ,98,23 .18 1 
5.27.57.56 1 
5.27,57,56 1 

5.27.57.561 
5,27.57.56 1 

87 ,92.93,265 

5 1% 

25% 
6% 

6% 

6o/. 
6% 

100°/4 

100¾ 

% change during the 

0"/4 
24% 

-18% 
0% 

1% 
-2°/o 

-4% 

% change during the 

0% 
0% 
()% 

0% 

0% 
0'¼, 

March 31 , 20H 

5 1% 56,82 .39,840 5 1% 

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

16.916.65 
16.9 16.65 

16,916.65 16,9 16.65 

March 31 , 2025 Much 31, 202-l 

2.948.97 

2,9-18.97 

March 31, 2025 March 31, 202~ 

( 17,6-l(JO-l ) (10.395.80) 

(3 .077 -ll \ (6.650.38) 
(1 4.07) ( 144 .3 1) 

(812 .%\ 
(2 1,544.48) 

( I 8~~95.51) 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 

(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Financial liabilities 

Note 16: Borrowings 

Non-current Borrowings 

Secured 

Term Loans 

Indian rupee loan from banks 

Less: Current maturities expected to be settled within 12 months from balance sheet date 

Sub Total (a) 

Indian rupee loan from financial institutions 

Less: Current maturities expected to be·settled within 12 months from balance sheet date 

Sub Total (b) 

Non-convertible debentures 

Less: Current maturities expected to be settled within 12 months from balance sheet date 

Sub Total (c) 

Less: Unamortised transaction cost (d) 

Unsecured 
Unlisted Redeemable non-convertible debentures - Associates (Refer note 48) 

Unlisted Redeemable non-convertible debentures - Others 

Unamortised transaction cost on Debenture 

EIR impact on Debenture (Refer note 48) 

Sub Total (e) 
Total non current borrowings (f=a+b+c+d+e) 

Current Borrowings 

Current maturities of long-term borrowings 

- Indian rupee loan from banks 

- Indian rupee loan from financial institutions 

- Non-convertible debentures 

Unsecured loan 

- Interest free from related parties (Refer note 48) 

Interest accrued but not due on borrowings 

Total current borrowings (g) 

Total borrowings (f+g) 

Aggregate secured loans 

Aggregate unsecured loans 

March 31, 2025 

l ,35, 189. 75 

(1,106.51) 

1,34,083.24 

28,026.81 

(87.50) 

27,939.31 

27,971.72 

(175.00) 

27,796.72 

(3 ,187.98) 

L,599.20 

1,536.40 

(7.65) 

619.19 

3,747.14 

1,90,378.43 

1,106.51 

87.50 

175.00 

309.51 

9.81 

1,688.33 

1,92,066. 76 

1,88,000.30 

4,056.65 

Refer note 33 for Fair Value measurement and note 35 for information about Group's exposure to Financial risk. 

Borrowing includes terms loans from banks, financials institutions and secured Non-convertible debentures. 

March 31, 2024 

1,45,510.79 

(787.41) 

1,44, 723.38 

45,697.98 

(303.06) 

45,394.92 

28,035.89 

(64.17) 

27,971.72 

(3,953.68) 

2,14,136.34 

787.41 

303 .06 

64.17 

0.02 

24.27 

1,178.93 

2,15,315.27 

2, 15,290.98 

0.02 

March 31, 2025: Rs. 1,91 , 188.28 million; March 31, 2024: Rs. 219,244.66 million; pertains to term loans taken by SPY's (Special Purpose 
Vehicles) & Trust for Project financing. 

Rate of interest 

Rate of interest on the lndi 
10.65% p.a.) and are se 

Secured redeemable 

e loan from banks and financial institutions varies from 8.60% to I 1.00% p.a. (March 31 2024: 7.75% to 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 

(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Nature of security 

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

i) Secured by first charge on the movableiirnmovable asset by way of mortgage/hypothecation; first charge on all intangible assets, assignment of 
all receivables; book debts, loans and advances extended by the Borrower to SPVs and all rights and interest in project, both present and future, 
excluding the Project Assets of respective companies; 

ii) Secured by first charge over all the equity shares, Preference shares, Debentures representing I 00% of such securities. 

iii) Secured by first charge on the Escrow Account, Debt Service Reserve Account and any other reserves and other bank accounts of the 
respective Companies. 

iv) Unconditional and irrecovable corporate guarantee by each of the RG SPV's, in a form and manner satisfactory to the Finance parties (the 
"Corporate Guarantee"). 
v) An irrevocable and unconditional corporate guarantee from IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited to meet shortfall (if any) between debt due 
and termination payments received from Concessioning Authority in case of termination of Concession Agreement for any reason in case of 
Project SPV's. 

vi) Pledge of securities of obligators created pursuant to the terms ofloan Agreement held as common security for the benefit of Rupee lenders. 

Repayment terms 
The Non Convertible Debentures of YA TL are redeemable at par on in August 2027 for Rs.12,150 million and Rs.3,000 million are repayable in 
structured monthly installments commencing from October 2027. 

The Non Convertible Debentures of SYTL are redeemable at par on in September 2027 for Rs.4,910 million and Rs. l ,000 million are repayable in 
structured monthly installments commencing from November 2027. 

The Non Convertible Debenture of MBEL shall be repaid to the Debenture holders at the end of the tenure of the project. Interest on debenture 
shall be payable on quarterly basis from the date of the COD. 

The lndian rupee loans from Banks, Financial Institutions, Non Convertible Debentures(other than above) are repayable in structured 
monthly/quarterly installments such that the total tenor does not exceed 22 years and repayable as per the repayment schedule specified in common 
loan agreement with the Lenders. 

Note 17: Trade Payables 

Current 

Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 

Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises 

- Related parties (Refer note 48) 

- Others 

Total 

Note 18: Other financial liabilities 
Non-current 

Retention money payable 

- Others 

Other payable 

- related parties (Refer Note 48) 

Total 

March 31, 2025 

7.06 

7,967.15 

438.03 

8,412.24 

3.34 

22,270.80 

22,274.14 

March 31, 2024 

2.41 

4,15l.31 

1,460.40 

5,614.12 

4.07 

40,760.96 

40,765.03 
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(All amounts are in [NR million unless otherwise stated) 

Current 
Obligation for construction 

Director sitting fees payable 

Retention money payable 

- related parties (Refer Note 48) 

- others 

Deposit 

Revenue share payable to NlW 

Other payables 

- related parties (Refer Note 48) 

- others 

Total 

Note 19: Other current liabilities 

Mobilisation advance from customer 

- others 

Advance from customer 

- others 

Advance Received from UPEIDA / Authorities 

Duties and taxes payable 

Total 

Note 20: Provisions 

Non-current 

Major maintenance expenses 

Total 

Current 
Major maintenance expenses 

Total 

The movement in provision for resurfacing expenses is as follows: 

Opening balance 

Obligation on new to11 projects 

Utilised / reversed during the year 

Assets held for sale (refer note 29) 

Closing balance 

March 31, 2025 

l.03 

779.11 

131.26 

0.37 

239.39 

0.04 

1,151.20 

88.25 

745.36 

140.57 

974.18 

588.03 

588.03 

1,390.59 

1,390.59 

3,572.57 

2,678.50 

(2,279.10) 

(1 ,993.35) 

1,978.62 

March 31, 2024 

178.54 

1.24 

946.54 

287.75 

1.18 

455.58 

9.84 

2.93 

1,883.60 

78.68 

157.31 

235.99 

1,336.98 

1,336.98 

2,235 .58 

• 2,235.58 

2,965.03 

2,029.54 

(1,422.00) 

3,572.57 

The above provisions are based on current best estimation of expenses that may be required to fulfill the resurfacing obligation as per the service 
concession agreement with regulatory authorities. It is expected that significant portion of the costs will be incurred over the period. The actual 
expense incurred may vary from the above. No reimbursements are expected from any sources against the above obhgat.Ion 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 
(All amounts are in [NR million unless otherwise stated) 

Note 21 : Revenue From Operations 

Contract Revenue (road construction) 

Income arising out of toll collection (gross) 

Less: Revenue share to NHAI 

Income arising out of toll collection (net) 

Less: Revenue share to NHAIIHMDA- Fastag 

Total 

Note 22 : Other income 
Interest income on 

Bank deposits 

Others 

Dividend income on 

- Other investments (non-trade, current) 

Profit on sale of investments (net) 

Fair value gain on investments 

Other non operating income 

Total 

Note 23 : Operating expenses 

Contract expenses (Refer note 48) 

Operation and maintenance expenses (Refer note 48) 

Site and other direct expenses 

Technical consultancy & supervision charges 

Total 

Note 24 : Finance costs 
Interest expense 

- Banks and financial institutions 

- Debentures 

Subtotal (A) 

Other borrowing cost 

-Interest unwinding on loan/retention money (Refer note 48) 

-Interest unwinding of Trade Payable-Associates (Refer note 48) 

.-Unwinding of discount on provision of MMR 

-Amortisation of transaction cost 

-Other finance costs 

Subtotal (B) 
Total (A+B) 

Note 25: Depreciation and amortisation expenses 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (refer note 4) 

Amortisation on intangible assets (refer note 4) 

Total 

Note 26: Other expenses 

Rent 

Rates & taxes 

Membership & subscription fees 

Printing & stationery 

Security expenses 

Corporate social responsibilities expenditure 

Director sitting fees 

Travelling & conveyance 

Miscellaneous expenses 

Bank charges 

Total 

Note 27 : Audit fees 

As auditors: 

- Statutory audit fees 

- Limited review fees 

- Reimbursement of expenses 

In other capacity: 

- Other services ( certification fees) 

Total 

Note : The above values are inclusive of Goods & Service Tax (GST) 

Note 28 : Tax expenses 

Current t:ax 

Deferred tax (credit) / charge 

Total 

Year ended l\farch 31 , 
2025 

22,881.96 

38,429.79 

(7,795 .24) 

30,634.55 

(170.27) 

53,346.24 

733 .91 

8.09 

170.67 

4.74 

31 .86 

949.27 

21, 130.48 

2,309.50 

145.92 

73.08 

23,658.98 

18,623.27 

2,552 .14 

21,175.41 

48.71 

369.60 

352.78 

51.49 

822.58 
21,997.99 

0.76 

4,540.51 

4,541.27 

0.06 

3.83 

0.05 

0. 12 

1.85 

18.20 

5.02 

3.47 

22.37 

12.07 

67.04 

8.38 

601 

0.94 

3.81 

19.14 

266.47 

(362.82) 

(96.35) 

Year ended March 31, 
2024 

19,154 21 

27,470.26 

(7,546.06) 

19,92420 

(147.66) 

38,930.75 

563 .24 

3.73 

0.03 

190.86 

10.42 

71.55 

839.83 

18,037.07 

1,719.43 

85 .90 

33.65 

19,876.05 

10,773.55 

2,675.68 

13,449.23 

48.84 

187.67 

310.10 

226.41 

234.85 

1,007.87 
14,457.10 

0.95 

3,648.04 

3,648.99 

0.07 

44.16 

0.05 

0.89 

16.10 

3.31 

5.53 

37 .31 

9.16 

116.58 

7.30 

4.15 

0.23 

0.80 

12.48 

5.25 

( 1, 193.09) 
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Note 29 : Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale 

The Board of Directors of Investment Manager have approved a preliminary and non-binding offer (the "NBO") issued to the IRB Inv IT Fund ("Public [nvIT"), on 
November 14, 2024. The NBO relates to the transfer of the five assets held by the Trust to the Public InvIT viz. IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited, IRB Westcoast 
Tollway Limited, Kaithal Tollway Limited, AE Tollway Limited and Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited ('Identified SPVs). Accordingly, as per [nd AS 105 - "Non­
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations", assets/liabilities related to these identified SPVs are classified as held for sale. 

The following major classes of assets and liabilities relating to these operations: 

Assets classified as held for sale 

Particulars ote 
For the year ended For the year ended 

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 
Non-current Assets 
Property, plant and equipment 4.1 3.26 -
Goodwill 293.52 
Other intangible assets 4.2 l,25,897.85 -
Other Financial Assets 7 0.11 -
Deferred Tax Assets 8 1,527.52 -
Subtotal (A) 1,27,722.26 

Current Assets 
i) Investments 5 176.87 -
ii) Trade receivables 6 46.97 -
iii) Cash and cash equivalents 10 307.43 -
iv) Bank balance other than (iii) 11 4,277.40 -
vi) Other financial assets 7 1,450.52 -
Current tax assets (net) 12 41.86 -
Other current assets 9 256.02 -
Subtotal (B) 6,557.07 -

Total assets classified as held for sale - (A)+ (B) 1,34,279.33 -

Liabilities classified as held for sale 

Particulars Note 
For the year ended For the year ended 

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 
Non-current Liabilities 
Financial liabilities 
i) Borrowings 16 60,023.17 -
ii) Other financial liabilities 18 19,969.14 -
Provisions 693.48 -
Subtotal (A) 80,685.79 

Current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 
i) Borrowings 16 1,286.61 -
ii) Trade payables -

a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 17 1.68 -
b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small 

1,853 .79 enterprises -
iii) Other financial Liabilities 18 1,037.79 -
Other current liabilities 19 44.20 -
Provisions 20 1,299.87 -
Subtotal (B) 5,523.94 -

Total liabilities classified as held for sale - (A)+ (B) 86,209.73 -

Subsequent to the year end, the Board of Investment Manager, at its meeting held on May 08, 2025, in line with strategic portfolio optimisation objectives, has approved 
amendment to its non-binding offer (NBO) for sale to the IRB lnvIT Fund ("Public InvlT") dated November 14, 2024, to include only three out of the originally 
proposed five assets viz. IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited, Kaithal Tollway Limited & Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited. However, the Trust continues to 
classify the originally proposed five assets as held for sale in accordance with the requirements of JND AS - I 05 - 'Non -current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
operations". The amended NBO dated May 08, 2025, is a non-adjusting event. 
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Note 30 : Contingent liabilities and Commitments 
a. Leases 
Rental expense recorded for short-term leases/ low-value lease was Rs.0.06 million (March 31 , 2024: Rs.0.07 million) 

b. Capital commitments 

Estimated value of contracts in capital account remaining to be executed 

SPV's have entered into agreement to avail toll operations and management services with Sponsor and Subsidiary of Sponsor. 

c. Contingent liabilities 

Contigent Liabilities 
Total 

As at 
March 31, 2025 

17,120.85 

As at 
March 31, 2025 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

28,594.95 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

a) UTL, CGTL and KGTL have filed Writ petition with Hon 'ble Rajasthan High Court with prayer to commence payment of Premium to National Highways Authority of 
Lndia (NHAI) six months post actual completion of the project construction work. The Hon 'ble High Court prima facie agreed with the contention of these companies and 
had provided interim relief from payment of premium. Vide judgement order dated 25th August, 2021 , the Hon 'ble High Court found merit in the contention of the 
companies and has directed the parties to resolve the dispute under Arbitration. The said matter is currently pending under .Arbitration. (Refer Note 39(b)) 

Note 31 : Trade payable 

Disclosure relating to suppliers registred under MSMED Act based on the information available with the respective companies in the Group: 

Particulars 

(a) Amount remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the year end: 
Principal amount 
Interest due thereon 

Total 
(b) Amount of interest paid by the group in terms of section 16 of the MS MED, along with the amount of the payment made 
to the supplier beyond the appointed day during the accounting period 

(c) Amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which have been paid but beyond tbe 
appointed day during the period) but without adding the interest specified under the MSMED, 2006 

( d) Amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the accounting period 

(e) The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding years, until such date when the interest 
dues as above are actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible expenditure under 
section 23 of the MSMED Act, 2006 

a) MSME ageing schedule as at 

Particulars 

MSME Undisputed Dues 
Less than l year 
1-2 Years 
2-3 Years 
More than 3 ears 

As at 
March 31, 2025 

7.06 

7.06 

As at 
March 31, 2025 

7.06 

Total dues to micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006 7.06 
There are no disputed dues to micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006. The amounts payable to MSME are not due for payments. 

b) Ageing of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises as at 

Particulars 

Undisputed Dues 
Unbilled Dues 
Less than l year 
1-2 Years 
2-3 Years 
More than 3 years 
Total dues to creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises as at 
There are no disputed dues to creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises. 

Asat 
March 31, 2025 

6,174.36 
2, 127.34 

70.51 
9.37 

23.60 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

2.41 

2.41 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

2.41 

2.41 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

2,833 .79 
1,847.87 

146.78 
491.75 
291.52 
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Note 32 : Intangible Asset under development ageing schedule 
a) Intangible asset under development 

Particula.-s 

Less than I year 
1-2 Years 
2-3 Years 
More than 3 ears 
Total 

Note 33 : Fair values 
Carrying amount 

As at As at 
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

Financial assets 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 
Other Financial assets 2.067.73 6,754.40 
Trade receivab.le 122.50 68.15 
Cash and cash equivalents 3,070.00 1,605.67 
Other Bank balances 5,480.70 6,672.40 

Financial assets measured at fair value through statement of Profit & Loss 
Investments (Quoted) 1,856.04 1,512.65 

Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 
Trade payables 8,412.24 5,614. 12 
Borrowings (net of transaction cost) 1,92,066.76 2, 15,315.27 
Other financial liabilities 1, 154.54 1,887.67 

FinanciaJ liabilities measured at fair value through statement of Profit & Loss 
Other financial liabilities 22,270.80 40,760.96 

As at 
March 31, 2025 

12,032.48 
23,204.62 
16,092.36 

8.11 
51,337.57 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

64,522.14 
212 .64 

54.59 
27. 11 

64,816.48 

Fair Value 
As at 

March 31, 2025 

2,067.73 
122.50 

3,070.00 
5,480.70 

1,870.47 

8,412.24 
1,92,066.76 

I, 154.54 

22,270.80 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

6,754.40 
68.15 

l,605.67 
6,672.40 

1,523 .07 

5,614. 12 
2, 15,315.27 

1,887.67 

40,760.96 

The management assessed that the fair vaJue of other financials assets, trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, other bank balance, trade payables, borrowings and 
other financial liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-tenn maturities of these instruments. 

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at wh.ich the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, 
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. 

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts that the Project SPY Group has determined that market participants would take into account when pricing the 
investments. 

Note 34: Fair values hierarchy 
ALI financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy described as follows, based on the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole. 

Level I : Quoted ( unadjusted) price in active market for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2: Valuation technique for which the lowest level input that has a significant effect on the fair value measurement are observed, either directly or indirectly . 
Level 3: Valuation technique for which the lowest level input has a significant effect on the fair value measurement is not based on observable market data. 

Quantitative disclosures fair value measurement hierarchy for fin:mcial instruments as at March 3 1, 2025: 

As at Fair value measurement at end of the reporting period using 

Assets at FVTPL 
Investments (Quoted) 

Liabilities at FVTPL 
Otl1er financial liabilities 

March 31, 2025 

1,870.47 

22,270.80 

Quantitative disclosures fair value measurement hierarchy for financial instruments as at March 3 1. 2024: 

Assets at FVTPL 
Investments (Quoted) 

Liabilities at FVTPL 
Other financial liabilities 

There has been no transfer between Level I , Level 2 & Level 3 during the period. 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

1,523 .07 

40,760.96 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

L,870.47 

22 ,270.80 

Fair value measurement at end of the reporting period using 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

L,523 .07 

40,760.96 

Sensitivity: Higher probability by 5% and lower discount rate by 0.5% will decrease the fair value by Rs. 4,490.28 million (31st March 2024 - Rs. 4,397.66 million). Lower 
probability by 5% and higher discount rate by 0.5% will increase fair value by Rs. 4,279.68 million (3 1st March 2024 - Rs. 4, 17 l.25 million) of other payables. 

Fair vaJue movement for Payable to IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited is as under: 

Opening balance as at lst April 2024 (Previous period: 1st April 2023 ) 
Add : Recognised during the period/ year 

_,,,.~=~~ayment of deferred consideration 

As at 
March 31, 2025 

40,760.96 
1,429.82 

48 .71 
(19,968.69) 
22,270.80 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

35,778.03 
4,935.37 

47.56 

40,760.96 
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Note 35: Financial risk management objectives and policies 
The Project SPY Group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to 
monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Project SPY Group' s 
activities. 

The Board of Directors have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Project SPY Group 's risk management framework. 
ln perfonning its operating, investing and financing activities, the Group's is exposed to the Credit risk, Liquidity risk and Currency risk. 

Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that d1e fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types 
of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk and corrunodity risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and 
borrowings, deposits, FYTOCL investments and derivative financial instruments. 

Interest rate risk_ 
Interest rate risk is tbe risk that the fair value or future cash 'flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group's exposure 
to ilie risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group's long-terrn debt obligations wiili floating interest rates. 

The Project SPY Group manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed and variable rate borrowings. 

Interest rate sensitivity 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of loans and borrowings affected, after excluding the 
credit exposure on fixed rate borrowing. With all other variables held constant, the Group's profit before tax is affected through the impact on floating rate borrowings, as 
follows: 

If the interest rate is 50 basis point higher (lower), ilie impact on profit or loss would be 
- Decreased by 
- lncreased by 

Credit risk on financial assets 

As at 
March 31, 2025 

816.08 
(816.08) 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

956.04 
(956.04) 

Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed 
to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign 
exchange transactions and other financial instruments. 

Financial instruments 
Credit risk from balances with banks, trade receivables, loans and advances and financial institutions is managed by the Group's management in accordance with the 
Group's policy. Lnvestments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and within credit Limits assigned to each counterparty. Counterparty credit limits 
are reviewed by the top management on an annual basis, and may be updated thro11gbout the year subject to approval of the Company's board of directors. The limits are set 
to minimise the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss through counterparty's potential failure to make payments. 

Trade receivables and L-Oans and Advances 
Customer credit risk and Loan.sand advances is managed by each business unit subject to the Group's establ.ished policy, procedures and control relating to customer credit 
risk management. An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major trade receivables and loan and advances. The Group has not 
identifed any impairment loss as at March 3 l , 2025. 

The following table provides information about the ageing of gross carrying amount of trade recievables as at : 

Gross Carrying Amount 

Undisputed Trade recievables -considered good 
Less than 6 months 
6 months - 1 year 
1-2 Years 
2-3 Years 
More than 3 years 
Total 

Price risk 

As at 
March 31, 2025 

122.00 

0.01 

0.49 
122.50 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

12.96 
33 .02 

0.51 
21.66 
68.15 

NHAI issues a circular prior to the financial year defining the toll rates to be charged from the customers. The Group is exposed to movement in toll rate as set by NHAL 

Other financial assets 
Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Project SPV Group in accordance with the Group 's policy Investments of surplus funds 
are made only in highly marketable debt instruments with appropriate maturities to optimise ilie cash return on instruments while ensuring sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities. 

Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Project SPY Grnup may not be able to meet its present and future cash and collateral obligations without incurring unacceptable losses. 
The group's objective is to, at all times maintain optimum levels of liquidity to meet its cash and collateral requirements. The group closely monitors its liquidity position 
and deploys a robust cash management system. It maintains adequate sources of financing including debt from banks at an optimised cost. 
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The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Trust's financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments: 

As at March 31, 2025 
Carrying 

Total On Demand Less than l year 
amount 

Borrowings (Gross of unamortised 
1,94,643-20 1,94,643.20 1,688.33 

transaction cost and EIR) 
Other financial liabilities 23,425.34 23,425.34 1,151.20 
Trade Ea;tables 8,412.24 8,412.24 8,412.24 
Total 2,16,480. 78 2,26,480. 78 11,251.77 

As at March 31, 2024 
Carrying 

Total On Demand Less than I year 
amount 

Borrowings (Gross of unamortised 
2, 19,268.95 2, 19,268.95 0.02 1,178.91 

transaction cost) 
Other financial Liabilities 42,648.63 42,648.63 1,883.60 
Trade Ea;tables 5,614.12 5,614.12 5,614.12 
Total 2,67 ,53 l. 70 2,67,531.70 0.02 8,676.63 

Note 36 : Transfer of Projects 

I to S years > 5 years 

42,092.99 1,50,861 .88 

22,274. 14 

64,367.13 1,50,861.88 

I to 5 years > 5 years 

37,618.23 1,80.4 7 l.79 

40,765.03 

78,383.26 1,80,471.79 

On December 27. 2024, the Trust has completed closing under the agreements executed for implementation of the Ganga Expressway Project and has purchased 80.4% of 
the equity share capital and 80.4% of the Non-Convertible Debentures (NCD) of Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited (MBEL) for an aggregate purchase consideration of 
Rs. 17, 149.23 million. 

On October 12, 2023, the Trust has executed arrangement with the Sponsor for implementation of Samakbiyali Tollway Private Limited ('SPV') by the Trust and 
accordingly, the project is being executed by the SPV and the Trust. 

On July 29, 2023, the Trust has executed arrangement with the Sponsor for implementation of IR8 Golconda Expressway Private Limited ('SPV ') by the Trust and 
accordingly, the project is being executed by the SPV and the Trust. 

Note 37 : Capital Management 
Capital includes equity attributable to the unitbolders to ensure that it maintains an efficient capital structure and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and 
maximise unitholder value. The Project SPV Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions or its business 
requirements. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Project SPV Group may adjust the dividend payment to unitholders, return capital to unitholders or issue new 
units. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the period ended March 31, 2025. 
The Project SPV Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as loans and borrowings less cash and cash 
equivalents. 

Borrowings (Refer Note 16) 
Less: Cash and Cash equivalents (Note 10) 
Net debt 
Equity (Note 13, 14 and 15) 
Total equjty 
Gearing ratio(%) 

Asat 
March 31, 2025 

1,92,066.76 
(3,070.00) 

1,88,996. 76 
1,49,209.40 
1,49,209.40 

126.67% 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

2, 15,315.27 
{1,605.67) 

2,13,709.60 
1,34,367.83 
1,34,367.83 

159.05% 

lo order to achieve this overall objective, the Project SPV Group's capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to 
the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the Lenders to immediately 
call loans and borrowings. There have been no breaches in the financial covenants of any interest-bearing borrowings in the current period. 

Note 38 : Distribution made 

Distributed during the pei-iod as : 
Interest 
Return of Capital 

Note: 

Date of declaration 
Return of Capital 

(Rs. pe.- unit) 

October 25, 2023 1.08 
Januarv 25, 2024 2.82 
May 03, 2024 0 
August 05, 2024 0.4 
October 28, 2024 0.53 
January 27, 2025 0.27 

1ote 39 : Revenue share/ pi-emium payment to NHAI 

Return on Capital 
(Rs. pei- unit) 

0.44 
-

0.24 
0.25 
0.04 
0. 19 

Total 
(Rs. per unit) 

1.52 
2.82 
0.24 
0.65 
0.57 
0.46 

As at 
Mai-ch 31, 2025 

812.96 
1,352.20 
2,165.16 

As at 
Much 31, 2024 

449.55 
3,984.60 
4,434.15 

(a) During the period ended March 31 , 2025, the Project SPV Group has paid/accrued Rs.7,795.24 millions (March 31. 2024, Rs.7,546.06 millions) as Revenue Share 
(Additional Concession Fee) lo National Highways Authority of India (""NHAI») out of its toll collection in accordance with the Concession Agreements entered with 
NHAI. Income from Operations in the financials for the above periods is net off the above Revenue Share to NHAI. 

(b) During the year ended March 31, 2017, AE Tollway Limited (AETL) has entered into a Concession agreement (CA) with NHAI for a pe1iod of 24 years. As per the 
terms of the CA, AETL has agreed to pay a premium in the fonn of "Additional Concession Fee" equal to Rs. 810 00 millions for the first year and each subsequent year 
such premium shall be determined by increasing the amount of premium in the respective year by an additional 5% as compared to the immediately preceding year. 
Management based on the legal opinion obtained a11d their evaluations of the terms of the CA, believes that such premium payable is restricted to the toll collection during 
the year and is in the form of revenue sharing arrangement. Accordingly, the ·premium payable for the year is accounted for as revenue share. The said treatment has been 

~::::::;:~ ;::::::•sed.:._ in case ofKGTL, UTL. CGTL and IRBHM where premium payment has commenced. Further, in case of !RB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited, at the time of 
NHAI granted approval for refinancing subject to payment of premium not paid of earlier years. The SPY has paid the premium (INR 214 Million) to NHAJ 

,,..-um!l$,~J'Sli!i=.5oNiJ1d the same would be reconciled based on the outcome of Ra·a h 



lRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 
(AIJ amounts are in INR million unJess otherwise stated) 

Note 40 : Details of Project management fees and Investment management fees 

i) Project Management Fees 
Pursuant to the terms of the Project Implementation Agreements, the fees payable by the resepective Project Special Purpose Vehicles ("Project SPVs") to the Project 
Manager have been duly detennined and mutually agreed upon by the Project Manager, the Investment Manager and the respective Project SPVs. Such detennination duly 
reflects the scope of services to be undertaken by the Project Manager, including but not limited to maintenance and ancilliary services, for an initial period often years. 
Project Management fees (services towards Operations and Maintenance (0 & M) and Engineering, Procurement and Construction (EPC)) increased from Rs. 19,937.47 
million in previous year to Rs. 26,950.47 million in current year. This increase is primarily attributable to addition of Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited (MBEL) to the 
portfolio from December 27, 2024 and periodic maintenance activities undertaken for a few oftbe Project SPVs, as stipulated in the Agreement. 

ii) Investment Management F'ees 
Pursuant to a resolution dated July 04, 2023 of the Board of Directors of the Invesnnent Manager and a resolution dated July 27, 2023 of the Unitholders, the Management 
Fees has been revised to equivalent to cost incurred by the lnvestment manager plus I 0% mark up in connection with providing investment management services to the 
Trust including routine administrative and operational expenses (exclusive of any out of pocket expenses, reimbursement and taxes. The investment management fees has 
been determined in considerartion of the investment manager's role in managing the Trust and its underlying investments. There have been no changes in the methodology 
for the computa~on of fees payable to the manager during the financial year ended March 31 , 2025. 

Note 41 : Income Tax 
Reconciliation of tax expenses and the accounting of profit multiplied by Indian Domestic tax rate for the year ended March 3 L, 2025 and March 3 L, 2024 are: 

Loss before tax 
Tax rate applicable to the Trust 
Expected income tax at India's statutory rate 
Effect of unused tax losses and tax offsets not recognised as deferred tax assets 
Difference in tax rate as per new regime as compared to normal tax rates 
Additional Prior Period Taxes booked in current year for current tax of prior years 
Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the Deferred tax of prior years 
Others 
l.ncome tax expense reported in statement of Profit and loss 

Effective Tax Rate 

Year ended March 
31, 2025 

(3, 145.77) 
42.74% 

(l,344.50) 
1,253.31 

(L 1.22) 
10.92 

(4.86) 
(96.35) 

3.06% 

Year ended March 
31, 2024 

(7,837.98) 
42.74% 

(3,349.95) 
L,647.45 

502.76 
6.64 

5.27 
(1,187.83) 

15.15% 

Deferred tax reflects the impact of current year timing differences between taxable income and accounting income for the year and reversal of timing differences of earlier 
years in accordance with lnd AS 12. Deferred tax is measured based on the tax rates and the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. The carry 
forward of unabsorbed depreciation & business loss and specific Ind AS related adjustments resulted into net deferred tax assets. The deferred tax asset is not recognized 
by the Group since there is no probable certainty that the same will be utilized in future against the taxable profit. 

No deferred tax assets have been recognised on losses incurred in SPV's(except for PDTPL and STPL) due to uncertainty of future taxable business income. 

Note 42 : Earnings Per Unit (EPU) computed in accordance with Ind AS 33 
EPU amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the period attributable to unit holders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the period. 

The following reflects the income and share data used in the EPU computations: 

Loss attributable to unit holders for earnings (Rs in million) 
Weighted average number of Units for EPU 
Earnings per unit 
Basic (in Rs.) 
Diluted (in Rs.) 

Note 43 : Segment reporting 

Year ended March 
31, 2025 

(3.049.42) 
L, 13,00, 13,265 

(2.70) 
(2.70) 

Year ended March 
31, 2024 

(6,650.15) 
97,34,89,986 

(6.83) 
(6.83) 

The Group is engaged in setting up, operating, and managing of toll road assets in India. Based on the guiding principle given in Ind AS I 08 "Operating Segments" all the 
activities of the Group fall with.in a single operating segment. Further, the entire operations of the Trust are only in lndia and hence, disclosure of secondary/ geographical 
segment information does not arise. Accordingly, giving disclosures under Ind AS L08 does not arise. 

Not.e 44 : Subsequent Events 
I. The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager declared Distribution of Rs.0.46 per unit which comprises of Rs.0.22 per unit as return of capital and Rs.0.24 per unit 
as interest in their meeting held on May 08, 2025. 

2. The Board of Investment Manager, at its meeting held on May 08, 2025, in line with strategic portfolio optimisation objectives, has approved amendment to its non­
binding offer (NBO) for sale to the CRB lnvIT Fund ("Public InvIT") dated November 14, 2024, to include only three out of the originally proposed five assets viz fRB 
Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited, Kaithal Tollway Limited & Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited_ However, the Trust continues to classify the originally proposed 
five assets as held for sale in accordance with the requirements of IND AS - 105 - 'Non -current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued operations" . The an1ended NBO 
dated May 08, 2025, is a non-adjusting event. 

Note 45 : Previous year comparatives 
Previous year' s figures has been reclassified / regrouped wherever necessary to confim1 to current year ciassification_ The impact of the same is not material to the user of 
the Consolidated financial statements. 
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(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Note 46: Disclosure pursuant to Appendix - A to Ind AS 115 - "Service Concession Arrangements" ('SCA') 

Disclosures with regard to Toll Collection Rights (Intangible Assets) 

Sr. No. Name of Concessionaire 
Type of 

Concession 

1 [RB Westcoast Tollway Limited BOT 
2 Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited BOT 

3 
Yedeshi Aurangabad Toll.way 

BOT 
Limited 

4 Kaithal Tollway Limited BOT 
5 AE Tollway Limited BOT 

6 Udaipur Tollway Limited BOT 

7 CG Tollway Limited BOT 

8 
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway 

BOT 
Limited 

9 
[RB Hapur Moradabad Tollway 

BOT 
Limited 

10 
Palsit Dank:uni Tollway Private 

BOT 
Limited 

11 
IRB Golconda Expressway Private 

TOT 
Limited* 

12 
Samakhiyali TolJway Private 

BOT 
Limited 

13 
IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private 

TOT 
Limited# 

14 IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited" TOT 

15 
IRB Gwalior Tollway Private 

TOT 
Limited$ 

16 
Meerut Budaun Expressway 

BOT 
Limited 

* Upfront concession foe ofRs. 73,800 million 
# Upfront concession fee of Rs. 44,280 million 
" Upfront concession fee of Rs. 5,215.60 million 
$ Upfront concession fee ofRs. 11 ,614.40 million 

Note: 

Start of concession 
period under 
concession 
agreement 

(Appointed date) 
March 3, 2014 

January 21 , 2015 

July l , 2015 

July 15,2015 
August 1, 2016 

September 3, 2017 

November 4, 2017 

February 21 , 2018 

May 28, 2019 

April 2, 2022 

August 12 , 2023 

December 28, 2023 

April 0 1, 2024 

April 01 , 2024 

April 0 1, 2024 

October 12, 2022 

End of concession 
period under 

Period of concession since 
the appointed date 

concession agreement 

March 2, 2042 28 years 
January 20, 2044 29 years 

June 30, 2041 26 years 

July 14, 2042 27 years 
July 31, 2040 24 years 

September 2, 2038 2 I years from Appointed Date 

November 3, 2037 20 years from Appointed Date 

February 20, 2038 20 years from Appointed Date 

May 26, 2041 22 years from Appointed Date 

April 1, 2039 17 years from Appointed Date 

August 11, 2053 30 years from Appointed Date 

December 27, 2043 20 years from Appointed Date 

March 31 , 2044 20 years from Appointed Date 

March 31, 2044 20 years from Appointed Date 

March 31 , 2044 20 years from Appointed Date 

October 11 , 2052 30 years from Appointed Date 

Construction completion 
date or expected 

construction completion 
date, as applicable 

June 30, 2022 
October 15, 2019 

September 24, 2020 

March 29, 2019 
November 24, 2020 

June 01, 2021 

August 14, 202 t 

June 30, 2022 

June 30, 2022 

Tolling & Construction 

NA 

Tolling & Construction 

NA 

NA 

NA 

September 30, 2025 

The above BOT/ DBFOT projects shall have following rights/ obligations in accordance with the Concession Agreement entered into with the Respective Government 
Authorities:-

a Rights to use the Specified assets 
b. Obligations to provide or rights to expect provision of services 
c. Obligations to deliver or rights to receive at the end of the Concession. 

Note 47 : Disclosure as per Ind AS US 
a) Disaggregati.on of revenue from contracts with customers 
The Project SPV Group believes that the information provided below for Revenue from Operations, is sufficient to meet the disclosure objectives with respect to 
disaggregation of revenue under Ind AS 115, Revenue from Contracts with Customers and also refer note (b ). 

Contract Revenue (refer note b below) 
Income from toll collection (net) (refer note b below) 
Total 

b) Reconciliation of revenue as per Ind AS 115 

Contract Revenue 
Construction revenue (Uti lity shifting & Construction work) 
Total 

Income from toll collection 
Revenue total collected 
Less: NHA! Premium 
Less : NHAl Revenue share - Double user fee 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2025 

22,881.96 
30,464.28 
53,346.24 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2025 

22,881.96 
22,881.96 

38,429.79 
(7,795 24) 

(170.27) 
30,464.28 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024 

19,154.21 
19,776.53 
38,930.74 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024 

[9,154.21 
19,154.21 

27,470.26 
(7,546.06) 

(147.66) 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 

Note 48 : Related Party Disclosures 
I. List of Related parties of the Trust 

List of Related parties of the Trust [As per Re!!ulation 2 (1) (zv)I 
I Parties to the [nv!T 

2 Promoters, Directors and Partners of the persons 
mentioned in clause I 

• Table A - S onsor Grou and Pro·ect Mana er 

(i) The sponsor(s) 

lRB Infrastructure 
Developers Limited 

(ii) Entities or person(s) which are controlled by 
such sponsor 

Modem Road Makers Private Limited (MRMPL) 

IRB Ahmedabad Yadodara Super Express Tollway 
Private Limited (lRBA V) 

Sponsor Group and Project Manager (as per Table A' 
below)* 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited (Investment Manager) 

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited (Trustee of the fRB 
Infrastructure Trust) 

As per 'Table B' below# 

(iii) Entities or person(s) who control such body 
corporate 

Mr_ Vrreadra D_ Mhaiskar, Promoter of Sponsor 

!RB Holding Private Limited 

Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited (MIPL) Ms. Deepali Y. Mhaiskar, Promoter of Sponsor 
Thane Ghodbunder Toll Road Private Limited Yirendra D. Mhaiskar HUF (Karta Mr. Yirendra 
(TGTRPL) Mhaiskar}, promoter of Sponsor 

IRB Kolhapur Integrated Road Development Company 
Private Limited (lRBK} 

ATR Infrastructure Private Limited (ATRFL) 
Ideal Road Builders Private Limited (IRBPL) 
Aryan Toll Road Private Limited (ATRPL) 
GEi E,q>ressway Private Limited (Formerly known as 
fRB PP Project Private Limited) 

!RB PS Highway Private Limited (IRBPS) 
lRB Sindhudurg Airport Private Limited (IRBSA) 
IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (IRBFL) 
Aryan Infrastructure Investments Private Limited 
(AUPL) 

Aryan Hospitality Private Limited (AHPL) 
IRB MP Expressway Private Limited 
TRB Goa Tollway Private Limited (IRB Goa) 
MRM Mining Private Limited (Subsidiary of 
MRMPL) 

VM7 Expressway Private Limited 
Pathankot Mandi Highway Private Limited 
Chittoor Thachur Highway Private Limited 
!RB Golconda Expressway Private Limited 
(Subsidiary upto 10_08.2023) 

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (Subsidiary upto 
27.12-2023) 

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited (Joint Venture 
upto 26_ 12.2024) 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited (MMK) - JV 
fRB Infrastructure Trust - JV 

Project SPV's of lRB Infrastructure Trust as 
mentioned below: 

L !RB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWTLf 
2. Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL) 
3_ Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL) 

4. Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL) • 

5. AE Tollway Limited (AETL) ' 
6. Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL) 
7. CG Tollway Limited (CGTL) 
8. Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited 

(KGTL) " 

9. IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited 

(IRBHMTL) " 

10_ Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL) 

11. IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited 
(IRBGEPL) w_e f I 1-08.2023 

12. IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited w_e.f 
JO . I 1-2023 

13. Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited w_e_f_ 
28_12.2023 

14. IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited w_e.f 
01.01-2024 

15. IRB Gwalior Private Limited w_e_f. 01.01.2024 

16. Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited w.e.f 
27 .12.2024 

(iv) Entities or person(s) wh.ich 
are controlled by entities or 
person(s) specified in clause 
(iii) 

VDM Ventures Private 
Limited 

Duex Farming Films Private 
Limited 



ersons mentioned in clause I 
Parties to the Trust 
(i) [RB Infrastructure 
Developers Limited 
(Sponsor and Project 
Manager) 

Promoters 
I. Mr. Virendra D Mhaiskar 

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

3. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar (HUF) 

(ii) Entities or person(s) IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL) 
which are controlled by 
such sponsor 

(iii) Entities or 
person(s) who control 
such body corporate 

I. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
2 Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
3. Mr. Virendrn D. Mbaiskar (HUF) 

(iv) Entities or I. l\1r. Virendra D. Mbaiskar 
person(s) which are 2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
controlled by entities or 3. Mr. an V. Mbaiskar 

MMK Toll Road IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBLDL) 
Private Limited 
(Investment Manager) 

Directors 
I. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar, Chainnan and Managing 
Director 

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar, Whole Time Director 
3. Mr. Luis Aguirre de Career Cabezas, Non Executive 
Director (w.e.f. December 29,2024) 

4. Mr. Ravindra Dhariwal, Non-executive Director 

5. Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta-Independent Director (w.e.f 
April I, 2024) 

6. Mr. Vijay Nautarnlal Bhatt- Independent Director 
(w.e.f April I, 2024) 

7. Ms. Priti Savla - Independent director 
8. Mr. Ajay Kumar Singh, Independent Director (w.e.f 
Febraury 5, 2025) 

9. Mr. Jose Tarnariz Martel Goncer (Ceased as director 
w.e.f December 9, 2024) 

IO. Mr. Chandrashekhar S. Kaptan- Independent director 
(up to March 31, 2024) 

11. Mr. Sunil H. Talati -Independent director (up to 
March 3 I, 2024) 

12. Mr. Sandeep J. Shah - Independent director (Ceased 
as director w.e.f. February 4, 2025) 
I. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
3. Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi (up to March 31, 2025) 
4. Mrs. Arati Taskar 
5. Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing 
6. Mr. Rajpaul Sharma 
7. Mr. Amitabh Murarka 

8. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar 
9. Mrs. Ksharna Vengsarkar 
I 0. Mr. Nikbil Maniar 
11 . Mr. Tushar Kawedia 

12. Mr. Rajinder Pal Singh 
13 . Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon 

12. l\1r. Sunil Tandon -Independent Director 
14. Mr. Nikesh Jain -Independent Director 
15. Mr. Rushabh Gandhi 
16. Mrs. Anusha Date-Independent Director 

1.7. Mr. Jitender Kumar Chauhan (Appointed as director 
w.e.f. March I, 2025) 

18. Mr. Kulumani Gopalratnam Krishnamurthy­
Lndependent Director 
19. Mrs. Ranjana Paranjape -Independent Director 

20. Mr. Kannasagaran Chinniah (Ceased as director 
w.e.f. June 15, 2024) 

21. Mr. Sandeep Shah -Independent Director (Ceased as 
director w.e.f. February 4, 2025) 
22. Ms. Shilpa Todankar 

22. Mr. Abhay Phatak 
23 . Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar 
24. Mr. Omprakash Singh 

25 . Mr. Chandrashekhar Kaptan 
26. Mr. Boon Chin Hau 
27. Mr Nagendraa Parakh 

28. Mr. Amyn Jassani (Ceased to be director of MMK 
w.e.f. May 31 , 2024) 

29. Mr. Victor Carretero Arbona, (Appointed as director 
ofw.e.f October 30, 2024) 

30. Ms. Rajni Sekhri Sibal- Independent Director 
(Appointed as director of w.e.f. October 30, 2024) 

I. l\1r. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

I . Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
2 Mrs . Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

3. Mr. an V. Mhaiskar 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

l\1r. Boon Chin Hau 
Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar 
Mr. KG Krishnamurthy -Independent director 
Mrs. Ranjana Paranjape - Independent director 
Mr. Nagendraa Parakh- Independent director 

Mr. Victor Carretero Arbona (Appointed w.e.f. October 
30. 2024) 

Ms. Rajni Sekhri Sibal (Independent Director) Appointed 
w.e.f. October 30, 2024 

Mr. Kunnasai:1aran Chinniah (Ceased as director w.e.f. 
June 15. 2024 ) 

Mr. Amyn Jassani - independent director (Ceased as 
director w.e. f. May 3 l, 2024) 



[DB[ Trusteeship IDBI Bank Limited Mr. Jayakumar Subramonia Pillai 
Services Limited LIC Corporation Limited Mr Pradeep Kumar Malhotra 
(Trustee of IRB General Insurace Corporation Ms Baljinder Kaur Manda) 
Infrastructure Trust) Mr. Arun Kumar Agarwal (Appointed w.e.f. July 19, 

2024) 

Mr. Hare Krushna Dandapani Panda (Appointed w.e.f. 
July I 9, 2024) 

Mr. Balkrishna Varier (Appointed w.e.f. June 24, 2024) 

Mr. Soma Nandan Satpathy (Appointed w.e.f January 
16, 2025) 

Mr. Pradeep Kumar Jain (Ceased as director w.e.f 
December 20, 2024) 

Mrs. Jayasbree Vijay Ranade (ceased to be director w.e.f 
April 18, 2024) 
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ll. Related Party Transactions 

(Rs in mill ion) 

Enterprises owned or 
Sponsor and Project 

Subsidiaries of Sponsor 
significaoced by key 

Manager management personnel or 
Sr. 

Particulars 
their relatives 

No. 
Year ended Year ended 

Year ended Year ended 
Yea,·ended Year ended 

March 31, March 31, 
March 3 I, 2025 March 31, 2024 

March 31, March 31, 
2025 2024 2025 2024 

1 Contract expenses 29,804.38 16,327.35 2,466.91 928.21 -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 29,804.38 16,327.35 

Modem Road Makers Private Limited 2,466.91 928.21 

2 Operation & Maintenance Expenses 7,818.23 5,229.00 -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 7,818.23 5,229.00 

3 Finance Cost -Interest unwinding on Trade payable - 187.67 

Modem Road Makers Private Limited 187.67 

4 Finance Cost -Interest unwindin2: on Trade oavable - TCR 172.03 - -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited 172.03 

5 S11b-ordinate debts (Unsecured & interest free) 16,916.65 -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 16,916.65 

6 Unsecured Loan Repaid 499.35 6,174.59 -
!RB Infrastructure Developers Limited 499.35 6,174.59 

7 Expenses incurred on our behalf 3.87 36.96 - 0.01 -
!RB Infrastructure Developers Limited 3.87 36.96 

Modem Road Makers Private Limited - 0 .01 

8 Mobilisation advances given 924.60 802.50 

!RB Infrastructure Developers Limited 924.60 802.50 

9 General advances given 1,968.31 7,190.62 
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 1,968.31 7,190.62 -

10 Utility Shifting Expenses Reversed 26.42 -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited 26.42 

11 Construction cost - 907.75 - - - -
!RB Infrastructure Developers Limited 907.75 -

12 Other payable 1,429.82 4,935.38 48.71 48.84 -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 1,429.82 4,935.38 -
Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited 48.71 48.84 -

13 Other receivable - 34.21 

Modem Road Makers Private Limited 34.2 1 

14 Professional Fees - 419.96 
!RB Infrastructure Developers Limited 4 19.96 -

15 
Purchase of investment in Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited 

8,746.14 - -
(Equity shares and NCO) 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 8,746.14 

16 Gurantees received 18.80 -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 18.80 -

17 lnterest· on Debenture (EIR lmpact) 61.33 - 787.66 -
!RB Infrastructure Developers Limited 61 .33 - - -
Anahera Investment Pte. Ltd. 787.66 

18 Unsecured Loan received 157.90 726.22 

!RB Infrastructure Developers Limited 157.90 726.22 -

19 Units lssued 8,750.81 26,139.68 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 8,750.81 26,139.68 

20 Interest Dist.-ibution 414.79 229.35 -
!RB Infrastructure Developers Limited 414 .79 229.35 

21 Capital Reduction 689.93 2,032.84 -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 689.93 2,032.84 



IRB lnfrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 

Related Party Transactions(continued) 
(Rs. in million) 

Key Management 
Trustee of IRB 

lnvestment Manager Personnel of Project SPV 
Infrastructure Trust 

Group 
Sr. No. Particulars 

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Vear ended Year ended 
March 31, March 31 , March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, 

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 

22 Expenses incurred on our behalf - 0.45 - - - -
MMK Toll Road Private Limited - 0.45 - - - -

23 lnvestment Manae;ement Fees 111.14 146.32 - - - -
MMK Toll Road Private Limited l 1 l.l4 146.32 - - - -

24 Trustee Fees - - - - 1.30 0.56 
IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited - - - - 1.30 0.56 

25 Director sitting fees paid - - 7.44 3.39 - -

Mrs. Arati Taskar - - O.lO 0.19 - -

Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar - - 0.44 0.24 - -
Mr.Omprakash Singh - - 0.42 0.24 - -

Mr. Sudhir Hoshing - - 0.11 0.17 - -

Mr. C S Kaptan - - 0.89 0.54 -
Ms. Shilpa Todankar - - 1.10 0.70 -
Mrs.Ranjana Paranjape - - 106 0.17 -
Mr. Abhay Pathak - - 0.52 0.35 -

Mr. Rajpaul Sharma - - 0.19 0.28 -
Mr. Tushar Kawedia - - 0.05 0.09 - -

Mr. Dhananjay Joshi - - 0.83 - - -

Mr. K.G. Krishnamurthy - - 0.74 - - -

Mr. Sandeep Shah - - 0.47 - - -

Mr. Kunnasagaran Chinniah - - 0.21 - - -

Mr. Amitabh Murarka - 0.31 0.41 - -



[RB lnfrastructure T rust 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 

[I[. Related party balan ces 

(Rs. in million) 

Enterprises owned or 
Sponsor and Project 

Subsidiaries of Sponsor 
sigriificanced by key 

Manager managemen t personnel or 
S r. 

Particulars their relatives 
No. 

A.son As on As on As on As on As on 
March 31, March 31 , March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, 

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 

I Subordinated debt (unsecured and interest free) 16,916.65 16,916.65 - -
[RB Infrastructure Developers Limited 16,916.65 16,91.6.65 - - -

2 Trade payable 7,802.28 3,971.I3 917.76 80.66 -
[RB Infrastructure Developers Limited 7,802.28 3,97 1.13 -
Modem Road Make rs Private Limited 9 17.76 80.66 -

3 Mobil isation advances 77.02 100.74 - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 77 .02 100.74 

4 Advance given 140.22 140.22 - -
!RB Infrastructure D evelopers Limited 140.22 140.22 -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited -

5 BG Margin Money Receivable 6 1.88 30.95 - -
IRB Infrastructure D evelopers Limited 61.88 30.95 - -

6 Retention payable 608.45 708.82 363.74 92.54 -
[RB In frastructure Developers Limited 608.45 708.82 - -
Modern Road Makers Private Limited 363. 74 92.54 -

7 Deferred Consideration payable 38,460.77 37,03 1.44 3,778.23 3,729.52 
IRE Infrastructure Developers Limited 38,460.77 37,031.44 

Modem Road Makers Private Limited 1,784.13 1,784.13 

!RB Goa Tollway Private Limited 1,544.86 1,544.86 -
Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited 449.24 400.53 

8 Amount Held Up 237.20 144.74 25.42 0.44 -
!RB Infrastructure Developers Limi ted 23 7.20 144.74 - -
Modern Road Makers Private Limited - 25.42 0.44 -

9 Other payable ( Exp incurred on our behalf) 0.49 3.79 6.05 6.05 
fRB Infrastructure D evelopers Limited 0 .49 3.79 -
Modem Road Maker s Private Limited - 6 05 6.05 -

10 Unsecured Loan 309.51 0.02 - -
IRB Infrastructure D evelopers Limited 309.51 0.02 -

ll Gurantees received 2,046.20 -
lRB lnfrastructure Developers Limited 2,046.20 

12 NCO Issued I 599.20 - 1,536.40 -
[RB lnfrastructure Developers Limited I 599.20 - - -
Anahera [nvestment Pte. Ltd. - - - L,536.40 -

13 [nterest on Debenture (ECR Impact) 1381.03 1,326.83 -
lRB lnfrastructure Developers Limited 1,38 1.03 
Anahera Investment Pte. Ltd. - - l ,326.83 -

14 Trade Receivable - - 0.51 0.51 - -
Modern Road Makers Private Limited - 0.5 1 0.51 

15 Other receivable 3.37 - 34.22 0.01 -
!RB Infrastructure Developers Limited 3.37 - -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - 34.22 0.0 1 
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IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 

Related party balances (continued) 
(Rs. in million) 

Investment Manager 
Key Management Personnel Trustee of IRB 

of Project SPY Group Infrastructure Trust 
Sr. 
No. 

Particulars 

As on March As on March As on March As on March As on March As on March 
31,2025 31,2024 31,2025 31,2024 31,2025 31,2024 

16 Trade payable 102.19 95.19 - - - -
MMK Toll Road Private Limited 102.19 95.19 - - - -

17 Trustee Fees - - - - 1.30 -
IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited - - - - 1.30 -

18 Director sitting fees Payable - - 1.41 1.24 - -
Mrs. Aarti Taskar - - 0.03 0.04 - -
Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar - - 0.10 0.09 - -
Mr. Omprakash Singh - - 0.09 0.07 - -
Mr. Sudhir Hoshing - - 0.03 0.05 - -
Mr. C S Kaptan - - 0.19 0.18 - -
Ms. Shilpa Todankar - - 0.24 0.29 - -

Mr. Rajpaul Sharma - - 0.04 0.12 - -
Mr. Abhay Pathak - - 0.11 0.13 - -
Mr. Amitabh Murarka - - 0.07 0.16 - -
Mrs. Ranjana Paranjape - - 0.19 0.07 - -
Mr. Dhananjay Joshi - - 0.14 - - -
Mr. K.G. Krishnamurthy - - 0.14 - - -
Mr. Tushar Kawedia - - 0.01 0.03 - -



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements fort.be year ended March 31, 2025 
(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Note 49 : Other Statutory Information 
i) The Project SPV group have not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year 
ii) The Project SPV group does not hold benami property and no proceedjngs under Benami transaction (Prohibition) Act 1988 have been irutiated against the Trust. 
iii) The Project SPV group does not have any relationsrup with companies struck off. 
iv) The Project SPV group does not have any such transaction which is oot recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the 
year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, [961 (such as, search or survey or any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961. 
v) The Project SPV group did not have any long-tem1 contracts including derivative contract for which there were any material foreseeable losses. 
vi) The Project SPV group has not declared a wilful] defaulter by any bank / financial institution or any other lender during the year. 
vii) The Project SPV group has complied with the number of layers prescribed under section 2(87) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Companies (Restriction on 
Number of Layers) Rules, 2017 . 

As per our report of even date 

For Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Fi= Ro7 N"mb 

CA Kaustubh Deshpande 
Partner 
Membersh.ip No. 12 IOI 1 
Place: Mumbru 

For M S KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 
!CAI registration number: 105047W 

Nitin Tiwari 
Partner 
Membership No. 1 18894 

Place: Mumbru 
Date: May 08 ," 2025 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
MMK Toll Road Private Limited 
(As Investment Manager to IRB Infrastructure Trust) 
CIN: U45200MH2002PTC135512 

Virendra D.Mhaiskar Amitabh Murarka 
Chrurman and Director Chief Executive officer 
DIN : 00 I 83554 
Place: Mumbai Place: Hyderabad 

Shilpa Todankar 
Chief Financial Officer 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2025 

~ 
Company Secretary 
Membership No.A27833 

Place: Mumbru 
Date: May 08, 20 



Gokhale ft Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 
304/308/309, Udyog Mandir No.1, 
7-C, Bhagoji Keer Marg, 
Mahim, Mumbai 400 016. 
Telephone+ 91 (22) 43484242 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Unit holders of IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements 

Opinion 

MS KA ft Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

602, Floor 6, Raheja Titanium 
Western Express Highway, 

Geetanjali Railway Colony, 
Ram Nagar, Goregaon (E), 

Mumbai 400063, India 
Tel: +91 22 6238 0519 

We have jointly audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of IRB Infrastructure Trust 
("the Trust"), which comprise the Standalone Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025, the Standalone 
Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the Standalone Statement of 
Changes in Unit Holders' Equity, the Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, 
the Standalone Statement of Net Assets at Fair value as at March 31, 2025, the Standalone Statement 
of Total Returns at Fair Value and the Net Distributable cashflows ('NDCF') of the Trust for the year 
then ended as an additional disclosure in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Board of India 
("SEBI") Master Circular SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2024/44 dated May 15, 2024, as amended, 
("the SEBI Circular") for the year ended March 31, 2025 and notes to the Standalone Financial 
Statements, including material accounting policy information and other explanatory information 
(hereinafter referred to as the "standalone financial statements"). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the 
aforesaid standalone financial statements give the information required by SEBI (Infrastructure 
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular, together 
known as ("lnvlT Regulations") and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting 
Standards prescribed under rule 2(1 )(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, 
as amended ("Ind AS") and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, to the extent 
not inconsistent with the lnvlT Regulations, of the state of affairs of the Trust as at March 31, 2025, 
and profit (including other comprehensive income), changes in unit holders' equity, its cash flows for 
the year ended on that date, net asset assets at fair value as at March 31, 2025, its total returns at 
fair value and net distributable cashflows of the Trust for the year ended as on date and other 
financial information of the Trust for the year ended March 31, 2025. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our joint audit of the standalone financial statements in accordance with the Standards 
on Auditing (SAs) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India ("ICAI"). Our 
responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the 'Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Standalone Financial Statements' section of our report. We are independent of the Trust in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by ICAI and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the 
audit evidence obtained by us is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter 

We draw attention to Note 11 of the accompanying standalone financial statements, which describes 
the presentation of 'Unit Capital' as 'Equity' to comply with the lnvlT Regulations. Our opinion is not 
modified in respect of this matter. 



Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 

Key Audit Matters 

MS KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2025. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the standalone financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have 
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our 
report. 

Sr. 
No 

Key Audit Matters 

The Trust has significant investments 
(including sub-debt) and has granted loans to 
its subsidiaries amounting to Rs. 55,348.10 
million and Rs. 70,733.60 million respectively. 
The value of investments and loans in 
aggregate comprise of 43% of the balance 
sheet. 
(Refer note 4 and 5 of the standalone financial 
statements). 

The subsidiaries are licensed to collect toll 
from road infrastructure projects under 
concession arrangements with NHAI/HMDA 
under Toll-Operate-Transfer (TOT) and Build­
Operate-Transfer (BOT) model. 

The Trust performs an annual assessment of 
impairment for its investments at each cash 
generating unit (CGU) level, to identify any 
indicators of impairment. The recoverable 
amount of the CGUs which is based on the 
higher of the value in use or fair value less 
costs to sell, has been derived from discounted 
forecast cash flow models which requires 
management to make significant estimates and 
assumptions related to future revenue growth, 
concession period, operations costs, the 
discount rate and assessments of the status of 
the project and cost to complete balance 
work. 

How the Key Audit Matters were 
addressed in our audit 

Our audit procedures include the following: 

1. Obtained an understanding of the Trust's 
process to identify indicators of 
impairment of investments in subsidiaries 
and loans to subsidiaries, and process for 
determination of fair value of these 
investments and loans. 

2. Assessed the appropriateness of the 
methodology used in the impairment 
model for it's investment at each CGU, 
the input data and underlying 
assumptions used such as future revenue 
growth, concession period and traffic 
growth and considered historical 
performance. In doing this assessment we 
have involved auditors' expert as 
appropriate to evaluate the reasonability 
of the methodology, approach and key 
assumptions mainly weighted average 
cost of capital. 

3. Assessed the work performed by 
management as well as management's 
external valuation expert, including the 
valuation methodology and the key 
assumptions used. Also assessed the 
competence, capabilities and objectivity 
of the expert used by the management in 
the process of evaluating impairment 
models. 

4. Performed sensitivity analysis and 
evaluated whether any reasonably 
possible changes in assumptions could 
lead to impairment of investments. 

5. Checked the mathematical accuracy of 
the impairment model. 

6. Evaluated the appropriateness and 
adequacy of disclosures made by 
Investment Manager. 



Gokhale ft Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 

2 

3 

The Trust has payable of Rs. 22,270.80 million 
as on March 31, 2025 to IRB Infrastructure 
Developers Limited ("Sponsor") on account of 
transfer of project companies by the Sponsor 
(Refer note 14 of the standalone financial 
statements). 

Pursuant to settlement of IRB Infrastructure 
Trust ('Trust') by Sponsor, as a Private Inv IT, 
the Trust has entered into Debt Novation 
Agreements (DNA). As per the terms of DNA, in 
consideration of assets taken over in 9 project 
companies, Trust has issued units and agreed 
to transfer to the Sponsor, the claim amounts 
when and to the extent the same are 
eventually received by project companies, on 
account of Sponsor claims. 

Such Sponsor claims are lodged after obtaining 
Commercial Operation Date by respective 
project companies. The amount realisable 
against claims has been estimated by the 
valuers based on the weighted average of 
probabilities of realisation of such claims. 

Based on the fair value of liability as estimated 
by the valuers, a resultant impact in the value 
of liability has been recognised under the head 
'Loss of fair value measurement of other 
payables'. 

There is significant judgement involved on 
assessing fair value of these payables which is 
based on key assumptions such as timing of 
collection, the discount rate, and the 
probability of success in respect of the claims. 

Computation and disclosures relating to 
Statement of Net Assets at Fair Value and 
Statement of Total returns at Fair value as 
per lnvlT Regulations. 

The Trust is required to disclose Statement of 
Net Assets at Fair Value and Statement of Total 
Returns at Fair Value pursuant to SEBI Circular 
issued under the lnvlT Regulations which 
requires valuation of assets. Such fair 
valuation has been carried out by the 
independent valuer appointed by the 
Investment Manager of the Trust. 

For the above purpose, fair value is 
determined by the management using 
discounted cash flow ('DCF') valuation method 
which involves significant management 
judgement in respect of various estimates used 

M S K A ft Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

Our audit procedures include the following: 

1. Obtained an understanding of the Trust's 
process placed around the impairment 
assessment process of the amount 
payable to Sponsor. 

2. Obtained Trust's assessment of the fair 
valuation of the deferred consideration 
payable. These projections are based on 
underlying infrastructure project cash 
flows which are sensitive to some of the 
claims to be settled with NHAI/HMDA. 

3. Assessed the work performed by 
management as well as management's 
external valuation expert, including the 
valuation methodology and the key 
assumptions used. Also, assessed the 
competence, capabilities and objectivity 
of the expert used by the management in 
the process of evaluating impairment 
models. 

4. Involved our internal valuation specialist, 
where appropriate, to evaluate the 
reasonability of the methodology, 
approach and discount rate used in the 
valuation carried out for determining the 
fair value of deferred consideration 
payable. 

5. Checked the mathematical accuracy of 
the impairment model. 

6. Evaluated the appropriateness and 
adequacy of disclosures made by 
Investment Manager. 

Our audit procedures include the following: 

1. Obtained an understanding of regulatory 
requirements by reading the 
requirements of SEBI Regulations along 
with the relevant SEBI circulars, pursuant 
to which the Statements are prepared by 
the Investment Manager. 

2. Obtained an understanding of the Trust's 
policies and procedures adopted by the 
Investment Manager for computation and 
disclosure of the Statements. 

3. Assessed the work performed by 
management as well as management's 
external valuation expert, including the 
valuation methodology and the key 
assumptions used. Also assessed the 
com etence, ca abilities and ob· ectivit 
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flows, discount rates, revenue growth rates, 
inflation rates, tax rates, amongst others. The 
determination of fair value involves judgement 
due to inherent high estimation uncertainty in 
the underlying assumptions. 

Considering the judgement involved in 
determination of fair values due to inherent 
uncertainty and complexity of the assumptions 
used in determination of fair values, this is 
considered as a key audit matter for the 
current year audit. 

MS KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

of the expert used by the management in 
the process. 

4. Involved our internal valuation specialist, 
where appropriate, to evaluate the 
reasonability of the methodology, 
approach and discount rate used in the 
valuation carried out for determining the 
fair value. 

5. Tested arithmetic accuracy of cash flows 
projections and sensitivity analysis. 

6. Evaluated the appropriateness and 
adequacy of disclosures for compliance 
with the relevant requirements of SEBI 
regulations 

Information Other than the Standalone Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon 

The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager (the "Board") are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the Annual Report but does not include the standalone 
financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. The Annual Report is expected to be made 
available to us after the date of this auditor's report. 

Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other information and we will 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the standalone financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the standalone financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we 
are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 

Responsibilities of the Investment Manager and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Standalone Financial Statements 

The Board are responsible for the preparation of these standalone financial statements that give a 
true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance, changes in unit holders' equity, 
cash flows of the Trust, net assets at fair value as at March 31, 2025, total returns at fair value, net 
distributable cashflows for the year ended as on date and other financial information in accordance 
with the requirement of lnvlT Regulations; the Indian Accounting Standards ('Ind AS') prescribed 
under Rule 2(1 )(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 , as amended, and 
other accounting principles generally accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent with the lnvlT 
Regulations. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records for 
safeguarding of the assets of the Trust and for preventing and detecting frauds and other 
irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and 
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of 
adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and 
completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the 
standalone financial statement that give a true and fair view and are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the standalone financial statements, the Board are responsible for assessing the Trust's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate 
the Trust or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Board are also responsible for overseeing the Trust's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these standalone financial statements. 

We give in "Annexure A" a detailed description of Auditor's responsibilities for Audit of the 
Standalone Financial Statements. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Based on our audit and as required by lnvlT Regulations, we report that: 

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit. 

(b) The Standalone Balance Sheet, the Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss (including other 
comprehensive income), the Standalone Statement of Changes in Unit Holders' Equity, the 
Standalone Statement of Cash Flow, the Standalone net assets at fair value as at March 31, 
2025, the Standalone total returns at fair value and the net distributable cashflows of the 
Trust for the year ended dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books of 
account. 

(c) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with the Indian 
Accounting Standards ('Ind AS') as defined in Rule 2(1 )(a) of the Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, and other accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent with the lnvlT Regulations. 

For Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 
ICAI Firm Registration No.103264W 

CA Kaustubh Desi de 
Partner 
Membership No. 121011 
UDIN: 2512101 1 ~MIJ «? F7o7{, 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2025 

For M S KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Firm Registration No.105047W 

Nitin Tiwari 
Partner 

Membership No. 118894 
UDIN: 2511~94 (3ftlK'XS8 3 I 6 b 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2025 
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ANNEXURE A TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT OF EVEN DATE ON THE STANDALONE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF IRB INFRASTRUCTURE TRUST 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on whether the Trust has in place an adequate internal financial controls with 
reference to standalone financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such 
controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimat_es and related disclosures made by the Board. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of Board's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Trust's ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the standalone financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Trust to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the standalone financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our joint audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards. 
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the standalone financial statements for the year ended 
March 31, 2025 and are therefore, the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication. 

For Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 
ICAI Firm Registration No.103264W 

{ 
CA Kaustubh Deshpande 
Partner 
Membership No. 121011 
UDIN: 2512.1011 ~M:CJCQP7o7C. 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2025 

For MS KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Firm Registration No. 105047W 

Nitin Tiwari 
Partner 

Membership No. 118894 
UDIN: 251188<14 BCY/KXSB3 I G G 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2025 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
St~ndalone Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025 
(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Particulars 

I ASSETS 
(1) Non-current assets 

Financial assets 
i) Investments 
ii) Loans 
iii) Other financial assets 
Total non-current assets (A) 

(2) Current assets 
Financial assets 
i) Investments 
ii) Cash and cash equivalents 
iii) Bank balance other than (ii) above 
iv) Loans 
v) Other financial assets 

Current tax assets (net) 
Other current assets 
Total current assets (BJ 

(3) Assets classified held for sale (C) 

Total assets (D=A+B+C) 

II EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity 
Unit capital 
Other equity 
Total unit holder's equity (El 

(1) Non-current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 
i) Borrowings 
ii) Other financial liabilities 
Total non-current liabilities (F) 

(2) Current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 
i) Borrowings 
ii) Trade payables 

a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 
b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small 

enterprises 
Other current liabilities 
Total current liabilities (G) 

(3) Liabilities relating to assets held (<;>r sale (H) 

Total liabilities (l=F+G+H) 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES (J=E+I) 

Summary of material accounting policies 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Standalone Financial Statements 

As per our report of even date 
For Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 
ICAI Firm Registration Num 

~ 
CA Kaustubh Deshpande 
Partner 
Membership No.: 121011 
Place : Mumbai 

For M S KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 105047W 

Nitin Tiwari 
Partner 
Membership No.: 118894 

Place : Mumbai 
Date : May 08, 2025 

Note 
As at 

March 31, 2025 
As at 

March 31, 2024 

4 55,348.10 69,752.19 
5 65,771.75 1,54,248.07 
6 613.15 --------------------1,21,119.85 

4 670.62 
7 1.15 
8 214.00 
5 4,961.85 
6 10,031.54 
9 40.67 

2,24, 613. 41 

86.84 
150.39 

2,041.10 
8,451.47 

21,008.09 
9.52 

10 ________ 1_1._34 _________ _ 
15,931.17 31,747.41 

21 1,53,291.52 

2,90,342.54 2,56,360.82 

11 1,50,888.26 1,35,091.23 
12 34,344.71 18,052.09 --------------------1,85,232.97 1,53,143.32 

13 61,702.15 

14 ______ 2_2~,2_7_0_.8_0 ______ 4_0,~7_60_.9_6_ 

13 
15 

22,270.80 1,02,463.11 

1,000.00 647.39 

0.27 

109.55 102.05 

16 4.54 4.68 
-------,-1-:,1-:-1-,-4,-=o-=-9-------::-15=-4:-,3::-:9:-

21 81,724.68 

1,05,109.57 1,03,217.50 

2,90,342.54 2,56,360.82 
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For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
MMK Toll Road Private Limited 
(Investment Manager of IRB Infrastructure Trust) 
CIN: U45200MH2002PTC135512 

~~ 
Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Chairman & Director 
DIN: 00183554 
Place : Mumbai 

Shi I pa Todankar 
Chief Financial Officer 

Place : Mumbai 
Date : May 08, 2025 

~ 
Amitabh Murarka 
Chief Executive Officer 

Place : Hyderabad 

Company Secretary 
Membership No. A27833 

Place : Mumbai 
Date : May 08, 2025 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2025 

(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Particulars 

Incomes and gains 
Interest on Loan 
Interest on bank deposits 
Profit on sale of investments 
Other Income 
Total Incomes and Gains 

Expenses and losses 
Valuation Expenses 
Audit Fees 
Investment management fees (refer note 30 & 34) 
Custodian Fees 
Trustee Fees 
Finance Cost (Interest) 
Finance Cost (Others) 
Legal & Professional Fees 
Fair value loss on measurement of other payable (refer note 34) 
Other Expenses 
Total Expenses and Losses 
Profit before tax 
Tax expenses 
Adjustment of tax relating to earlier periods 
Total Tax expenses 
Profit after tax 

Other comprehensive income for the year (net of tax) 

Item that will not be reclassified to statement of profit and loss in subsequent 
period 
Other comprehensive income for the year (net of tax) 
Total comprehensive income for the year (net of tax) 
Earnings per unit 
Basic(~) 
Diluted(~) 

Note 

17 

19A 

18 

19 

20 

22 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2025 

23,137.51 
216.13 
36.99 

930.65 
24,321.28 

5.42 
8.15 

111.14 
1.40 
1.30 

5,498.43 
96.87 
39.04 

1,429.82 
5.02 

7,196.59 
17,124.69 

5.04 

5.04 
17,119.65 

17,119.65 

15.15 
15.15 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024 

16,461.72 
97.04 

101.01 
50.28 

16,710.05 

5.41 

6.41 
146.32 

0.19 

7.18 
2,463.56 

68.53 
26.89 

4,935.37 
6.36 

7,666.22 
9,043.83 

9,043.83 

9,043.83 

9.29 
9.29 

Summary of material accounting policies 3 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Standalone Financial Statements 

As per our report of even date 
For Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Firm Registration Number: 103264W 

CA Kaustubh Deshpand 
Partner 
Membership No.: 1210 
Place : Mumbai 

For M S K A & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 105047W 

Nitin Tiwari 
Partner 
Membership No. : 118894 

Place : Mumbai 
Date : May 08, 2025 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited 
(Investment Manager of IRB Infrastructure Trust) 
CIN : U45200MH2002PTC135512 

~~ ~ 
Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Chairman & Director 
DIN: 00183554 
Place : Mumbai 

Shilpa Todankar 
Chief Financial Officer 

Place : Mumbai 

Date : May 08, 2025 

Amitabh Murarka 
Chief Executive Officer 

Place : Hyderabad 

~ 
Company Secretary 

Membership No. A27833 

Place : Mumbai 
Date : May 08, 2025 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Standalone Statement of Changes In Unitholder's Equity for the year ended March 31, 2025 
(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Particulars 

I. Unit capital 
Issued, subscribed and fully paid up Unit Capital 
Unit Capital of,: 100 each Issued, subscribed and fully paid up 
At the beginning of the year 
Issued during the year 

Less: Return of Capital (Refer note 34 & 36) 
At the end of the year 

. II. Reconciliation of the number of units outstanding and the amount of unit capital: 

Asat 
March 31, 2025 

1,35,091.23 
17,149.23 
(1,352.20) 

1,50,888.26 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

87,929.33 
51,146.50 
(3,984.60) 

1,35,091.23 

Particulars 
As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024 

At the beginning of the year 

Issued during the year 

Less : Return of Capital (Refer note 34 & 36) 
At the end of the year 

Other Equity 

Particulars 

Retained earnings 
At the beginning of the year 

Profit for the year 

Unit Issue expenses 
Return on Capital (Refer note 34 & 36) 

At the end of the year 

No. of units 

1,11,36,93,265 

5,84,00,000 

-
1,17,20,93,265 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Standalone Financial Statements. 

As per our report of even date 

For Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 
ICAI Firm Registratio 

Partner 
Membership No.: 121 

Place : Mumbai 

For M S KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Firm Registration Number: 105047W 

Nitin Tiwari 

Partner 
Membership No.: 118894 

Place : Mumbai 
Date : May 08, 2025 

Amount in Million 
1,35,091.23 

17,149.23 
(1,352.20) 

1,50,888.26 

No. of units 

87,92,93,265 

23,44,00,000 

1,11,36,93,265 

As at 
March 31, 2025 

18,052.09 

17,119.65 
(14.07) 

(812.96) 
34,344.71 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
MMK Toll Road Private limited 

(Investment Manager of IRB ln lrastructure Trust) 

CIN : U45200MH2002PTC135512 

Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Chairman & Director 

DIN: 00183554 

Place : Mumbai 

Amount in Million 

87,929.33 

51,146.50 

(3,984.60) 
1,35,091.23 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

9,526.42 
9,043.83 

(68.61) 
(449.55) 

18,052.09 

Amitabh Murarka 
Chief Executive Officer 

Place : Hyderabad 

Shilpa Todankar ~ 
Chief Financial Officer 

Place: Mumbai 

Date : May 08, 2025 

Company Secretary 
Membership No. A27833 

Place : Mumbai 

Date : May 08, 2025 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Standalone Statement of Cash Flow for the year ended March 31, 2025 

(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Particulars 

Cash flow from operating activities 

Profit before tax 

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows: 

Finance costs 
Fair value gain on investments 
Profit on sale of investments 

Fair value loss on measurement of other payable 
Interest income on 

- Fixed deposits 

- loan to subsidiaries 

Fair value adjustment on non-convertible debenture (interest free tenure) 

Interest on unwinding of unsecured loan 

Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes 

Movement in working capital: 

Increase in trade payables 

Increase in other financial liabilities 

(decrease) in other current liabilities 

(lncrease)/decrease in Other current assets 

(lncrease)/decrease in other Financial assets 

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 
Direct taxes paid (net of refunds) 

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities (A) 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Proceeds from Sale/(purchase) of current investments (net) 

Investment in sub debt of subsidiaries 

Repayment of sub debt from subsidiaries 

Loan repayment from subsidiaries (Secured Interest bearing) 

Loan repayment from subsidiaries (Unsecured Interest bearing) 
Loan given to subsidiaries 

Loan repayment from subsidiaries 

Short Term Loans given to subsidiaries 

Repayment of Short Term Loans from subsidiaries 

Loans (given)/ recovered - (Interest Free) 

Loan repayment from subsidiaries (MMR Loans) 

Investment in subsidiaries 

NCD Investment in subsidiaries (Non convertible Debenture) 

Investments in Bank deposits (having maturity of more than three months less than 

twelve months) 
Interest received on fixed deposit 

Interest received from subsidiaries 

Net cash flows used in investing activities (BJ 

Cash flow from financing activities 
Proceeds from issuance of unit capital 

Return of unit capital 

Proceeds from interest free loan (related parties) 

Proceeds of long term borrowings 

Repayment of long term borrowings 

Transaction cost on long term borrowings 

Loan received from Sponsor 

Loan repayment to Sponsor 

Unit issue expenses 
Return on capital (Interest Distribution) 

Finance Cost paid 
Net cash flows from financing activities (C) 
Net increase In cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period (refer note 7) 

Components of cash and cash equivalents 
Balance with banks 

- In current accounts 

- In escrow accounts' 

Total Cash and cash equivalents 
II Refer note 21 for details of Assets and liabilities held for sale 

For year ended For year ended 

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

17,124.69 9,043.83 

5,595.30 2,532.09 

(2.66) (1.44) 

(36.99) (101.01) 

1,429.82 4,935.37 

(216.13) (97.04) 

(23,137.51) (16,461.72) 

(428.26) 

(499.47) 

(171.21) (149.92) 

7.23 20.97 

48.71 47.57 

(0.14) (0.99) 

(11.33) 4.48 

251.49 (620.87) 

124.75 (698,77) 

(36.19) (9.51) 

88.56 (708.28) 

(544.12) 35.69 

- (27,866.12) 

1,579.74 6,553.77 

1,567.20 -
373.99 -

- (87,978.13) 

- 20,984.80 

(3,630.96) -
180.49 -
900.00 -

39.90 
(4,287.33) (13,948.63) 

(12,861.90) -

(568.10) (2,041.10) 

214.51 77.35 

7,176.96 3,446.20 

(9,859.62) (1,00,736.17) 

17,149.23 51,146.50 

(1,352.20) {3,984.60) 

l,0_00.00 -
{638.23) 63,677.20 

- (646.54) 

- (708.60) 

157.90 726.20 

(157.90) (5,599.11) 

(14.07) (68.61) 

(812.96) (449.55) 

(5,550.63) (2,504.61) 

9,781.14 1,01,588.28 
10.08 143.83 

150,39 6.56 

160.47 150,39 

1.15 141.83 

159.32 8.56 

160,47 150.39 



Debt reconciliation statement in accordance with Ind AS 7 
(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Particulars 

Opening balances as at beginning of the year 

Long term borrowings 
Short term borrowings 

Movements 

Long term borrowings 

Short term borrowings 

Closing balances as at end of the year 
Long term borrowings 

Short term borrowings 

Notes: 

1. All figures in bracket are outflow. 

For year ended 

March 31, 2025 

63,030.66 

(638.23) 

1,000.00 

62,392.43 

1,000.00 

For year ended 

March 31, 2024 

4,872.91 

63,030.66 
(4,872.91) 

63,030.66 

2. Taxes paid are treated as arising from operating activities and are not bifurcated between investing and financing activities. 

3. The Standalone Statement of cash flows has been prepared under Indirect Method as per Ind AS 7 "Statement of Cash Flows". 

4. The Borrowings reflected in above Debt Reconciliation Statement are gross of Unamortised Transaction Cost. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Standalone Financial Statements. 

As per our report of even date 
For Gokhale & Sathe 

Chartered Accountants 
ICAI Firm Registration Num 

CA Kaustubh Des and 

Partner 

Membership No.: 12101 

Place : Mumbai 

For M S KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 105047W 

~<¥1;.... 

Nitin Tiwari 

Partner 

Membership No.: 118894 

Place : Mumbai 

Date : May 08, 2025 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
MMK Toll Road Private Limited 

(Investment Manager of IRS Infrastructure Trust) 

CIN : U45200MH2002PTC135512 

Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

Chairman & Director 

DIN: 00183554 

Place : Mumbai 

Shilpa Todankar 

Chief Financial Officer 

Place : Mumbai 

Date : May 08, 2025 

Amitabh Murarka 

Chief Executive Officer 

Place : Hyderabad 

~ 
Kaustubh Shevade 

Company Secretary 

Membership No. A27833 

Place : Mumbai 

Date : May 08, 2025 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO SEBI CIRCULARS 

(SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2024/44 dated 15-May-2024} 

(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

A. Standalone Statement of Net Asset at Fair Value 

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024 
Particulars 

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value 

A. Assets 2,90,342.54 4,61,430.36 2,56,360.82 4,03,257.61 

B. Liabilities (at book value) 1,05,109.57 1,05,109.57 1,03,217.50 1,03,217.50 

C. Net Assets (A-B) 1,85,232.97 3,56,320.79 1,53,143.32 3,00,040.10 

D. Number of units (in million) 1,172.09 1,172.09 1,113.69 1,113.69 

E. NAV (C/D) (Amount in!!;) 158.04 304.00 137.51 269.41 

B. Standalone Statement of Total Returns at Fair Value 

Particulars As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024 

Total Comprehensive Income 
17,119.65 9,043.83 

(As per the Statement of Profit and Loss) 

Add/(less) : Other Changes in Fair Value 1, 71,087.82 1,46,896.78 

Comprehensive Income 1,88,207.47 1,55,940.61 

Notes: 

Fair value of assets as at March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 and other changes in fair value for the year then ended as disclosed in the above tables are derived 

based on the fair valuation reports issued by the independent valuer appointed under the lnvlT Regulations. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Standalone Financial Statements. 

As per our report of even date 

For Gokhale & Sathe 

Chartered Accountants 

CA Kaustubh D 

Partner 

Membership No.: 121011 

Place: Mumbai 

For M S K A & Associates 

Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Firm Registration Number: 105047W 

~v-io-<1_;.-

Nitin Tiwari 

Partner 

Membership No.: 118894 

Place: Mumbai 

Date : May 08, 2025 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

MMK Toll Road Private limited 

{Investment Manager of IRB Infrastructure Trust) 

CIN : U45200MH2002PTC135512 

Virendra D. Mhaiskar Amitabh Murarka 

Chairman & Director Chief Executive Officer 

DIN: 00183554 

Place : Mumbai 

Shi I pa Todankar 

Chief Financial Officer 

Place : Mumbai 

Date : May 08, 2025 

Place: Hyderabad 

c;,M-
Company Secretary 

Membership No. A27833 



Additional disclosures as required by paragraph 6 of chapter 4 to the master circular no. SEBI/HO/DDHS-POD-2/P/CIR/2024/44 

dated 15th May 2024 as amended including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder ("SEBI circulars") 
(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 
Net Distributable Cash Flow for the year ended March 31, 2025 

(i) IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Sr No. Particulars 

1 Cashflows from operating activities as per Cash Flow Statement of the Trust 

2 
(+) Cash flows received from SPV's / Investment entities which represent distributions of NDCF computed as per relevant 
framework 

(+) Treasury income / income from investing activities of the Trust (interest income received from FD, any investment 

3 
entities as defined in Regulation 18(5), tax refund, any other income in interest, profit on sale of Mutual funds, 

investments, assets etc., dividend income etc., excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further clarified that these amounts will 
be considered on a cash receipt basis) 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or shares of SPVs/Holdcos or Investment Entity 
adjusted for the following: 

• Applicable capital gains and other taxes 

4 • Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds 
• Directly attributable transaction costs 

• Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per Regulation 18( 7) of lnvlT 
Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the lnvlT Regulations 

(+) Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPVs or Investment Entity 

5 
not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re invest as per Regulation 18(7) of lnvlT Regulations or any other relevant 
provisions of the lnvlT Regulations, if such proceeds are not intended to be invested subsequently 

6 (-) Finance cost on Borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per Profit and Loss Account of the Trust 
(-) Debt repayment at Trust level (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMl's except if refinanced through new 

7 debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repayments/ debt refinanced through new debt, in any form or 
funds raised through issuance of units) 

(·) Any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in accordance with, any: (i) . 

loan agreement entered with financial institution or (ii). terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations 

applicable to debt securities issued by the Trust or any of its SPVs/ HoldCos, or (iii). terms and conditions, covenants or any 

other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by the Trust or any of its SPVs/ HoldCos, or (iv) . 

8 agreement pursuant to which the SPV/ Holdco operates or owns the infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or 

cashflows from such asset (such as, concession agreement, transmission services agreement, power purchase agreement, 
lease agreement, and any other agreement of a like nature, by whatever name called); or (v). statutory, judicial, regulatory, 
or governmental stipulations; 

9 
(-) any capital expenditure on existing assets owned/ leased by the lnvlT, to the extent not funded by debt/ equity or from 
contractual reserves created in the earlier vears 

10 NDCF at Trust Level 

Notes: 

1. As per the master circular SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2024/44 dated May 15, 2024, details of NDCF distributable is as below: 

Particulars Rs. (in million) 

NDCF ofTrust(A) 2,549.72 

(+) NDCF of SPV's (B)# 8,883.38 
(-) Amount distributed by SPV's (C)* 8,966.62 
Amount of NDCF Distributable D=(A+B-C) 2,466.48 

Year ended 

March 31, 2025 

88.56 

8,966.62 

251.50 

-

-

(5,550.63) 

(638.23) 

(568.10) 

2,549.72 

# NDCF of SPV's excludes NDCF for certain SPVs, where funds are not available for distribution on account of restrictions placed vide the terms of the 

* Amount distributed by SPVs includes funds released, which were restricted in the previous year vide terms of the Facility Agreement. 

Trust has ensured that minimum 90% of the above amount will be distributed as NDCF. 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 

1. Trust Information and Nature of Operations 

IRB Infrastructure Trust (the "Trust") is a trust settled pursuant to the indenture of trust dated 
August 27, 2019 which is registered under Indian Trust Act, 1882 and under the Securities Exchange 
Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to time. 
The Trust is settled by the Sponsor, IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited ("IRB" or the "Sponsor"), 
an infrastructure development company in India. The Trustee to the Trust is IDBI Trusteeship 
Services Limited (the "Trustee"). Investment manager for the Trust is MMK Toll Road Private Limited 
(the "Investment Manager"). The Trust has received registration certificate from SEBI having 
registration number IN/lnviT/19-20/0012. 

The Trust has been formed to invest in infrastructure assets primarily being in the road sector in 
India. The Trust's road projects are eligible infrastructure projects under the lnvlT Regulations and 
held through special purpose vehicles ("Project SPVs" together as "Project SPV Group"). The Trust's 
portfolio comprises of sixteen road projects as listed below:-

The Trust had acquired the projects at Sr no 1 to 11, 13 and 16 from the Sponsor. The SPV at Sr. no 
11 has been added to portfolio from 11.08.2023. The SPV at Sr. no 12 has been added to portfolio 
from 10.11.2023. The SPV at Sr. no 13 has been added to portfolio from 28.12.2023. The SPV at Sr. 
no 14 & 15 has been added to portfolio from 01.01.2024. The SPV at Sr. no 16 has been added to 
portfolio from 28.12.2024. 

Sr No. Project SPV Name Type 

1 AE Tollway Limited (AETL) DBFOT 

2 CG Tollway Limited (CGTL) DBFOT 

3 IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited (IRBHMTL) DBFOT 

4 IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWTL) DBFOT 

5 Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL) DBFOT 

6 Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL) DBFOT 

7 Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL) DBFOT 

8 Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL) DBFOT 

9 Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL) DBFOT 

10 Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL) (w.e.f 02.04.2022) DBFOT 

11 IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited (IGEPL) (w.e.f 11.08.2023) TOT 

12 IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited (ILTPL) (w.e.f 10.11.2023) TOT 

13 Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (STPL) (w.e.f 28.12.2023) DBFOT 

14 IRB Kata Tollway Private Limited (IKTPL) (w.e.f 01.01.2024) TOT 
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Sr No. Project SPV Name Type 

15 IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited (IGTPL) (w.e.f 01.01.2024) TOT 

16 Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited (MBEL) (w.e.f 28.12.2024) BOT 

The registered office of the Investment Manager is Off No-11th Floor/1101 Hiranandani Knowledge 
Park, Technology Street, Hill Side Avenue, Powai Mumbai 400076. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with resolution passed by the 
board of directors of the Investment manager on May 08, 2025. 

The Trust has been listed on NSE w.e.f. 03.04.2023 

2. Basis of preparation 

The Standalone Financial Statements which comprises the Standalone Balance Sheet as at March 31, 
2025, the Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the 
Standalone Statement of Changes in Unit Holder's Equity, the Standalone Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year then ended, Statement of Net Assets at Fair value as at March 31, 2025, Statement of 
Total Returns at Fair Value and Net Distributable cashflows for the year then ended as an additional 
disclosure in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Board of India ("SEBI") Master Circular 
No. SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2024/44 dated 15-May-2024, as amended, ("the SEBI Circular") for 
the year ended March 31, 2025 and notes to the Standalone Financial Statements, including material 
accounting policy information and other explanatory information has been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended 
from time to time read with SEBI Circular, together known as ("lnvlT Regulations"); the Indian 
Accounting Standards prescribed under Rule 2(1) (a) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015, as amended, and other accounting principles generally accepted in India to the extent 
not inconsistent with the lnvlT Regulations (refer note 8 below on presentation of "Unit Capital" as 
"Equity" instead of compound instruments under Ind AS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation). 

The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis except for Statement of Cash flows 
and under the historical cost convention except for certain financial assets and liabilities (refer 
accounting policy regarding financial . instruments) which have been measured at fair value and on 
Going Concern Basis. 

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupee ('INR') which is the functional currency of the 
Trust and all values are rounded to the nearest millions, except when otherwise indicated. Wherever 
the amount represented 'O' (zero) construes value less than Rupees five thousand. 

The accounting policies adopted, and methods of computation followed are consistent with those of 
the previous financial year, except for items disclosed below: 

The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified Companies (Indian Accounting Standard) Amendment 
Rules 2023 dated 31 March 2023 to amend the following Ind AS which are effective from 1 April 
2023 
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Ind AS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements An entity shall disclose material accounting policy 
information. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other 
information included in an entity's financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence 
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those 
financial statements. 

Ind AS 8, Accounting policies, Change in Accounting Estimates and Errors Definition of 'Change in 
Accounting Estimates' in account has been replaced by revised definition of 'Accounting Estimate'. 
As per revised definition, accounting estimates are monetary amounts in the financial statements 
that are subject to measurement uncertainty. An entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve 
the objective set out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates involves the use of 
judgements or assumptions based on the latest available, reliable information. 

An entity may need to change an accounting estimate if changes occur in the circumstances on 
which the accounting estimate was based or as a result of new information, new developments or 
more experience. By its nature, a change in an accounting estimate does not relate to prior periods 
and is not the correction of an error. 

3. Summary of material accounting policies 

3.1. Use of estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the results of operations during the reporting period end. Although these estimates are based 
upon management's best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results could differ from 
these estimates. 

3.2. Current versus non-current classification 

The Trust presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/ non-current 
classification. 
An asset is treated as current when it is: 
- Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle 
- Held primarily for the purpose of trading 
- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 
least twelve months after the reporting period. 
All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when: 
- It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle 
- It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 
- It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
- There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months 
after the reporting period. 

~~~ \~~? 
~ 

-• 
7. <',,er 

~ 

-I< ID 



All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities respectively. 

The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation 
in cash and cash equivalents. The Trust has identified twelve months as its operating cycle. 

3.3. Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Trust and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. 
Revenue is measured at the transaction price of the consideration received or receivable, taking into 
account.contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duties collected on behalf of 
the government. 

The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognised: 

Interest income 
Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the amount outstanding and 
the rates applicable. For all debt instruments measured either at amortised cost or at fair value 
through other comprehensive income, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate 
(EIR). 

Dividends 
Revenue is recognised when the Trust's right to receive the payment is established, which is 
generally when shareholders approve the dividend. 

3.4. Taxes 

Current income tax 
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from 
or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 
that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Trust 
operates and generates taxable income. 

Current income tax relating to items recognised outside the Statement of Profit and Loss is 
recognised outside the Statement of Profit and Loss (either in other comprehensive income or in 
equity). Current tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or 
directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect 
to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes 
provisions where appropriate. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting 
date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 
- When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability 

.saction that is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
unting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 



- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, when the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, 
and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: 

- When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time 
of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part 
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each 
reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside statement of profit and loss is recognised outside 
statement of profit and loss (either in other comprehensive income or in equity). 

Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or 
directly in equity. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable 
right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to 
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

3.5. Goods and Services Tax {GST) paid on acquisition of assets or on incurring expenses 

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and service tax paid, except: 

When the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax authority, 
in which case, the tax paid is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense item, as applicable. 

When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of tax included. The net amount of tax 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included as part of receivables or payables in 
the balance sheet unless the tax is available for Input tax credit. 

3.6. Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised 
as part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they 
occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the 



borrowing of Trusts. Borrowing cost also includes exchange differences to the extent regarded as an 
adjustment to the borrowing costs. 

3.7. Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Trust has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. When the Trust expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under 
an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the 
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the Statement 
of Profit and Loss net of any reimbursement. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax 
rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the 
increase in the provision due to the passage oftime is recognised as a finance cost. 

3.8. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the 
control of the Trust or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that an 
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent liability also arises in 
extremely rare cases where there is a liability that cannot be recognised because it cannot be 
measured reliably. The Trust does not recognise a contingent liability but discloses its existence in 
the financial statements. • 
A contingent asset is not recognised unless it becomes virtually certain that an inflow of economic 
benefits will arise. When an inflow of economic benefits is probable, contingent assets are disclosed 
in the financial statements. 
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date. 

3.9. Financial instrument 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 
All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not 
recorded at fair value through Statement of Profit and Loss, directly attributable transaction cost to 
the acquisition of the financial asset. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 
assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place (regular way 
trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Trust commits to purchase or sell the 
asset. 

Subsequent measurement 
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in following categories; 
at amortised cost 
at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 
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Financial Assets at amortised cost 
A financial asset is measured at the amortised cost if both the following conditions are met: 
a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting 
contractual cash flows, and 
b) Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

This category is the most relevant to the Trust. All the Loans and other receivables under financial 
assets (except Investments) are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. 

After initial measurement such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The losses 
arising from impairment are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss. 

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Statement of Profit and Loss/Other comprehensive income 

All investments in scope of Ind AS 109 are measured at fair value. The Trust has investment in Debt 
oriented mutual Trust which are held for trading, are classified as at FVTPL. The Trust makes such 
election on an instrument by instrument basis. The classification is made on initial recognition and is 
irrevocable. The gain/ loss on sale of investments are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss. 
Instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes 
recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss. 

De recognition 

A financial asset is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the Trust's balance sheet) when: 
The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or 
The Trust has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a 'pass-through' 
arrangement; and either (a) the Trust has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, or (b) the Trust has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

When the Trust has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a 
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of 
ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Trust continues to recognise the transferred asset 
to the extent of the Trust's continuing involvement. In that case, the Trust also recognises an 
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that 
reflects the rights and obligations that the Trust has retained. 

3.10. Impairment of assets 

Impairment of financial assets 

Expected credit losses are recognized for all financial assets subsequent to initial recognition other 
than financial assets in FVTPL category. 
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For financial assets other than trade receivables, as per Ind AS 109, the Trust recognizes 12 month 
expected credit losses for all originated or acquired financial assets if at the reporting date the credit 
risk of the financial asset has not increased significantly since its initial recognition. The expected 
credit losses are measured as lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on financial assets 
increases significantly since its initial recognition. 

The impairment losses and reversals are recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Trust assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Trust estimates the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset's or cash-generating unit's (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. 
Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or Trust's assets. When the carrying 
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to its recoverable amount. 

Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings 
and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Trust's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings. 

Subsequent measurement 
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and 
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial 
liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the 
near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Trust that 
are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by Ind AS 109. 

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

Loans and borrowings 
This is the category most relevant to the Trust. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and 

ings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are 
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recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are de-recognised as well as through the EIR 
amortisation process. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees 
or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the 
statement of profit and loss. 

De-recognition 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled 
or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition 
of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of 
profit and loss. 

Offsetting of financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the standalone 
balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously. 

3.11 Investment in subsidiaries 

Investments (equity instruments as well as subordinate debt) in subsidiaries are carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying 
amount of the investment is assessed and written down immediately to its recoverable amount. On 
disposal of investments in subsidiaries, the difference between net disposal proceeds and carrying 
amounts are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss. 

3.12 Foreign currencies 

The Trust's financial statements are presented in INR, which is also the Trust's functional currency. 
The Trust does not have any foreign operation and has assessed the functional currency to be INR. 

Transactions and balances 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Trust at their respective functional 
currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates of 
exchange at the reporting date. 

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. 

3.13 Fair value measurement 

The Trust measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives at fair value at each balance sheet 
date. 



Fa ir value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the 
liability takes place either: 
► In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
► In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Trust. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic 
best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Trust uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs 
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that 
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

► Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
► Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable 
► Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
Trust determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

The Trust's Management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value 
measurement, such as derivative instruments and unquoted financial assets measured at fair value, 
and for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held for distribution in discontinued operations. 

At each reporting date, the Management analyses the movements in the values of assets and 
liabilities which are required to be remeasured or re-assessed as per the Trust's accounting policies. 
For this analysis, the Management verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation · by 
agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents. 

The management also compares the change in the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant 
external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable. 

On an annual basis, the Management of Investment Manager presents the valuation results to the 
Audit Committee and the Trust's independent auditors. This includes a discussion of the major 
assumptions used in the valuations. 



For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Trust has determined classes of assets and liabilities on 
the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value 
hierarchy as explained above. 

This note summarises accounting policy for fair value. Other fair value related disclosures are given 
in the relevant notes. 

Disclosures for Significant accounting judgement, estimates and assumptions (note 33) 
Financial instruments (including those carried at amortised cost) (note 27 and 31) 
Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy (note 27 and 28) 

3.14 Distribution to unit holders 

The Trust recognises a liability to make cash distributions to unit holders when the distribution is 
authorised and a legal obligation has been created. As per the lnvlT Regulations, a distribution is 
authorised when it is approved by the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager. A 
corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity. 

3.15 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value. 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short­
term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an 
integral part of the Trust's cash management. 

3.16 Earnings Per Unit (EPU) 

Basic earnings per unit are calculated by dividing the net profit for the period attributable to unit 
holders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the period. 

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per unit, the weighted average number of units 
outstanding during the period are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential units. 

3.17 Assets held for sale 

Assets held for sale Non-current assets or disposal groups comprising of assets and liabilities are 
classified as 'held for sale' when all of the following criteria's are met: (i) decision has been made to 
sell. (ii) the assets are available for immediate sale in its present condition. (iii) the assets are being 
actively marketed and (iv) sale has been agreed or is expected to be concluded within 12 months of 
the Balance Sheet date. 
Subsequently, such non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured 
at the lower of its carrying value and fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets held for sale are 
not depreciated or amortised. 

3.18 New pronouncements issued but not effective 

Ministry of Corporate Affairs ("MCA") notifies new standards or amendments to the existing 
standards under Companies {Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. For the 
year ended March 31, 2025, new notified standards of MCA are not applicable to the Trust. 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 
(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Particulars 

Flnanclal Auets 

Note 4: Investments 

Non-Current Investments 

Investments at cost 
A. Investments In equity Instruments of subsidiaries (unquoted) (at cost)(refer note 34)' 
AE Tollway Limited' 

CG Tollway Limited 

IRS Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited' 

IRS Westcoast Tollway Limited' 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited' 

Kalthal Tollway Limited' 

Solapur Yedeshl Tollway Limited 

UdaipurTollway Lim ited 

Yedeshi Auranaabad Tollway Limited 

Palsit Dankunl Tollway Private Limited 

IRS Golconda Expressway Private Limited 

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited 

JRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited 

IRS Kata Tollway Private Limited 

IRS Gwalior Tollway Private Limited 

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited 

Investments In Equity lnstuments of subsldlilries (unquoted) (A) 

B. Deemed Investments In Subordinate debt to subsidiaries (refer note 34) 

CG Tollway Limited 

Udaipur Tollway Limited 

Palsit Dankun i Tollway Private Limited 

5amakhiyali Tollway Priva te Limited 

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited 

lRB Kata Tollway Private Limited 

IRS Gwalior Tollway Private limited 

Deemed Investments In Subordinate debt to subsidiaries (B) 

C. Investments In non convertible debentures of subsidiary (unquoted )(at C05t)(refer note 34) 

Meerut Sudaun Expressway Limited 

Investments In non convertible debentures of subsidiary tC) 

Total non-current Investments ID)• I A+ B + C) 

A{:gregate amount of unquoted investments llncludln1 subordinated debt) 

current Investments 

Investment at fair value through Profit & Lois 

Investments in Mutual Funds (quoted) 

ABSL Liquid Fund Direct Growth• NAV as on March 31, 2025 • "416.73 

Canara Robeco Overnight Fund Direct Growth• NAV as on March 31, 2025 •" 1,318.94 

UBI Overnight Fund Direct Growth• NAV as on March 31, 2025 •" 1,344.22 
Total 

Aggregate book value of quoted lnvestmenh: 

Market value of quoted Investments 

•Refer note 13 for details of security against secured borrowinas 

# Refer note 21 for details of Assets and liabilities held for sale 

Face value No. of Shares/ units 

10 
10 20,35,00,000 

10 
10 

10 
10 

10 9,82,50,000 

10 11,68,00,000 

10 21,57,57,001 

10 12,12,00,000 

10 71,54,50,000 

10 11,62,00,000 

10 42,05,60,0CIO 

10 3,93,47,500 

10 10,32,65,000 

10 42,67 ,33,000 

2,S7,91,02,501 

10 94,199.49 

1,000 1,29,738.40 

1,000 3,42,252.64 

Ant 
March 31 2025 

2,035.00 

982,50 

1,168.00 

2,157.57 
1,212.00 

7,154.50 

1,162.00 

4,205.60 

393.46 

1,032.65 
4,287.33 

25,791.03 

2,896.26 

8,893.41 

3,637.50 

1,268.00 

16,695.17 

12,861.90 

12,861.90 

55,348,10 

55,348.10 

39.44 

171.12 

460.06 

670.62 

666.56 
670.62 

Face value No. of Shares/ units 

10 43,65,00,000 

10 20,35,00,000 

10 37,15,00,000 

10 17,41,94,303 

10 15,55,00,000 

10 32,80,00,000 

10 9,62,S0,000 

10 11,68,00,000 

10 21,57,57,001 

10 12,12,00,000 

10 71,54,50,000 

10 11,62,00,000 

10 42,05,60,0CIO 

10 3,93,47,500 

10 10,32,85,000 

3,61,60,63,804 

10 2,22,851.66 

Ant 
March 31 2024 

4,365.00 
2,035.00 

3,715.00 
1,741.94 

1,555.00 

3,280.00 

982.50 

1,168.00 

2,157.57 

1,212.00 

7,154.50 

1,162.00 

4,205.60 

393.48 
1,032.85 

36,160.64 

2,696.26 

8,893.41 

3,637.50 

1,268.00 

12,617.40 

1,160.43 
3,098.55 

33,591.55 

69,752.19 

69,752.19 

86.64 

86.84 

85.40 
86.64 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 
(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Particulars 

Financial assets 
Note 5: Loans 
Non-current 
Secured, considered good, unless otherwise stated' 
Loans to related parties (interest Bearing) (refer note 34) 
Less : Current maturities of loan to related parties 

Total (A) 
Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated 
Loans to related parties (Interest Bearing) (refer note 34)' 
Less: Current maturiti es of loan to related parties' 
Loans to related parties (Interest Free) (refer note 34)' 
Subordinated Debt (Interest Bearing) (refer note 34) 

Total (B) 
Total (C) =(A+B) 

Current 
Secured, considered good, unless otherwise stated 
Current maturities of long term loans to related parties (Interest Bearing)' 

Total (A) 
Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated 
Loans to related parties (Interest Bearing) (refer note 34)# 
Loans to related parties (Interest Free) (refer note 34) 
Current maturities of long term loan to related parties' 

Total (B) 
Total (C) = (A+B) 

Asat 
March 31, 2025 

8,000.00 

57,771.75 
65,771.75 
65,771.75 

39.95 
4,921.90 

4,961.85 
4,961.85 

Refer note 27 for Fair Value measurement and Note 31 for information about Trust's exposure to Financial risk. 
# Refer note 21 for details of Assets and liabilities held for sale 

Asat 

March 31, 2024 

45,754.62 
(1,567.20) 

44,187.42 

32,819.71 
(413.89) 

400.53 
77,254.30 

1,10,060.65 
1,54,248.07 

1,567.20 
1,567.20 

3,025.94 
3,444.44 

413.89 
6,884.27 
8,451.47 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 
(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Particulars 

Note 6: Other financial assets 
Non-current 
Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated 
Bank guarantee margin receivable 
- related parties (refer note 34) 

Earmarked balances with bank 
Bank deposits with more than 12 months maturity•• 
Total 

uoebt Service Reserve Account 

Asat 
March 31, 2025 

Bank deposits are marked lien/ pledged against the non current secured loan as per term loan agreement with the lender. 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

30.95 

582.20 
613.15 

The deposits to the extent of (March 31, 2024: Rs . 582.20 million) maintained by the Trust with bank includes time deposits, which are held against Debt 
Service Reserve Account (DSRA), as per terms stated in Fianancing Agreement. 

Bank Deposits earn interest at the rate of March 31, 2024: 6.80% p.a. 

Current 
Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated 
Interest accrued on fixed deposits 

Interest receivable on non - convertible debenture from related party (refer note 34) 
Interest receivable from related parties (refer note 34)' 
Bank guarantee margin receivable 
- related parties (refer note 34) 
Other receivables 
- related parties (refer note 34) 
- other parties 
Total 

Refer note 27 for Fair Value measurement and Note 31 for information about Trust's exposure to Financial risk 
# Refer note 21 for details of Assets and liabilities held for sale 

Note 7: Cash and cash equivalents' 
Balances with banks: 
- In current accounts 
- In escrow accounts 
Total 

Refer note 27 for Fair Value measurement 
# Refer note 21 for details of Assets and liabilities held for sale 

Note 8: Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents 
Earmarked balances with banks .. 
- Maturity more than 3 but less than 12 months# 

- Maturity more than 12 months' 

Balances with bank held as margin money• 
- Maturity more than 3 but less than 12 months 

Total 

*The balance has been held as margin money with the bank for guarantee given for SYTL, YATL and IGEPL. 

Refer note 27 for Fair Value measurement 

# Refer note 21 for details of Assets and liabilities held for sale 

.. Debt Service Reserve Account and Cash Reserve. 

1.47 

428.26 
9,530.51 

61.88 

9.42 

10,031.54 

1.15 

1.15 

214.00 

214.00 

Bank deposits are marked lien/ pledged against the non current secured loan as per term loan agreement with the lender. 

19.69 

20,696.56 

291.48 

0.36 
21,008.09 

141.83 
8.56 

150.39 

1,950.10 

91.00 

2,041.10 

The deposits to the extent of Rs.2,977.40 million (March 31, 2024 : 1,950.10 million) maintained by the Trust with bank includes time deposits, which are 

held against Debt Service Reserve Account (DSRA) and Cash Reserve (CR), as per terms stated in Financing Agreement. 

Bank Deposits earn interest at the rate of 6.BO¾ to 7.75% p.a. (March 31, 2024: 6.80% to 7.75% p.a). 

Note 9: Current tax assets (net) 
Advance income tax (net of provision: Rs. Nil, March 31, 2024 : Rs. Nil) 

Total 

Note 10: Other assets 
Current 
Prepaid expenses 

Total 

40.67 9.52 

40.67 9.52 

11.34 

11.34 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes lo Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 
Note 11: Unit Capital 
(All amounts are In INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Partlculars 

t. Unit capltal • 
Issued, subscribed and fully paid up Unit Capltal 

At the beginning of the year 
Issued during the year• 

Less: Return of Capltal (Refer note 34 & 36) 
At the end of the year 

Asat 
Much 31 2025 

1.35,091.23 
17,149.23 
(1,352.20) 

1,50,888.26 

As at 
March 31 2024 

87,929.33 
51,146.50 
(3,984.60) 

1,35,091.23 

• Under the provisions of the lnvlT Regulations, Trust Is required to distribute to Unitholders not less than 90% of the net distributable cash flows of the Trust for each flnanclal year. Accordingly, a portion of the Unit Capita I contains a 
contractual obligation of the Trust to pay to lts Unltholders cash distributions. Hence, the Unit Capital Is a compound rinanclal Instrument which contains equity ond liability components ln accordance with Ind AS 32 - Financial 
Instruments. However, In accordance with Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 of the SEBJ clrcular, the Unit capital have been presented as •Equity• in order to comply wlth the requirements of Section Hof Chapter 3 lo the SEBI circular, dealing with 
the minimum presentation and disclosure requirements for key financial statements. Consistent with Unit Cupital being classlOed as equity, the distributions to Unitholders Is also presented In Statement of Changes In Unltholders' Equity 
when the dlslributions are approved by the Board of Directors of Investment Manager. 

Units are classified as equity. Incrementa l costs attributable to the Issue of units are directly recorded In equity, net of taJC 

II. Reconclllatlon of the number of units outst;mdlng and the amount of unit capital: 

Partlculus 
As at March 31, 2025 As at Marc;h 31, 2024 

No. of shares Rs. In million No. ofshares Rs. In mllllon 
At the beginning of the year 1,11,36,93,265 l,3S,091.23 87,92,93,265 87,929.33 
Issued during the year• 5,84,00,000 17,149.23 23,44,00,000 51,146.50 
Less: Return of Capital (Refer note 34 & 36) (1,352.20) (3,984.60) 
At the end of the year 1,17,20,93,265 1,50,&SB.26 1,11,36,93,265 1,3S,D91.23 

•a) The Trust offered rights issue of up to 5,84,00,000 units of the Trust (the 'units'), for cash at a price of Rs. 293.65 per unit (the 'issue price'), aggregating to Rs. 17,149.23 million to the eligible unitholders (as defined In the Letter of 
Offer) on a rights basis to Sponsor and GIC affiliates In the ratio of 51:49 held by them on the record date, being on December 13, 2024 {the 'Issue') In accordance with the lnvlT Regulatlons. The Board of Directors of MMK Toll Road 
Private Limited ('Investment Manager'), considered and approved allotment of S,84,00,000 rights units to the eliglble unitholden of IRB Infrastructure Trust on December 20, 2024. 

b) The Trust offered rights Issue of up to 9,20,00,000 units of the Trust {the 'units'), for cash at a price of Rs. 244.86 per unit (the ' Issue price'), aggregating to Rs. 22,527.00 million to the eligible unitholders {as defined in the Letter of 
Offer} on a rights basis to Sponsor and GIC affiliates In the ratio of 51:49 held by them on the record date, being on March 12, 2024 (the 'Issue') In accordance with the lnvlT Regulations. The Board of Directors of MMK Toll Road Private 
Limited ('Investment Manager'), considered and approved allotment of 9,20,00,000 rights units to !he ellglble unitholders of IRB Infrastructure Trust on March 21, 2024. 

c) The Trust offered rights Issue of up to 14,24,00,000 units of the Trust (the 'units'), for cash at a price of Rs. 200.98 per unit (the 1ssue price'), aggregating to Rs. 28,619.50 million to the eligible unitholders {as defined In the Letter of 
Offer) on a rights basis to Sponsor and GIC affiliates In the ratio of 51:49 held by them on the record date, being on July 28, 2023 (the 'Issue') In accordance with the lnvlT Regulations. The Board of Directors of MMK Toll Road Private 
Limited ('Investment Manager'), considered and approved allotment of 14,24,00,000 rights units to the eligible unltholders of IRB Infrastructure Trust on August 10, 2023. 

Ill Details of Promoter 

Partlculars 
As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024 

No. of units "of total share No. of units "of total share 
IRB Infrastructure Developers limited 59,80,39,840 51.02" 56,82,39,840 51.02% 
Anahera Investments Pte Ltd 7,84,23,181 6.69% 27,86,23,181 25.02% 
Brkklavers Investments Pte Ltd 6,99,57,561 5.97% 6,65,57,561 5.98% 
Chiswick Investments Pte Ltd 8,37,57,S61 7.15% 6,65,57,561 5.98% 
Stretford End Investments Pte Ltd 4,15,46,091 3.54% 6,67,57,561 5.99% 
Danllenham Investments Pte Ltd 1.91,57,561 1.63% 6,69,57,S61 6.01% 
Cintra lnvlT Investments B.V. 28,12,11,470 23,99% 0.00% 
Total 1,17,20,93,265 100% 1,11,36,93,265 100" 
Ill Details of Promoter 

Partlculars 
As at March 31, 2024 As at March 31, 2023 

No. of units "of total share No. of units "of total sha re 
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 56,82,39,840 51.Q2% 44,&4,39,B40 51.00% 
Anahera Investments Pte Ltd 27,86,23,181 25.02% 21,98,23,181 25.00% 
Bricklayers Investments Pte Ltd 6,65,57,561 5.98% 5,27,57,S61 6.00% 
Chiswkk Investments Pte Ltd 6,65,57,561 5.98% 5,27,57,561 6.00% 
Stretford End Investments Pte Ltd 6,67,57,561 5.99% S,27,57,561 6.00% 
Dangenham Investments Pte Ltd 6,69,57,561 6.01% 5,27,57,561 6.00% 
Total 1,11,36,93,265 100% 87,92,93,265 100% 

Terms, rights and restrictions attached to units 

The Trust has only one class of units having face value of Rs.100 each. 

A unithotder's right is limited to the right to require due administration of the Trust In accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed and the Investment Management Agreement. 

Note: 12 Other Equity 

Particulars 

Retained earnings 
At the beginning of the year 
Profit for the year 
Unit Issue expenses 
Return on Capltal (Interest distribution) (Refer note 34 & 36) 
Total retained earnings 

Total Other Equity 

As at 
March 31, 2025 

18,052.09 
17,119.65 

(14.07) 
(812.96) 

34,344.71 
34,344.71 

"Change during the 
year 

0.00% 
·18.33% 
-0,01% 

1.17% 
-2.45% 
-4.38% 
23.99% 

% Change during the 
year 

0.02% 
0.02% 
•0,02% 

•0.02% 
•0,01% 

0.01% 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

9,526.42 

9,043.83 
(68.61) 

(449.55) 
18,0S2.09 

1B,OS2.09 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 
(All amounts are In INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Particulars 

Financial liabilities 
Note 13: Borrowings 
Non-current Borrowing" 
Secured 
Term Loans 
Indian rupee loan from banks 
Less: Current maturities 
Total (A) 

Indian rupee loan from financial institutions 
Less: Current maturities 
Total (BJ 

less: Unamortised transaction cost 
Total (CJ 
Total (DJ =A+B+C) 

Borrowing 
Current Borrowings• 
Current maturities of long-term borrowings 
- Indian rupee loan from banks 
- Indian rupee loan from financial institutions 
Unsecured loan from related party (refer note 34) 
- Interest free 
Interest accrued but not due on borrowings 
Total(E) 
Total (D+E) 

Aggregate Secured Loans 
Aggregate Unsecured Loans 

Asat 
March 31, 2025 

1,000.00 

1,000.00 

1,000.00 

1,000.00 

Refer note 27 for Fair Value measurement and Note 31 for information about entities exposure to Financial risk. 
# Refer note 21 for details of Assets and liabilities held for sale 
Rate of Interest 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

34,421.27 
(349.00) 

34,072.27 

28,609.39 
(290.00) 

28,319.39 

(689.51) 
(689.51) 

61,702.15 

349.00 
290.00 

8.39 
647.39 

62,349.54 

63,030.66 

Rate of interest on the Indian Rupee loan from banks and financial institutions varies from 8.60% to 9.00% p.a. (March 31, 2024: 8.60% to 8.70% p.a.) 

Nature of Security 

i) Secured by a first ranking pari passu Security Interest on all movable assets and the receivables of the Borrower present and future. 

ii) Secured by first ranking pari passu charge over all bank accounts of the Borrower, including but not limited to the Escrow Account and the Sub­

Accounts . 

iii) Secured by first ranking pari passu charge on the DSRA. 

iv) Unconditional and irrevocable corporate guarantee by AETL, KGTL, IRBWTL, IRBHMTL & KTL, in a form and manner satisfactory to the Finance Parties 
(the" Corporate Guarantee"). 
v) Secured by first ranking pari passu pledge over all the equity shares . 

Repayment Terms 

The Indian rupee loans from Banks and Financial Institutions are repayable In structured monthly installments such that the total tenor does not exceed 
15 years and repayable as per the repayment schedule specified in common loan agreement with the Lenders. 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 

(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Particulars 

Note 15: Trade Payables 

Current 
a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small small enterprises 

b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises 
- related parties (refer note 34) 
• others 

Total 

Note 14: Other financial liabilities 

Non•current 
Other payable (refer note 34) 

Total 

Note 16: Other II abilities 

Current 
Statutory dues payable (including TDS & GST) 

Total 

Asat 
March 31, 2025 

102.19 
7.36 

109.55 

22,270.80 
22,270.80 

4.54 
4.54 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

0.27 

95.19 

6.86 
102.32 

40,760.96 

40,760.96 

4.68 
4.68 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 

(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Particulars 

Note 17 : Other income 

Interest income on 

Fair value gain on investments 

Interest on unwinding of unsecured loan (refer note 34) 

Fair value adjustment on non-convertible debenture (interest free tenure) (refer note 34) 

Interest in Income tax refund 

Total 

Note 18 : Finance cost (others) 

Interest expense 
On unwinding of unsecured loans 

Other borrowing cost 

Amortisation of transaction cost 

Other finance costs 

Total 

Note 19 : Other expenses 

Rates & taxes 

Miscellaneous expenses 

Bank charges 

Total 

Note 19A: Audit Fees 

As auditors : 

- Statutory audit fees 

- Limited review fees 

- Reimbursement of expenses 

In other capacity: 

- Other services (certification fees) 

Total 

Note: The above are inclusive of GST 

Note 20 : Tax expenses 

Adjustment of tax relating to earlier year 

Total 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2025 

2.66 

499.47 

428.26 

0.26 

930.65 

48.71 

44.46 

3.70 

96.87 

0.36 

3.22 
1.44 

5.02 

3.60 

3.96 

0.53 

0.06 

8.15 

5.04 

5.04 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2024 

1.44 

48.84 

50.28 

48.84 

19.09 

0.60 

68.53 

1.61 

0.62 

4.13 

6.36 

4.09 

2.20 

0.11 

0.01 

6.41 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 

(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Note 21 : Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale 

The Board of Directors of Investment Manager have approved a preliminary and non-binding offer (the "NBO" ) issued to the IRB lnvlT Fund ("Public lnvlT" ), on November 14, 

2024. The NBO relates to the transfer of the five assets held by the Trust to the Public lnvlT viz. IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited, IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited, Kaithal 

Tollway Limited, AE Tollway Limited and Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited ('Identified SPVs'). Accordingly, as per Ind AS 105 - "Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 

Discontinued Operations", assets/liabilities related to these identified SPVs are classified as held for sale. 

The following major classes of assets and liabilities relating to these operations have been classified as held for sale in the standalone balance sheet: 

Particulars 

Investments 

Loans 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Bank balance other than Cash and and cash equivalents 

Other Financial assets 

Assets classified as held for sale 

Borrowings 

Other financial laibilities 

Liabilities classified as held for sale 

Note 

4 

5 

7 

8 

6 

13 

14 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2025 
14,656.94 

1,08,351.43 

159.32 

2,977.40 

27,146.43 

1,53,291.52 

61,756.00 

19,968.68 

81,724.68 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2024 

The Board of Investment Manager, at its meeting held on May 08, 2025, in line with strategic portfolio optimisation objectives, has approved amendment to its non-binding 

offer (NBO) for sale to the IRB Inv IT Fund ("Public lnvlT") dated November 14, 2024, to include only three out of the originally proposed five assets viz IRS Hapur Moradabad 

Tollway Limited, Kaithal Tollway Limited & Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited. However, the Trust continues to classify the originally proposed five assets as held for sale in 

accordance with the requirements of IND AS - 105 - 'Non -current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued operations". The amended NBO dated May 08, 2025, is a non­

adjusting event. 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 

(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Note 22 : Earnings per unit (EPU) computed in accordance with Ind AS 33 

The following reflects the income and unit data used in the basic and diluted EPU computations: 

Particulars 

Profit attributable to unit holders of the Trust for basic earnings 
Weighted average number of units 

Earnings per unit (in~) 

Basic earning per unit (Amount in".:) 
Diluted earning per unit (Amount in".:) 

Note 23 : Capital and other commitments 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2025 

17,119.65 
1,13,00,13,265 

15.15 

15.15 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2024 

9,043.83 
97,34,89,986 

9.29 
9.29 

The Trust has commitments related to further investment as Promoter's Contribution (share capital, subordinated debt) to the 
projects in the following subsidiary: 

Particulars March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited 2,219.50 2,219.50 

Note 24 : Contingent Liabilities 

The Trust has provided Corporate guarantee for the subsidiary companies i.e. SYTL and YATL in respect of the NCDs issued during 
the FY 2022-23 . 

Note 25: Details of dues to micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006 

The following details regarding Micro and small Enterprises has been determined to the extent such parties has been identified on 
the basis of information available with the Trust. 

Particulars 

Principal amount remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the year end 

Interest due thereon 

Amount of interest paid by the company in the terms of section 16 of the 
MSMED, along with the amount of the payment made to the supplier beyond 
the appointed date during the accounting period 

Amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment 

(which have been paid but beyond the appointed day during the period) but 
without adding the interest specified under the MSMED, 2006 

Amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the accounting 
period 

The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the 

succeeding years, until such date when the interest dues as above are actually 
paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible 
expenditure under the MSMED Act, 2006 

Asat 

March 31, 2025 

As at 

March 31, 2024 

0.27 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 

(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 
a) MSME ageing schedule as at 

Particulars 

MSME Undisputed Dues 

Unbilled dues 

Less than 1 year 

1-2 Years 

2-3 Years 

More than 3 years 

Total 

b) Ageing of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises as at 

Particulars 

Undisputed Dues 

Unbilled dues 

Less than 1 year 

1-2 Years 

2-3 Years 

More than 3 years 

Total 

Note 26 : Operating Segments 

As at 

March 31, 2025 

As at 

March 31, 2025 

2.97 

106.58 

109.55 

As at 

March 31, 2024 

0.27 

0.27 

As at 

March 31, 2024 

6.68 

16.83 

47.76 

30.78 

102.07 

The Trust comprise of owning and investing in infrastructure SPVs to generate cash flow for the distribution to the beneficiaries. 

Based on the guiding principles given in Ind AS 108 'Operating Segment', this activity falls within a single operating segment and 

accordingly the disclosures of the Ind AS 108 have not separately been provided. 



IAB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 

(All amounts are In INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Note 27 : Fair Value disclosure 

Financial assets and llabllltles 

The carrying values of financials instruments of the Trust are reasonable and approximations of fair values. 

The accounting classification of each category of financial instruments, their carrying amounts and the categories of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value, are 
set out below: 

Carrying Value Fair Value 
Particulars 

Financial assets 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost• 

Loans 

Other financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Other Bank balances 

Financial assets measured at fair value through statement of Profit & loss 

Investments in Mutual funds 

Financial llabllltles 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 

Trade payables 

Borrowings {net of unamortised Tranasaction cost)1 

Financial llabllltles 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through statement of Profit & loss 

Other financial liabilities• 

# Refer note 21 for details of Assets and liabilities held for sale 

Asat 
March 31, 2025 

70,733.60 

10,031.54 

1.15 

214.00 

666.56 

109.55 

1,000.00 

22,270.80 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

1,62,699.54 

21,621.24 

150.39 
2,041.10 

85.40 

102.32 

62,349.54 

40,760.96 

Asat 
March 31, 2025 

670.62 

22,270.80 

Asat 

March 31, 2024 

86.84 

40,760.96 

The management assessed that the fair value of other cash and cash equivalents, other bank balance, loans, financial assets, trade payables, borrowings and other financial 

llabll!ties approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. 

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities Is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, 
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. 

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts that the Trust has determined that market participants would take into account when pricing the investments. 

The above investments does not include equity Investments in joint ventures which are carried at cost and hence are not required to be disclosed as per Ind AS 107 'Financial 
Instrument Disclosure'. 

The Trust is required to present the Statement of total assets at fair value and Statement of total returns at fair value as per SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-

2/P/ CIR/2024/44 dated 15-May-2024 as a part of these financial statements - Refer Statement of Net assets at fair value and Statement ofTotal Returns at fair value. 

Note 28 : Fair Value Hierarchy 

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy described as follows, based on the lowest level input that 
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole. 

Levell : Quoted (unadjusted) price Is active market for identical items (unadjusted). 

Level 2: Observable (d irect or indirect) inputs other than level l inputs 

Level 3: Unobservable inputs (I.e. not derived from market data) 

The following table presents fair value hierarchy for financial instruments as at March 31, 2025: 

Particulars 

Assets 

Investments in mutual fund (Quoted) 

Llabllltles 

Other financial liabilities• 

# Refer note 21 for details of Assets and liabilities held for sale 

Asat 
March 31, 2025 

670.62 

22,270.80 

Fair value measurement at end of the reporting period using 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

670.62 

22,270.80 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 202S 
(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

The following table presents fair value hierarchy for financial Instruments as at March 31, 2024 : 

Particulars 

Assets 

Investments in mutual fund (Quoted) 

Liabilities 

Other financial llabilitles 

There has been no transfer between levels during the year. 

Asal 
March 31, 2024 

86.84 

40,760.96 

Fair value movement for Payable to IRB Infrastructure Developers limited Is as under: 

Particulars 

Opening balance as at April 01, 2024 (Previous year: April 01, 2023) 

Add: Recognised during the year 
less: Payment of deferred consideration 

Add: Adjustment on account of interest unwinding 

Less: Asset held for sale 

Closing balance of payable as on March 31, 202S (Previous year: March 31, 2024) 

Fair value measurement at end of the reporting period using 

Level 1 Level Z level 3 

86.84 

Asat 
March 31, 202S 

40,760.96 

1,429.82 

48.71 
(19,968.69) 

22,270.80 

40,760.96 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

35,778.03 
4,935.37 

47.56 

40,760.96 

The fair value measurements for the payable to IRB Infrastructure Developers limited have been categorised as Level 3 fair values based on the Inputs to the valuatron 
techniques used. The fair valuation is determined based on present value of projected cash flows and discount rates equivalent to cost of unsecured debt. The significant 

unobservable inputs used are (a) applying probability for percentage of amount that will be paid against the claims raised/ to be raised with customers including the timing of 

collection (over a period of three years) with weights being assigned to different probability scenarios; and (b) discount rate applied to determine present value is 10.05% 

(March 31, 2024: 10.05%). 

Sensitivity: Higher probability by 5% and lower discount rate by 0.5% will increase the fair value by Rs. 4,490.28 million (31 March 2024 • Rs. 4,397.66 million). Lower 
probability by 5% and higher discount rate by 0.5% will reduce fair va lue by Rs. 4,279.68 miiilon (31 March 2024. Rs. 4,171.25 mill ion) of other payables. 

Note 29 : Taxes 

In accordance with section 10 (23FC) of the Income Tax Act, the income of business Trust In the form of interest received or receivable from Project SPV is exempt from tax. 

Accord ingly, the Trust is not required to provide any current tax llabllity. Further, deferred tax assets on carry forward losses Is not being created since there is no vlrtual 

certainty of reversal of the same In the near future. 

Note 30 : Investment Management Fees 

Pursuant to a resolution dated July 04, 2023 of the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager and a resolution dated July 27, 2023 of the Unitholders, the Management 
Fees has been revised to equivalent to cost incurred by the Investment manager plus 10% mark up In connection with providing investment management services to the Trust 

including routine administrative and operational expenses (exclusive of any out of pocket expenses, reimbursement and taxes. The investment management fees has been 

determined in consideration of the investment manager's role In managing the Trust and its underlying investments. There have been no changes in the methodology for the 

computation of fees payable to the manager during the financial year ended March 31, 2025 

Note 31 : Financial Risk Management objectives and policies 

The Trust's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Trust, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and 
adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Trust's activities. 

The Board of Directors of Investment Manager have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Trust's risk management framework. 

In performing its operating, investing and financing activities, the Trust ls exposed to the Credit risk, liquidity risk and Market risk. 

a. Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial Instrument will fluctuate because of changes In market prices. Market risk comprises three types of 

risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk and commodity risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans borrowings 
and deposits. 

b. Credit risk 

Credit risk ls the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Trust is exposed to 
credit risk from its investing activities including loans to subsidiaries, deposits with banks and other financial Instruments. As at March 31, 2025, the credit risk is considered 

low since substantial transactions of the Trust are with its subsidiaries. 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 

(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

c. Interest Rate risk 

Interest rate risk ls the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial Instrument will fluctuate because of changes In market interest rates. The Trust's exposure to 

the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Trust's long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates. 

Interest rate sensitivity 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivlty to a reasonably possible change In Interest rates on that portion of loans and borrowings affected, after excluding the credit 
exposure for fixed rate borrowings. With all other variables held constant, the Trust's profit before tax Is affected through the Impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows: 

Particulars 

long Term Borrowings - variable Interest rate - (Gross of unamortised transaction cost)1 

Short Term Borrowings - Interest free 

Financial Assets - fixed interest rate (refer note 5)1 

Financial Assets -variable interest rate (refer note 5) 

Cash Flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instrument. 

Particulars 

If the interest rate is 50 basis point higher(lower), the impact of profit or loss would be 

long Term Borrowings - variable interest rate - (Gross of unamortised transaction cost)# 
- Decreased by 

- Increased by 

Financial Assets - variable interest rate 

- Decreased by 

- Increased by 

# Refer note 21 for details of Assets and liabilities held for sale 

d. Liquidity risk 

March 31, 2025 

1,000.00 

50,956.63 
19,776.97 

Asat 
March 31, 2025 

98.88 
(98.88) 

March 31, 2024 

63,030.66 

1,41,518.57 
20,780.44 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

315.15 
(315.15) 

103.90 
(103.90) 

liquidity risk is the risk that the Trust may not be able to meet its present and future cash and collateral obligations without incurring unacceptable losses. The Trust's 
objective is to, at all times maintain optimum levels of liquidity to meet its cash and collateral requirements. 

The Trust closely monitors Its liquidity position and deploys a robust cash management system. It maintains adequate sources of financing at an optimised cost. 

The Trust's maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the balance sheet at March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 is the carrying amounts of borrowings, trade 
payables and other financial liabilities Is noted in the liquidity table below: 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Trust's financial liabilities: 

As at March 31, 2025 
Carrying 
Amount 

Total On demand Less than 3 months Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years 

Borrowings (Gross of unamortised 
1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 

transaction cost)' 

Other financial liabilities' 22,270.80 22,270.80 22,270.80 
Trade payables 109.55 109.55 109.55 
Total 23,380.35 23,380.35 1,109.55 22,270.80 

As at March 31, 2024 
Carrying 
Amount 

Total On demand Less than 3 months Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years 

Borrowings (Gross of unamortised 
63,030.66 63,030.66 647.39 6,390.00 55,993.27 

transaction cost) 

Other financial liabilities 40,760.96 40,760.96 40,760.96 
Trade payables 102.34 102.34 0.27 102.07 
Total 1,03,893.95 1,03,893.95 0.27 749.46 47,150.96 55,993.27 
# Refer note 21 for details of Assets and liabilities held for sale 

At present, the Trust does expects to repay all liabilities at their contractual maturity. In order to meet such cash commitments, the operating activity Is expected to generate 
sufficient cash inflows. 

e. Financial Instruments 

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions, loans and advances is managed by the Trust's management In accordance with the Trust's policy. Investments of 

surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each counterparty. Counterparty credit limits are reviewed by the top 

management on an annual basis, and may be updated throughout the year subject to approval of the board of directors of Investment manager of the Trust. The limits are set 

to minimise the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate flnanclal loss through counterparty's potential fallure to make payments. 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 
(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

I . Investment In Equity shares of Subsidiaries 

The Trust has Investments In equity shares and non convertlble debentures of Subsidiaries. The settlement of such instruments Is linked to the completion of the respective 
underlying projects. Such Financial Assets are not impaired as on the reporting date. 

Note 32 : Capital management 

Capital includes equity attributable to the Unit holders to ensure that lt maintains an efficient capital structure and healthy capital ratios In order to support its business and 

maximise shareholder value. The Trust manages Its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, In llght of changes In economic conditions or its business requirements. To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Trust may adjust the distribution of cash flow of return capital to Unit holders or Issue new units. No changes were made in the 

objectives, policies or processes during the year ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024. 

The Trust monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as loans and borrowings (gross of unamortised transaction 

cost) less cash and cash equivalents. 

Particulars 
Asat Asat 

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

Borrowings" 1,000.00 63,030.66 

Less: cash and cash equivalents • (1.15) (150.39) 

Net debt 998.85 62,880.27 

Unit capital 1,50,888.26 1,35,091.23 
Other equity 34,344.71 18,052.09 

Total equity 1,85,232.97 1,53,143.32 
Gearing ratio(%) 0.54% 41.06% 

No changes were made In the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the current and previous year. 

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Trust's capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to the Interest­

bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. Breaches in meeting the flnanclal covenants would permit the bank to Immediately call loans and 

borrowings. There have been no breaches in the financial covenants of any interest-bearing borrowings in the current year. 

• Refer note 21 for details of Assets and llabilities held for sale 

Note 33 : Significant accounting judgement, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the Trust's financial statements requires management to make Judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenue, 
expenses, assets and liabilities and the accompanying disclosures and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result 

In out comes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabllities affected in future periods. 

Judgement 

In the process of applying the Trust's accounting pollcles, management has made the judgement, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 

financial statements. 

Classification of unit holders Trusts 

Under the provisions of the lnvlT Regulations, Trust is required to distribute to Unit holders not less than ninety percent of the net distributable cash flows of Trust for !;!ach 

financial year. Accordingly, a portion of the unit holders' Trusts contains a contractual obligation of the Trust to pay to its Unit holders cash distributions. The Unit holder's 

Trusts could therefore have been classified as compound financial instrument which contain both equity and liablllty components in accordance with Ind AS 32-Financial 

Instruments: Presentation. 

However, in accordance with SEBI Clrculars(No.CIR/IMD/DF/114/2016 dated 20-0ct-2016 and No.CIR/IMD/DF/127/2016 dated 29-Nov-2016) Issued under the lnvlT 

Regulations, the unit holders' Trusts have been classified as equity In order to comply with the mandatory requirements of Section H of Annexure A to the SEBI Clrcular dated 

20-0ct-2016 dealing with the minimum disclosures for key financial statements. In line with the above, the income distribution payable to unit holders is recognized as liability 

when the same Is approved by the Investment Manager. 

Estimates and assumptions 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 

to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities or fair value disclosures within the next financial year. The Trust based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available 

when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or 

circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Trust. Such charges are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 

Fair valuation and dlsclosures 

SEBI Circulars issued under the lnvlT Regulations required ls disclosures relating to net assets at fair value and total returns at fair value. In estimating the fair value of 
Investments in subsidiaries {which constitute substantial portion of the net assets), the Trust engages independent qualified external valuers to perform the valuation. The 

management works closely with the valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The management reports the valuation report and 

findings to the Board of the Investment Manager half yearly to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the road projects. The Inputs to the valuation models are 

taken from observable markets where posslble, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements Include considerations 

of Inputs such as WACC, Tax rates, Inflation rates etc. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the fair value. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

Non-financial assets of the Trust primarllY comprise of investments in subsidiaries, Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its 

recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of dlsposal and Its value In use. The recordable amounts for the investments in subsidiaries are based on 

value in use of the underlying projects. The value in use calculation ls based on a OCF model. The cash flows are derived from budgets/ forecasts over the life of the projects. 

II 
. ", j 
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Note 34 : Related Party Disclosures 

I. list of Related parties of the Trust 

list of Related parties of the Trust [As per Regulation 2 (1) (zvl] 

1 Parties to the lnv/T 

2 Promoters, Directors and Partners of the 

mentioned in clause 1 

• Table A • Sponsor Group and Project Manager 

Sponsor Group and Project Manager (as per 'Table A' 

below)' 

MMK Toll Road Private limited (Investment Manager) 

IDBI Trusteeship Services limited (Trustee of the /RB 

Infrastructure Trust) 

persons As per 'Table B' below# 

(i) The sponsor(s) 
(ii) Entities or person(s) which are controlled by such (Iii) Entities or person(s) who control such body 

/RB Infrastructure 

Developers limited 

sponsor 

Modern Road Makers Private limited (MRMPl) 

/RB Ahmedabad Vadodara Super Express Tollway 

Private limited (/RBAV) 

corporate 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar, Promoter of Sponsor 

IRB Holding Private limited 

Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private limited (Ml Pl) Ms. Deepali V. Mhaiskar, Promoter of Sponsor 

Thane Ghodbunder Toll Road Private limited (TGTRPl) Virendra D. Mhaiskar HUF (Karla Mr. Virendra 

Mhaiskar), promoter of Sponsor 

IRB Kolhapur Integrated Road Development Company 

Private limited (IRBK) 

ATR Infrastructure Private limited (ATRFl) 

Ideal Road Builders Private limited (IRBPl) 

Aryan Toll Road Private limited (ATRPl) 

GEl Expressway Private limited (Formerly known as 

IRB PP Project Private limited) 

IRB PS Highway Private limited (IRBPS) 

IRB Sindhudurg Airport Private limited (IRBSA) 

/RB Infrastructure Private limited (IRBFl) 

Aryan Infrastructure Investments Private limited 

(AIIPL) 

Aryan Hospitality Private limited (AHPL) 

IRB MP Expressway Private Limited 

IRB Goa Tollway Private Limited (!RB Goa) 

MRM Mining Private Limited (Subsidiary of MRMPL) 

VM7 Expressway Private limited 

Pathankot Mandi Highway Private Limited 

Chittoor Thachur Highway Private limited 

IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited (Subsidiary 

upto 10.08.2023) 

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (Subsidiary upto 

27.12.2023) 

Mee rut Budaun Expressway Limited (Joint Venture 

upto 26.12.2024) 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited (MMK) • JV 

IRB Infrastructure Trust -JV 

Project SPV's of /RB Infrastructure Trust as 

mentioned below: 

1. IRB Westcoast Tollway limited (IRBWTl)' 

2. Solapur Yedeshi Tollway limited (SYTl) 

3. Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway limited (YATL) 

4. Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTl)' 

5. AE Tollway Limited (AETL)' 

6, Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTl) 

7. CG Tollway Limited (CGTl) 

8. Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway limited 

(KGTL)' 

9. IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited {IRBHMTL)' 

10, Palsit Dankun i Tollway Private limited (PDTPL) 

11. IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited 

(/RBGEPL) w.e.f 11.08.2023 

12. IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited w.e.f 

10.11.2023 

13. Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited w.e.f. 

28.12.2023 

14. IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited w.e.f. 01.01.2024 

15. IRB Gwalior Private limited w.e.f. 01.01.2024 

16. Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited w.e.f. 

27.12.2024 

(iv) Entitles or person(s) which 

are controlled by entities or 

person(s) specified in clause (iii) 

VDM Ventures Private 

Limited 

Ouex Farming Films Private 
Limited 



# Table B - List of promoters, directors and partners of the persons mentioned In clause 1 

Parties to the Trust 

(i) IRB Infrastructure 

Developers Limited 

(Sponsor and Project 

Manager) 

Promoters 
1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

3. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar (HUF) 

(ii) Entities or person(s) IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL) 

which are controlled by 

such sponsor 

(iii) Entities or person(s) 1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

who control such body 2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

corporate 3. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar (HUF) 

(iv) Entities or person(s) 1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

which are controlled by 2. Mrs. Dee pa Ii V. Mhaiskar 

entities or person(s) 3. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar 

MMKToll Road Private IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL) 

Limited (Investment 

Manager) 

Directors 
1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar, Chairman and Managing 

Director 

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar, Whole Time Director 

3. Mr. Luis Aguirre de Career Cabezas, Non Executive 
Director (w.e.f. December 29,2024) 

4. Mr. Ravindra Dhariwal, Non-executive Director 

5. Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta-Independent Director (w.e.f 

Aprill, 2024) 

6. Mr. Vijay Nautamlal Bhatt- Independent Director 

(w.e.f April 1, 2024) 

7. Ms. Priti Savla - Independent director 

8. Mr. Ajay Kumar Singh, Independent Director (w.e.f 
Febraury 5, 2025) 

9. Mr. Jose Tamariz Martel Goncer (Ceased as director 

w.e.f December 9, 2024) 

10. Mr. Chandrashekhar S. Kaplan- independent director 

(up to March 31, 2024) 

11. Mr. Sunil H. Talati -Independent director (up to 

March 31, 2024) 

12. Mr. Sandeep J. Shah• Independent director (Ceased 

as director w.e.f. February 4, 2025) 

l. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

3. Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi (up to March 31, 2025) 

4. Mrs. Arati Taskar 

5. Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing 

6. Mr. Rajpaui Sharma 

7. Mr. Amitabh Murarka 

8. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar 

9. Mrs. Kshama Vengsarkar 

10. Mr. Nlkhil Maniar 

11. Mr. Tushar Kawedia 

12. Mr. Rajinder Pal Singh 

13. Mr. Vined Kumar Menon 

12. Mr. Sunil Tandon -independent Director 

14. Mr. Nikesh Jain -independent Director 

15. Mr. Rushabh Gandhi 

16. Mrs. Anusha Date-independent Director 

17. Mr. Jitender Kumar Chauhan (Appointed as director 

w.e.f. March l, 2025) 

18. Mr. Kulumani Gopairatnam Krishnamurthy­

independent Director 

19. Mrs. Ranjana Paranjape -Independent Director 

20. Mr. Kunnasagaran Chinniah (Ceased as director 

w.e.f. June 15, 2024) 

21. Mr. Sandeep Shah -Independent Director (Ceased as 

director w.e.f. February 4, 2025) 

22. Ms. Shilpa Todankar 

22. Mr. Abhay Phatak 

23. Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar 

24. Mr. Omprakash Singh 

25. Mr. Chandrashekhar Kaplan 

26. Mr. Boon Chin Hau 

27. Mr. Nagendraa Parakh 

28. Mr. Amyn Jassani (Ceased to be director of MMK 

w .e.f. May 31, 2024) 

29. Mr. Victor Carretero Arbona, (Appointed as director 

ofw.e.f. October 30, 2024) 

30. Ms. Rajni Sekhri Sibal- Independent Director 

(Appointed as director of w.e.f. October 30, 2024) 

1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

l. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

3. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

Mr. Boon Chin Hau 

Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar 

Mr. KG Krishnamurthy -Independent director 

Mrs.Ranjana Paranjape - Independent director 

Mr. Nagendraa Parakh- Independent director 

Mr. Victor Carretero Arbona (Appointed w.e.f. October 

30, 2024) 

Ms. Rajni Sekhri Sibal (independent Director) Appointed 

w.e.f. October 30, 2024 

Mr. Kunnasagaran Chinniah (Ceased as director w.e.f. 

June 15, 2024) 

Mr. Amyn Jassani - Independent director {Ceased as 

director w.e.f. May 31, 2024) 



IDBI Trusteeship IDBI Bank Limited Mr. Jayakumar Subramonia Pillai 

Services Limited UC Corporation Limited Mr. Pradeep Kumar Malhotra 
(Trustee ol lRB General lnsurace Corporation Ms. Baljinder Kaur Mandal 
Infrastructure Trust) Mr. Arun Kumar Agarwal (Appointed w.e.l. July 19, 

2024) 

Mr. Hare Krushna Dandapani Panda (Appointed w.e.f. 

July 19, 2024) 

Mr. Balkrishna Varier (Appointed w.e.l. June 24, 2024) 

Mr. Soma Nandan Satpathy (Appointed w.e.l January 16, 

2025) 

Mr. Pradeep Kumar Jain (Ceased as director w.e.l 

December 20, 2024) 

Mrs. Jayashree Vijay Ranade (ceased to be director w.e.f 

April 18, 2024) 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 

II. Related party transaction during the year 

("!in million) 
Year ended Year ended 

Sr. No. Particulars Relation March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

1 Equity Investment 4,287.33 13,948.63 

IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary - 7,154.50 

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary - 1,162.00 

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted Subsidiary - 4,205.80 

IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary - 393.48 

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary - 1,032.85 

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited Subsidiary 4,287.33 -

2 Purchase of investment in Meerut Budaun Expressway 
limited {Equity shares and NCO) 8,746.14 -

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor and Project Manager 8,746.14 -

3 Non- Convertible Debentures 12,861.90 -
Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited Subsidiary 12,861.90 -

4 Subordinated Debt - 45,187.19 

AE Tollway limited• Subsidiary - 159.52 

CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 168.46 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited• Subsidiary - 454.18 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited• Subsidiary - 457.45 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway limited• Subsidiary - 164.05 

Kaithal Tollway Limited• Subsidiary - 46.82 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 299.47 

Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 555.01 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway limited Subsidiary - 828.35 

PalsitDankuni Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary - 2,424.50 

IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary - 21,465.00 

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary - 1,268.00 

IRB lalitpur Tollway Private Limted Subsidiary - 12,617.40 

IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary - 1,180.43 

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private limited Subsidiary - 3,098.55 

5 Subordinated Debt repaid 1,579.75 6,553.77 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway limited• Subsidiary - 540.00 

IRB Westcoast Tollway limited ' Subsidiary - 4,872.57 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited' Subsidiary - 260.00 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway limited Subsidiary 576.27 513.50 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,003.48 367.70 

6 Unsecured long term loan ( Interest bearing) - 13,627.54 

AE Tollway limited• Subsidiary - 5,615.70 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited' Subsidiary - 32.00 

IRB Westcoast Tollway limited • Subsidiary - 2,662.56 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited' Subsidiary - 198.88 

Kaithal Tollway Limited • Subsidiary - 5,118.40 

7 Unsecured long term loan repaid {Interest bearing) 373.98 12,096.53 

AE Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 56.72 5,202.81 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited' Subsidiary 0.82 0.41 

IRB Westcoast Tollway limited • Subsidiary 116.35 2,217.01 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway limited • Subsidiary 10.20 2.05 

Kaithal Tollway Limited ' Subsidiary 189.89 4,674.25 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 

II. Related party transaction during the year 

( ii: in million) 
Year ended Year ended 

Sr. No. Particulars Relation March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

8 Short Term Loan given 3,630.96 3,479.84 

AE Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 214.92 265.00 

CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 942.92 610.59 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 15.03 -

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 132.78 335.72 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited" Subsidiary 596.59 160.00 

Kaithal Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 990.25 272.84 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 46.23 24.00 

Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 534.54 940.04 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 64.02 519.80 

IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 39.95 -

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted Subsidiary 4.00 246.60 

IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary - 36.04 

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary - 69.21 

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited Subsidiary 49.73 -

9 Short Term Loan repaid 180.48 1,886.95 

AE Tollway Limited• Subsidiary - 424.30 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited " Subsidiary 16.50 322.00 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited" Subsidiary - 100.00 

Kaithal Tollway Limited • Subsidiary - 145.00 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 46.23 24.00 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 64.02 519.80 

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted Subsidiary 4.00 246.60 

IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary - 36.04 

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary - 69.21 

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited Subsidiary 49.73 -

10 Unit Capital Issued 8,750.81 26,139.68 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor and Project Manager 8,750.81 26,139.68 

11 Interest income 23,565.77 16,461.72 

AE Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 3,906.87 3,266.16 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 3,424.94 2,257.27 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 3,397.88 3,171.00 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 1,756.35 942.45 

Kaithal Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 2,752.27 2,227.67 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,115.79 1,192.25 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,409.71 1,522.05 

IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 3,008.21 1,882.86 

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted Subsidiary 1,766.44 -

IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 165.26 -
IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 433.80 -
Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited Subsidiary 428.26 -



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 202S 

II. Related party transaction during the year 
("!in million) 

Year ended Year ended 
Sr. No. Particulars Relation March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

12 Receipt of Interest Income 7,176.96 3,836.20 

AE Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 856.41 450.00 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited' Subsidiary 2,275.32 1,200.00 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 380.00 400.60 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited' Subsidiary 60.00 -
Kaithal Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 724.20 675.60 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 390.00 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 720.00 

IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 2,505.65 -

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted Subsidiary 375.38 -

13 Interest income unwinding on loan (Interest Fee) 499.47 48.84 

Kaithal Tollway Limited • Subsidiary 499.47 48.84 

14 Investment Management Fees 111.14 146.32 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited Investment Manager 111.14 146.32 

15 Expenses incurred on behalf of others 23.38 96.52 

AE Tollway Limited' Subsidiary 0.01 4.55 

CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 0.01 

IRB Hapur Morada bad Tollway Limited' Subsidiary 0.00 4.25 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited' Subsidiary 0.01 8.02 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited' Subsidiary 0.01 11.38 

Kaithal Tollway Limited' Subsidiary 0.00 5.13 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.00 0.01 

Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.00 0.01 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.36 0.01 

Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 2.62 38.85 

IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 0.01 0.39 

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 3.41 0.24 

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted Subsidiary 6.52 5.98 

IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 0.77 4.67 

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1.72 12.57 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited Investment Manager - 0.45 

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited Subsidiary 5.44 -

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor· and Project Manager 2.51 -

16 Unsecured Loan received 1,157.90 726.20 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor and Project Manager 157.90 726.20 

IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,000.00 -

17 Unsecured Loan repaid 157.90 5,599.11 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor and Project Manager 157.90 5,599.11 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 

II. Related party transaction during the year 

( >:in million) 
Year ended Year ended 

Sr. No. Particulars Relation March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

18 Long Term loan given - MMR - 1,300.00 

AE Tollway Limited • Subsidiary ._ 390.90 

IRB Hapur Morada bad Tollway Limited' Subsidiary - 43.80 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited• Subsidiary - 413.00 

Kaithal Tollway Limited• Subsidiary - 452.30 

19 Long Term loan repaid-MMR 39.91 11.29 

AE Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 3.95 0.19 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 1.13 0.57 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 18.05 5.74 

Kaithal Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 16.78 4.79 

20 Secured Long Term Loan given - 46,239.70 

AE Tollway Limited• Subsidiary . 6,767.90 

IRB Hapur Morada bad Tollway Limited• Subsidiary . 15,043.10 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited• Subsidiary . 9,605.30 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited• Subsidiary . 9,996.00 

Kaithal Tollway Limited • Subsidiary . 4,827.40 

21 Secured Long Term Loan repaid 1,567.20 485.08 

AE Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 68.36 3.38 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 387.20 194.06 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited' Subsidiary 419.75 133.51 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 512.79 102.96 

Kaithal Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 179.10 51.17 

22 Expenses Payable 1,478.53 4,984.22 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor and Project Manager 1,429.82 4,935.38 

Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited 
Subsidiaries Company of Sponsor 

and Project Manager 
48.71 48.84 

23 Interest Distribution (Return on Capital) 414.79 229.35 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor and Project Manager 414.79 229.35 

24 Capital Reduction (Return of Capital) 689.93 2,032.84 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor and Project Manager 689.93 2,032.84 

25 Expenses incurred on our behalf . 4.10 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor and Project Manager . 4.10 

26 Trustee Fees 1.30 0.56 

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited Trustee 1.30 0.56 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 

Ill. Related party outstanding balances 

Sr. No Particulars 

1 Equity Investment 

AE Tollway Limited • 

CG Tollway Limited 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited' 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited• 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited• 

Kaithal Tollway Limited' 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited 

Udaipur Tollway Limited 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited 

PalsitDankuni Tollway Private Limited 

IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted 

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited 

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted 

!RB Kola Tollway Private Limited 

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited 

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited 

2 Non- Convertible Debentures 

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited 

3 Subordinated Debt 

CG Tollway Limited 

Udaipur Tollway Limited 

Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited 

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited 

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted 

IRB Kola Tollway Private Limited 

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited 

4 Unsecured long term loan ( Interest bearing) 

AE Tollway Limited • 

IRB Hapur Morada bad Tollway Limited ' 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited' 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited• 

Kaithal Tollway Limited• 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited 

5 Subordinated debt - {Interest bearing) 

AE Tollway Limited • 

CG Tollway Limited 

!RB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited• 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited• 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited' 

Kaithal Tollway Limited• 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited 

IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted 

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted 

IRB Kola Tollway Private Limited 

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited 

6 Long term loan ( Interest bearing) -MMR 

AE Tollway Limited • 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited• 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited • 

Kaithal Tollway Limited• 

Relation 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

As on 

March 31, 2025 
40,447.97 

4,365.00 

2,035.00 

3,715.00 

1,741.94 

1,555.00 

3,280.00 

982.50 

1,168.00 

2,157.57 

1,212.00 

7,154.50 

1,162.00 

4,205.80 

393.48 

1,032.85 

4,287.33 

12,861.90 
12,861.90 

16,695.17 
2,896.26 

8,893.41 

3,637.50 

1,268.00 

31,157.01 

9,884.59 

30.77 

4,329.19 

186.63 

8,725.83 

4,000.00 

4,000.00 

92,570.94 

10,425.40 

9,712.69 

7,788.81 

2,399.43 

4,472.86 

3,633.40 

15,776.97 

21,465.00 

12,617.40 

1,180.43 

3,098.55 

1,248.81 

386.76 

42.11 

389.21 

430.73 

(~in million) 

Ason 

March 31, 2024 
36,160.64 

4,365.00 

2,035.00 

3,715.00 

1,741.94 

1,555.00 

3,280.00 

982.50 

1,168.00 

2,157.57 

1,212.00 

7,154.50 

1,162.00 

4,205.80 

393.48 

1,032.85 

33,591.55 
2,896.26 

8,893.41 

3,637.50 

1,268.00 

12,617.40 

1,180.43 

3,098.55 

31,531.00 

9,941.31 

31.59 

4,445.55 

196.83 

8,915.73 

4,000.00 

4,000.00 

77,254.30 

10,425.40 

9,712.69 

7,788.81 

2,399.43 

4,472.86 

4,209.67 

16,780.44 

21,465.00 

1,288.71 

390.71 

43.23 

407.26 

447.51 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 

Ill. Related party outstanding balances ( 'l:in million) 

Particulars Relation 
Ason Ason 

Sr. No 
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

7 Long term loan ( Interest free) 400.53 

Kaithal Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 400.53 

8 Secured Long Term Loan ( Interest bearing) 44,187.41 45,754.62 

AE Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 6,696.16 6,764.52 

IRB Hapur Morada bad Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 14,461.84 14,849.04 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 9,052.03 9,471.79 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 9,380.25 9,893.04 

Kaithal Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 4,597.13 4,776.23 

9 Short Term Loan 9,920.86 6,470.38 

AE Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 534.51 319.59 

CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,112.01 1,169.09 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 15.03 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 2,478.08 2,361.80 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited • Subsidiary 656.59 60.00 

Kaithal Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 1,274.80 284.55 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 

Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,809.89 2,275.35 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 

IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 39.95 

10 Other Payable 42,239.00 40,760.47 

Sponsor and Project 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Manager 38,460.77 37,030.95 

Subsidiaries Company 

of Sponsor and Project 

Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited Manager 449.24 400.53 

Subsidiaries Company 

of Sponsor and Project 

Modern Road Makers Private Limited Manager 1,784.13 1,784.13 

Subsidiaries Company 

of Sponsor and Project 

IRB Goa Tollway private Limited Manager 1,544.86 1,544.86 

Other payable ( Reimbursement of Expenses 

11 incurred on our behalf) 0.49 0.49 

Sponsor and Project 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Manager 0.49 0.49 

12 Other Receivable 9.42 291.48 

AE Tollway Limited • Subsidiary 0.01 

CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 47.35 

IRB Hapur Morada bad Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 27.14 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 0.02 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 182.70 

Kaithal Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 0.01 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4.89 

Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 13.97 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 6.74 

Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 2.62 8.30 

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 3.43 0.24 

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted Subsidiary 0.01 

IRB Kata Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 0.04 

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 0.06 

Sponsor and Project 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Manager 3.37 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 

Ill. Related party outstanding balances ("in million) 

Sr. No Particulars Relation 
Ason As on 

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

13 Interest Receivable 37,085.37 16,378.71 

AE Tollway Limited ' Subsidiary 8,857.75 5,807.30 

IRB Hapur Morada bad Tollway Limited• Subsidiary 2,596.89 1,447.27 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited' Subsidiary 7,340.28 4.55 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited' Subsidiary 2,638.79 942.45 

Kaithal Tollway Limited' Subsidiary 5,692.88 3,664.81 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,457.94 1,342.15 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,697.03 1,287.32 

IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 2,385.42 1,882.86 

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted Subsidiary 1,391.06 

IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 165.26 -

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 433.80 -

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited Subsidiary 428.26 -

14 BG Margin Receivable 61.88 30.95 

Sponsor and Project 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Manager 61.88 30.95 

15 Unsecured Loan received 1,000.00 -
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,000.00 -

16 Trustee Fees 1.30 0.56 

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited Trustee 1.30 0.56 

17 Trade payable 102.19 95.19 

MMK Toll Road Pvt Limited Investment Manager 102.19 95.19 

#The Board of Directors of Investment Manager have approved a preliminary and non-binding offer (the "NBD") issued to the IRB lnvlT 

Fund (" Public lnvlT" ), on November 14, 2024. The NBD relates to the transfer of the five assets held by the Trust to the Public lnvlT viz. 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited, IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited, Kaithal Tollway Limited, AE Tollway Limited and Kishangarh 

Gulabpura Tollway Limited ('Identified SPVs). Accordingly, as per Ind AS 105 - "Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 

Operations", assets/liabilities related to these identified SPV's are classified as held for sale. 

Subsequent to the year end, the Board of Investment Manager, at its meeting held on May 08, 2025, in line with strategic portfolio 

optimisation objectives, has approved amendment to its non-binding offer (NBD) for sale to the IRB lnvlT Fund ("Public lnvlT") dated 

November 14, 2024, to include only three out of the originally proposed five assets viz IRB Hapur Morada bad Tollway Limited, Kaithal 

Tollway Limited & Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited. However, the Trust continues to classify the originally proposed five assets as 

held for sale in accordance with the requirements of IND AS - 105 - 'Non -current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued operations". 

The amended NBD dated May 08, 2025, is a non-adjusting event. 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 
(All amounts are in INR mllllon unless otherwise stated) 

Note 35 : Transfer of projects 

On October 12, 2023, the Trust has e.ecuted arrangement with the Sponsor for implementation of Samakhlyali Tollway Private Limited ('SPV') by the Trust and accordingly, 
the project is being executed by the SPV and the Trust. 

On July 29, 2023, the Trust has executed arrangement with the Sponsor for Implementation of IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited ('SPV') by the Trust and accordingly, 
the project is being executed by the SPV and the Trust. 

On December 27, 2024, the trust has completed closing under the agreements executed for implementation of the Ganga Expressway Project and has purchased 80.40% of 
the equity share capital and 80.40% of the Non-Convertible Debentures (NCO) of Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited (MBEL) for an aggregate purchase consideration of Rs. 

17,149.23 million. 

Note 36 : Distribution made 

Particulars 

Distributed during the year as : 

Interest 
Return of Capital 
Total 

Note: 

Date of declaration 
Return of Capital 

(Rs. per unit) 

October 25, 2023 1.08 

Januarv 25, 2024 2.82 

May 03, 2024 

Au•ust OS, 2024 0.40 
October 28, 2024 0.53 

Januarv 27, 2025 0.27 

Note 37 : Subsequent Events 

Return on Capital-Interest Total 
(Rs. per unit) (Rs. per unit) 

0.44 1.52 

2.82 

0.24 0.24 

0.25 0.65 

0.04 0.57 

0.19 0.46 

Asat 
March 31, 2025 

812.96 

1,352.20 
2,165.16 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

449.55 

3,984.60 
4,434.15 

1. The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager declared Distribution of Rs.0.46 per unit which comprises of Rs.0.22 per unit as return of capital and Rs.0.24 per unit as 
interest in their meeting held on May 08, 2025. 

2. Subsequent to the year end, the Board of Investment Manager, at its meeting held on May 08, 2025, in line with strategic portfolio optimisation objectives, has approved 
amendment to its non-binding offer (NBD) for sale to the IRB lnvlT Fund ("Public lnvlT" ) dated November 14, 2024, to include only three out of the originally proposed five 

assets viz lRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway limited, Kaithal Tollway limited & Klshangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited. However, the Trust continues to classify the originally 
proposed five assets as held for sale in accordance with the requirements of IND AS -105 - 'Non -current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued operations". The amended 
NBO dated May 08, 2025, Is a non-adjusting event. 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 202S 
(All amounts are in INR million unless otherwise stated) 

Note 38 : Other Statutory Information 

i) The Trust has not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the current or previous year. 

ii) The Trust does not hold benami property and no proceedings under Bena mi transaction (Prohibition) Act 1988 have been initiated against the Trust. 

iii) The Trust does not have any transactions with companies struck off. 

iv) The Trust does not have any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax 

assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961. 
v) The Trust did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contract. 

vi) The Trust has not been declared a wilful defaulter by any bank/ financial institution or any other lender during the year. 

Note 39 : Previous year comparatives 

Previous year's figures has been reclassified / regrouped wherever necessary to confirm to current year classification. The impact of the same is not material to the user of the 

Standalone financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 

For Gokhale & Sathe 

Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Firm Registration Nu 

~ 
CA Kaustubh Deshpande 
Partner 
Membership No.: 121011 

Place : Mumbai 

For M s KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Firm Registration Number: 105047W 

Nitin Tiwari 

Partner 

Membership No.: 118894 

Place : Mumbai 

Date : May 08, 2025 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited 
(Investment Manager of IRB Infrastructure Trust) 

CIN : U45200MH2002PTC135512 

Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

Chairman & Director 

DIN: 00183554 

Place : Mumbai 

Shilpa Todankar 

Chief Financial Officer 

Place : Mumbai 

Date : May 08, 2025 

Amitabh Murarka 

Chief Executive Officer 

Place : Hyderabad 

~ 
Company Secretary 

Membership No. A27833 

Place : Mumbai 

Date : May 08, 2025 



MMK Toll Road Private Limited 
Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025 

ASSETS 
(1) Non-current assets 
a. Property, Plant and equipment 
b. Financial assets 

Investments 
c. Deferred tax assets (net) 

Total non-current assets (A)

(2) Current assets 
a. Financial assets 

i) Investments 
ii) Trade receivables 
iii) Cash and cash equivalents 
iv) Bank balance other than (iii) above 
v) Other financial assets 

b. Current tax assets (net) 
c. Other current assets 

Total current assets (B) 

TOTAL ASSETS (A+B) 

II EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
EQUITY 

a. Equity share capital 
b. Other equity 

Total equity (A) 

LIABILITIES 
(1) Non-current liabilities 
a. Provisions 

Total non-current liabilities (BJ 

(2) Current liabilities 
a. Financial liabilities 

i) Trade payables 
a} total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 
b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small 

enterprises 
ii) Other financial liabilities 

b. Provisions 
c. Other current liabilities 

Total current liabilities (C) 

Total liabilities (D=B+C) 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES (A+D) 

Summary of material accounting policies 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Audited Financial Statements. 

As per our report of even date 
For M S KA & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 105047W 

Nitin Tiwari 
Partner 
Membership No : 118894 

Place : Mumbai 
Date : May 08, 2025 

Note No. 

4 

As at 

March 31, 2025 

(� in Million) 
As at 

March 31, 2024 

0.16 

5 0.10 0.10 

8 6.67 

5 

6 
10 
11 

------------------ - --------

6. 77 

27.29 
102.19 

12.80 

0.26 

95.19 
11.56 
13.00 

7 0.59 

12 7.94 6.85 

9 0.00 0.47 
------------------ - --------

150. 81 127.07 

157 .58 127 .33 

13 70.00 70.00 
14 56.67 38.62 

---------------------------

126.67 108.62 

17 8.84 9.26 

15 

16 
17 

18 

3 

----------------- - - - -------

8.84 9.26 

0.27 

9.68 
1.42 

10.70 
22.07 

30.91 

157.58 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
MMK Toll Road Private Limited 
CIN : U45200MH20D2PTC135512 

0.11 

3.35 
0.97 
5.02 
9.45 

18.71 

127.33 

P� 
Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Chairman & Director 

Shilpa Todankar 
Chief Financial Officer 

Place ; Hyderabad

Date : May 08, 2025 

Amitabh Murarka 
Chief Executive Officer 

� 
Company Secretary 

Membership No.: A27833 
Place ; Mumbai Place ; Mumbai 
Date : May 08, 2025 



MMK Toll Road Private Limited 

Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2025 

Income 
Revenue from operations 
Other income 

TOTAL INCOME 

Expenses 
Employee benefits expense 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 
Other expenses 

TOTAL EXPENSES 

Profit before tax 

TaK eKpenses 
Current tax 

Adjustment of tax relating to earlier periods 
MAT Credit utilisation/ (Entitlement) 

Deferred tax (credit)/ charge 

Total tax expenses 

Profit after tax 

Other comprehensive income/ (loss) 

A. Item that will not be reclassified to statement of profit and loss in subsequent year: 
Re-measurement gain/ (loss) on defined benefit plans, net of tax 
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax 

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 

Profit/(loss) after tax for the year attributable to: 
Owners of the company 

Other Comprehensive income attributable to 
Owners of the Company 
Non-controlling interests 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to: 
Owners of the company 
Non-controlling interests 

Earnings per equity share (of Rs. 10 each) 
Basic 
Diluted 

Summary of material accounting policies 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Audited Financial Statements. 

As per our report of even date 
For M s K A & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 

Note No. 

19 
20 

21 
22 
23 

24 

Year ended 
March 31, 2025 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
MMK Toll Road Private limited 

ICAI Firm Registration Number: 105047W 

�
=

2PTC135512 

Nitin Tiwari 
Partner 
Membership No : 118894 

Place : Mumbai 
Date : May 08, 2025 

Virendra 0. Mhaiskar 

Chief Financial Officer 

Place : Mumbai 
Date : May 08, 2025 

93.90 

1.78 
95.68 

74.16 

0.16 
11.11 

85.43 
10.25 

1.71 

(1.50) 
(6.40) 

(0.27) 
(6.46) 

16.71 

(0.37) 
(0.37) 

16.34 

2.39 
2.39 

Year ended 
March 31, 2024 

Amitabh Murarka 
Chief Executive Officer 

� 
Company Secretary 
Membership No.: A27833 

(� in Million) 

124.00 

1.13 
125.13 

82.88 
0.28 

16.95 
100.11 

25.02 

5.64 

5.64 

19.38 

(0.23) 
(0.23) 

19.15 

2.77 
2.77 

Chairman & Director 

Place : Hyderabad

Place : Mumbai 
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